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to our shareholders and  
business partners

With this annual report we are able to report on our sec-

ond successive year of positive earnings. that is a key 

milestone for our company’s further development, which 

you, our shareholders, gave your full support in 2013 with 

your unanimous vote to rename our company. In spite of 

this, however, 2013 was a year of transition and we still 

had to face some major challenges. as a result, a look at 

the financials for the past year does not yet show the full 

extent of the progress that IsarIa Wohnbau aG made in 

2013. yet the structures for future success can already be 

clearly seen in the figures in the consolidated financial 

statements as of 31 December 2013.

Project PiPeline secured and exPanded

as a result, in the last quarter of 2013, as already an-

nounced in the interim report on the third quarter of 2013, 

we were able to fully acquire one project, in which we 

were only involved as a minority shareholder since last 

year. as a result, we will be able to revitalise a vacant of-

fice building, transforming it into a state-of-the-art apart-

ment building under the app.artments brand. however, it 

was no longer possible to complete this project and hand 

it over to customers in December 2013, as had been an-

ticipated. the planned handovers have been shifted to the 

first quarter of 2014, and on the date this report was pub-

lished they had already been performed. unfortunately, 

this shift means that our forecast for revenues and earn-

ings in 2013 was not met. In 2013 we were able to agree 

additional majority acquisitions for spes, which will allow 

us to expand our business activities substantially in future. 

oPerating business lower

During the second half of 2013, for the first time in two 

years, we once again handed over a stage with 74 units 

in our major “nido” project in Karlsfeld to the purchasers. 

as a result of the long winter at the start of the year, and 

the subsequent extremely wet spring, we had to accept 

perceptible construction delays. this also made itself felt 

in lower revenues in these annual financial statements. 

In utter contrast, we are now experiencing a very mild 

winter at the start of 2014, and we have been able to 

work practically without interruption. 

own financing structure from integration of 

Hamburg-based one grouP

The strategic focus in 2013 was on securing a reliable fi-

nancing structure to supply our projects with capital at 

fair conditions. as a result, and in order to reduce depend-

ency on external financing partners, on 31 December 

2013, we acquired a 100 % interest in one Group Gmbh 

with its registered office in Hamburg via a non-cash capi-

tal increase, and this was included in IsarIa Wohnbau 

AG’s consolidated financial statements for the first time. 

one Group was formed in 2009 and its core business is 

an issuing company for project development funds and 

will invest in munich in IsarIa Wohnbau’s project pipe-

line via its proreal Deutschland funds. as a result, the 

company now has its own financing platform. From this 

relationship, which benefits both parties, we already re-

ceived participating interests of € 33.5 million in the past 

fiscal year. The integration of One Group into the ISARIA 

Group’s organisational structure has already progressed 

well. however, one Group will continue to have its own 

independent presence in organisational terms, and will 

invest in other markets in non-group developments. 

for the fourth successive quarter, and thus for the whole 

of 2013, financing expenses themselves have been stable 

at a substantially lower level than in previous years. this 

impressively shows the comparison between the quarter-

ly financial expenses over the past nine quarters. The ac-

tivities put in place in the financing structure to improve 

earnings totalled a good € 8 million in the past fiscal year 

2013 compared to the previous year.

 

equity reinforced

as a result of the non-cash capital increase and other ac-

tivities we were able to substantially improve our compa-

ny’s equity in 2013 by € 10.6 million to a current total of € 

13.6 million. the equity ratio totalled 6.0 % on 31 Decem-

ber 2013 compared to just 1.8 % at the start of the year.

record-breaking sales

notarised sales of individual apartments and houses 

passed the € 100 million mark in 2013, and at € 111 mil-

lion they not only surpassed the previous year by around 

€ 20 million, but also set a new record. as we have regu-

larly reported at this juncture, we are currently continu-

ing to sell “from the drawing board to the green field” 

in Karlsfeld, i.e. houses for which construction has not 

yet even started. at present, we have not only already 

got almost 100 % of the sales planned for 2014 for this 

construction project in our books via the sales already 

concluded with a notary, but already have almost 50 % of 

the sales forecast for next year (2015) on our books. this 

means that our earnings are very easy to forecast. as a 

result, we had a notarised order book of € 113 million at 

the end of 2013. 

uncHanged excellent market environment 

the market environment also continues to be excellent. 

This is confirmed time and time again by various quarter-

ly reports. IsarIa Wohnbau’s position for individual sales 

to private buyers continues to be strong, and demand for 

affordable apartments in munich is unrelenting. IsarIa 

Wohnbau has a well-filled project pipeline in this regard 

for several years’ revenues, and in the coming years it 

continues to have attractive offerings, in contrast to some 

of its competitors. This potential will also be reflected in 

the coming years in IsarIa Wohnbau’s results.

financial result in k€

financial resultfinancial expenses
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munich, march 2014

– the executive board –

michael haupt christian Dunkelberg jan von lewinski

outlook

The terraced houses handed over in our “nido” project in 2013 were certified in 2011 and 

2012 with purchase prices of around € 400,000. We are currently selling the same type 

of house in additional construction stages in this project for € 569,000 as a result of the 

enormous price increases in munich. you, our shareholders, can see from this example 

that we will be able to realise totally different margins for the 380 hand-overs that are 

still pending for 2014 and 2015 than was the case in the past fiscal year. This applies for 

all of the projects we acquired before the end of 2011 when the strong price increases 

started in munich. Given this basis, we are utterly convinced that we will be able to sub-

stantially increase our annual earnings in both 2014 and 2015. thank you for continuing 

to place your trust in us, and supporting us as we move along this path.

construction progress on the
“nido” project in Karlsfeld

view of the Wa 9 construction phase 

(terraced housing) in february 2014

construction phase Wa 9  

(terraced housing) in july 2013

ISARIA WohnbAu AG Annual Report 2013
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executive board

micHael HauPt
spokesman of the executive board (ceo)

michael haupt (54) has been chairman of the executive board 

and the company’s ceo since 2012.

he studied law in munich and has worked in the real estate 

sector since then. he was admitted to the bar in 1990, and be-

came a member of the executive board with a project develop-

ment company in berlin in 1992. he worked for taG Immobilien 

aG as coo from 2001 to 2005. from 2006 to january 2012 mi-

chael built up the German activities of bouwfonds Investment 

management.

cHristian dunkelberg
(cio)

christian Dunkelberg (55) joined IsarIa Wohnbau aG’s executive 

board after the company’s IPO 2010 as Chief Operating Officer 

(coo). he became responsible for the company’s strategic ex-

pansion in January 2014 as Chief Investment Officer (CIO).

jan von lewinski
(coo)

jan von lewinski (54) joined the company in january 2014 to 

become its new COO (Chief Operating Officer), and is thus re-

sponsible for its operating real estate business. 

born in munich, he is a bank merchant and for the last six years 

he was managing director/coo with antan Group in frank-

furt, which bundles all of the German and foreign activities of 

a frankfurt-based family of entrepreneurs. prior to this, he was 

a member of the executive board and the managing director of 

companies in the taG Immobilien aG group.

supervisory 
board

Prof. dr. raimund baumann 
(chairman)

 + attorney and tax adviser, stuttgart

robert unger
(deputy chairman)

 + attorney, berlin

micHael kranicH
 + executive Director aeris capItal, 

 Pfäffikon, Switzerland

from left to right: michael Kranich,  

prof. Dr. raimund  baumann, robert unger
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analysts estimates sHow substantial 
 uPside Potential

the IsarIa Wohnbau group and IsarIa Wohnbau aG’s 

shares were valued by analysts in 2013. analysts at 

M.M.Warburg&Co. and FIRST Berlin are very confident of 

our group’s medium and long-term potential. both com-

panies’ quarterly reports include a “buy” recommenda-

tion” for shares of IsarIa Wohnbau aG, with the most 

recent price target being eur 4.00. In addition, the net 

asset value (nav) to epra, which was calculated for the 

first time as of 31 December 2013, results in a share 

price of € 3.17.

IsarIa Wohnbau aG’s share

sHare Price Performance sideways to 
 falling, witH very low turnover

In 2013 the international stock markets continued the 

dynamic performance exhibited in the previous year, 

and lifted substantially. the promise of long-term low 

interest rates from global central banks, the recovery in 

the us economy and the stabilisation of the economy 

in the euro zone resulted in very positive market per-

formance during the entire year. Discussions on a pos-

sible reduction to the us fed’s bond-buying program, 

weak reporting seasons and the threatened shutdown 

of the us government as well as geopolitical risk factors 

in some regions only put the stock markets under tem-

porary pressure. as a result, the Dax and mDax lifted by 

20 % and 35 % respectively in 2013. 

In contrast, IsarIa Wohnbau aG’s shares tended to fall 

in 2013, bottoming out at eur 2.25, through to the an-

nouncement of the acquisition of hamburg-based one 

Group. this acquisition is very important, excellent 

news for the future of IsarIa Wohnbau aG, and caused 

the share price to lift to € 3.10 for a short while, and 

then to move sideways or decrease very slightly again 

with very low turnover. the share price on 31 Decem-

ber 2013 was € 2.90.

IsarIa Wohnbau aG’s executive board is convinced that 

this does not reflect the true value of ISARIA Wohnbau 

aG’s shares. however, it totally understands that despite 

this good news in 2013, the market is continuing to wait 

for sustained excellent financials for the company. As a 

result, the average trade volume in 2013 was just 5,200 

shares per day. The 2013 financial statements presented 

in this report, and the second positive annual earnings 

figures after taxes that they include, have now confirmed 

the company’s successful turnaround. on this basis, and 

based on the anticipated business growth in the first 

quarters of 2014, the executive board believes that the 

share price will lift in 2014.

Freefloat 34.06 %

Josef L. Kastenberger 11.53 %

JK Holding GmbH 11.11 %

Helvetic Private
Investment 10.05 %

Fidelity Investment
Funds 6.31 %

aeris CAPITAL S.A. 5.26 %

Metzler Investment 4.74 %

RIT Capital Partners 4.30 %

ONE GRP Verwaltungs GmbH 8.84 %

Thomas Ermel 3.79 %

sHareHolder structure on 18 february 2014 
(after non-casH caPital increase)

sHareHolder structure

after the capital increase, the shareholder structure 

continues to be characterised by institutional and retail 

investors, mostly with a long-term investment horizon.

sHare Price and uPside Potential
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a Project develoPer’s net asset value 
(nav)

In the case of public limited companies which hold prop-

erty stocks, the identification of the NAV is mostly based 

on a valuation of non-current real-estate assets. IsarIa 

Wohnbau aG only has a minor amount of non-current 

assets at almost € 15 million. In contrast, as a rule de-

velopment projects are valued at cost. these values thus 

reflect the situation on the market when projects are 

bought. this period was between 2008 and 2011 for the 

company. In the mean time, prices for plots for residen-

tial development have increased significantly in Munich. 

according to information from the city of munich’s com-

mittee of experts, they increased by 14 % in 2013 alone. 

as a result, the company had an expert identify what a 

project developer would pay for our projects based on 

the current sales and building prices. this expert opinion 

identified hidden reserves of around € 77 million (NAV is 

thus € 3.17 per share). current purchasing prices are actu-

ally even higher, because developers in munich can now 

mostly only make speculative purchases, i.e. in anticipa-

tion of additional substantial price increases.

We must also note that a project developer’s intrinsic 

value is not only to be found in the hidden reserves for its 

properties, but is expressed in its expertise, access to the 

market, future acquisition strength, and the calculated 

surplus funds from project developments. 

notifications of voting rigHts PublisHed

In 2013, ISARIA Wohnbau AG published 2 notifications of 

voting rights according to section 21 (1) of the Wertpa-

pierhandelsgesetz (WpHG – German Securities Trading 

Act) All notifications of voting rights that were issued in 

2013 and thereafter can be found on the company’s Web 

site in the Investor relations section.

key figures for isaria woHnbau ag‘s sHare

stock market ticker IWb

type of stock no-par value transferable shares

IsIn De000a1e8h38

WKn a1e8h3

market segment regulated market, prime standard

DesIGnateD sponsor m.m. Warburg & co., hamburg

stock exchange all German stock exchanges including xetra

Ipo 10 november 2010

highest price 12 months (xetra) € 3.50

lowest price 12 months (xetra) € 2.25

closing price on 12/31/2013 (xetra) € 2.90

ISARIA WohnbAu AG Annual Report 2013
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tradition, experience and high aspirations have since been 

defining characteristics of our company. They are values that 

we take with us into the future focused and with  conviction.

a new cHaPter 
Is beGun
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Isar bavarIa

With profound experience we have been consistently 

and efficiently working on our claim to leadership on 

the real estate market in munich for several years. We 

face our current and future challenges with our knowl-

edge, and also the abilities of a mature and experienced 

company. our company will be measured by its success 

in the coming years.

In order to meet our own high requirements, and to cre-

ate a sustainable, new basis for the future, we renamed 

our company to become IsarIa Wohnbau aG in july 

2013. this thus marks the start of a new chapter in our 

company’s history, and presents our new, contemporary 

understanding of our home region, while upholding mu-

nich’s traditions.

the new name upholds our company’s individuality. It 

is made up of the two key words “Isar” and “bavaria” 

and shows our roots. this was a key factor in choosing 

our new name. at the same time, the very sound of the 

name adds its own dynamism.

We will use this dynamism in pursuing our targets, and 

of course we will also live it. this thus boosts our compa-

ny’s presence. We are a key player on munich’s vibrant, 

wide-ranging real estate market, and this is a key factor 

in differentiating ourselves from the competition – and 

providing our customers with orientation. We want to 

be perceived as a reliable and effective partner, thus 

creating sustainable foundations for the success of our 

company.

IsarIa Wohnbau is ready for the future. We will continue 

our on-track success with the energy our new appear-

ance has given us, and will be able to meet all eventu-

alities with confidence.

IsarIa Wohnbau aG
our new name

differentiators

core values

basic values

claim to leadership

expertise

ambition

Identification

sympathy

sustainability

Innovation

continuity

quality

cost effectiveness

customer orientation

Efficiency

our values

ISARIA WohnbAu AG Annual Report 2013
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munich and hamburg together 
one Group’s integration

“synergy. this term for „cooperation“ is used ad 

nauseum every time there is talk of a merger.

We do it too. but we do so out of complete and 

utter conviction. that‘s because we believe that 

the integration of one Group Gmbh in the IsarIa 

Wohnbau aG Group is a prime example of mu-

tual benefit. The One Group has exclusive access 

to high-quality, unparalled real-estate projects 

in munich – Germany‘s real-estate centre. Isar-

IA Wohnbau AG in turn has gained a financing 

partner, who has recently demonstrated the 

strength of its sales activities.

 

The consistently positive sales figures will guar-

antee a steady influx of capital for ISARIA Wohn-

bau aG not to mention the assurance that all pro-

jects with the required equity can be structured 

within the group“.

michael haupt, spokesman of the 

executive board of IsarIa Wohnbau

fund structure for tHe current Product Proreal deutscHland fonds 3

investor investor investor investor investor

special purpose 
company 

(project development}

special purpose 
company 

(project development}

special purpose 
company 

(project development}

special purpose 
company 

(project development}

Proreal deutschland fonds 3

one Project development gmbH

fund data:

fund name:  proreal Deutschland fonds 3

minimum participation: € 10.000 plus 5 % premium

issue volume: € 75.000,000

return: 7,5 % p.a. from date of deposit

Pay-outs: quarterly

fund term: 3 years planned from 03/31/2014

closing date: 12/31/2014 (planned)

one grouP – leading Provider of Project 
develoPment funds

one Group designs and structures project development 

funds for residential properties in Germany. In 2013 the 

hamburg-based company with its own issuing business 

placed around eur 50 million and acquired more than 

2,100 new investors in retail sales. 

With its innovative fund products and clear investment 

strategies the hamburg-based company has been es-

tablished as one of the leading provider for project de-

velopment funds in Germany. for 2014 it is planning a 

positive result from placements that is on a par with the 

previous year.

the one Group team has many years of experience in the 

issuing business. It has business relationships with more 

than 2,500 asset managers and financial service providers.

the corporate group has 18 employees in sales, marketing, 

Back Office, Controlling, Administration and Consulting.

“We look forward to working together with 

 IsarIa Wohnbau aG. our integration into the aG 

will secure us exclusive access to a unique project 

pipeline in munich.” 

thomas ermel, 

one Group’s managing Director

ISARIA WohnbAu AG Annual Report 2013
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regulation of fund market

On 22 July 2013, the Kapitalanlagegesetzbuch (KAGB - 

German capital Investment act) came into effect in Ger-

many. this implements the aIfm guideline. In reaction to 

the crisis on the financial markets in 2009, since the first 

draft of the guideline the european commission has been 

pursuing the ambitious target of subjecting all of the 

players, activities and financial investment products – in-

cluding closed-end participations – to suitable regulation. 

from 22 july 2013 each fund which is covered by the KaGb 

must have a so-called Kapitalverwaltungsgesellschaft 

(KvG - capital management company). the KvG must be 

licensed by the German financial services supervisory 

authority (bafin). this license demands the reliability 

and suitability of the managers, verification of sufficient 

funding for business operations, and the presentation of 

a business plan together with the organisational struc-

ture, and leads to extensive organisational requirements 

such as risk and liquidity management, compliance and 

bafin reporting.

as a member of the bundesverband sachwerte und In-

vestmentvermögen e.v. (bsi), in future one Group will of-

fer regulated aIf products.

one Group’s current fund, proreal Deutschland fonds 3, 

falls under the transitional phase for aIfm implementa-

tion, and is thus not affected by the new regulations.

 

integration of one grouP offers 
 long-term advantages 

the integration of one Group Gmbh into the IsarIa Wohn-

bau aG group offers long-term, strategic advantages for 

both companies.

ISARIA Wohnbau has found a strong partner to finance its 

real estate projects independently from banks in the form 

of one Group. 

In addition, the use of alternative, high-cost financing 

instruments, such as mezzanine financing, is no longer 

required.

as a result of its collaboration with IsarIa Wohnbau, 

one Group receives exclusive access to high-quality and 

unique residential real estate projects in munich. In addi-

tion, its real estate and project development competence 

has been sustainably expanded.

one Group’s integration is an excellent solution to the 

challenges faced by both companies – namely financing 

opportunities for IsarIa Wohnbau, and the availability of 

top-quality projects for one Group.

additional synergy effects

IsarIa Wohnbau and one Group intend to work closely 

together in additional areas of business, over and above 

financing residential real estate projects. 

for example, one Group with its network of more than 

2,500 asset managers and financial services providers will 

actively support the sale of owner-occupied apartments. 

In addition, they plan to cooperate on real-estate financing.

terraced houses in section Wa 6, handed over in the third quarter of 2013ISARIA WohnbAu AG Annual Report 2013
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a smaller number of people are living in a greater num-

ber of households, and they need more space - that is the 

trend that has been seen over the past few years on the 

German residential real estate market. an ideal environ-

ment for project developers. the number of households 

nationwide increased between 1990 and 2012 by around 

55 percent. the number of single-person households 

increased during this period from 35 to 40.5 percent, 

and the number of two-person households increased 

from 30.2 to 34.5 percent. In contrast, the percentage of 

households with three or more people fell. the growth 

in the amount of residential space per person is also re-

markable: In 1998 this was still 39 m² on average, and 

had already reached 45 m² per person in 2013.

the German residential real estate market is character-

ized by its regional differentiation. Germany is the excep-

tion to the rule compared to countries such as the uK or 

france, in which the respective capital is the hub. many of 

Germany’s rural regions are having to face a fall in popu-

lation numbers; this due to factors including many people 

moving into the cities. Germany’s top 7 cities in particu-

lar are growing, in contrast to the nationwide trend. for 

many years they have been recording increases in the 

number of households and population, and that means 

demand exceeds supply on the real estate markets.

the population of munich in particular is growing: 2012 by 

around 23,300 residents, and in 2011 by 28,700. at the 

end of December 2013 munich had more than 1.46 million 

residents. In addition, the number of households in the ba-

varian capital increased by more than 12 percent between 

2002 and 2011, and hamburg fell far behind with the sec-

ond highest growth in the top 7 of around 6.7 percent.

German residential real estate market

municH leads list of germany’s  
toP locations

munich is still the undisputed leader among Germany’s 

top 7 cities when it comes to rent and purchase prices. 

As shown in the Residential City Profiles study from Jones 

Lang LaSalle (JLL), the rents offered in the first half of 

2013 were eur 14.45 per square meter, up 9.8 percent 

compared to the previous year. as a result, the upswing 

which has been continuing since 2005 has continued – 

rents have increased by 35 percent since then.

the purchase price for owner-occupied apartments is only 

just below the eur 5000 mark: buyers had to pay an aver-

age of eur 4830 per square meter, around 14.1 percent 

more than in 2012. newly built apartments, built in 2009 

or later, were even offered for eur 5,810 on average. In 

the previous year, this figure was still less than EUR 5000.
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new construction gains Pace

munich is not only the most attractive residential market 

in Germany, but in terms of the value of project volumes 

it is also Germany’s largest residential market: more than 

eur 11.1 billion was invested there in 2013. berlin takes 

second place with approx. eur 10.9 billion, and hamburg 

comes in third with EUR 10.3 billion. However, the figures 

for new construction have lagged requirements for quite 

some time. nevertheless, the urgently required construc-

tion of residential properties is increasingly gaining pace. 

around 6,700 apartments were built in munich in 2012, 

around 80 percent more than in 2010. as a result, the 

number of apartments in the bavarian capital has grown 

by around 43,000 units from 2005 to the end of 2012 – 

from more than 719,500 to almost 762,500 apartments. 

however, the target the city has set itself of completing 

7,000 new apartments each year has not been reached in 

the past few years.

forecast: rents and PurcHase Prices to 
increase furtHer in municH

over the past few years, the number of planning permis-

sions granted for apartments in munich has increased 

again, after having fallen far below 6,000 apartments per 

year from 2007 to 2010. the number of apartments is grow-

ing constantly, however this by no means meets the high 

demand. this means that purchase prices and rent on mu-

nich’s residential real estate market will continue to soar.

In view of the ratio of demand for apartments and the 

current price level in Germany’s big cities, we can see 

that munich is by far the most attractive market in Ger-

many for new apartment construction.

comPleted aPartments by number of rooms – 2012
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although 54 % of munich’s residents live alone, only 34 % of 

the new apartments are small one- or two-room apartments.
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conclusion: municH is a HigH-growtH 
location

munich is not only attracting new residents – an increas-

ing number of companies are enjoying their location on 

the Isar river. they create jobs, and secure the income 

of long-standing residents and new arrivals. according 

to an analysis by GfK, in 2013 munich was the metro-

politan region with the strongest spending power: this 

totalled eur 28,247 per resident, whereas in all other 

cities it was less than eur 26,000. In view of the excel-

lent growth forecast, the bavarian capital offers ideal 

conditions for residential construction.

municH in an international comParison

although munich has the highest comparative rents and 

real estate prices of Germany’s cities, the price level is still 

moderate in an international comparison. here too, Ger-

many’s regional differentiation plays a key role. london 

and paris are the central business locations in their respec-

tive countries. as a result, many people move there, which 

in turn causes the demand for residential space and real 

estate prices to rise. In london, people spend an average 

of 40 percent of their income on rent, in Rome this figure 

even totals 49 percent. munich residents spend around 25 

percent of their income on rent, and residents of frankfurt, 

cologne and berlin all spend 21 percent.
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a project develops

01 04

03

02 05

IDentIfIcatIon archItectural plannInG

purchase

technIcal anD leGal feasIbIlIty 
(Due DIlIGence)

plannInG 
permIssIon process

careful observation of 

city developments, 

offers from plot sellers/groups 

of heirs/real estate agents, 

personal network.

of course IsarIa Wohnbau aG is not without its competitors when  

buying a real gem, or what would appear to be a gem. many real 

estate companies want to join in the fray. however, profound 

experience and a large network help us to find excellent sites and 

properties, and avoid awkward bidding.

IsarIa Wohnbau aG supplies select  

architects with concrete ideas, who then  

have a period of three to six months to  

plan everything in detail.

In inner-city locations in particular, a building’s foundations are also the  

foundations for its success. What good is a 1a location, if the ground is contaminated 

with pollutants, or if it is not possible to construct proper foundations on this site? 

It is rare to be able to provide clear answers to all of the questions construction rights 

raise. In most cases, construction rights have to be obtained after the property is 

 purchased. this demands a careful review and profound experience.

While the architects are still involved in preparing  

the plans for the building, initial discussions already start with 

the authorities to prepare the application for planning  

permission. this all has to be thoroughly prepared.  

this is the only way to avoid disagreeable surprises or 

 interdictions by the responsible authorities. 

elements of the planning permission process

•	 preparation to obtain general allow-
ance for construction (“aufstellungs-
beschluss”) 

•	 essential activities that are being con-
ducted during that phase are  
•  Neighborhood hearings (“Nachbar-

schaftsanhörungen”)  
• Habitat investigations  
• Traffic censuses 

•	 findings are submitted to city council to 
receive general approval/rejection for 
requested project 

Development plan specifies type of use, e.g. 
regarding
•	 building law for housing/commercial units
•	  share of social housing
•	  establishment of schools/kindergardens
•	  Permitted floor space and sqm
•	  Type of housing (e.g. pitched vs. flat roofs)
•	  etc.

•	 Official application to receive approval for 
construction project

•	  Submission of official and detailed plan 
specifying the construction project, e.g. 
regarding 
• Scope 
• Number of accommodation units 
• Timeline 
• Etc.

•	  start of sales process – right of withdrawal 
for buyer

•	  as soon as construction license has been 
granted, project developer can officially 
start building project

preparation Development plan construction license

It’s a long journey from identifying a suitable building plot to handing over the completed apartments to the new 

owner. the important milestones in this process are shown in the diagram below.

tHe stePs isaria woHnbau ag uses to Plan and realize residential real estate Projects
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06

08

07

sellInG phase

hanD-over of Keys

constructIon

In parallel to the planning permission phase,  

IsarIa Wohnbau aG already starts to prepare the 

sales documents. only excellent sales and  

marketing  management ensures rapid sales. 

after many months of hard work, we have done 

it: IsarIa Wohnbau aG hands over the new, 

 top-quality apartments to its customers. 

actual building work can only start once the approval has been 

 issued. IsarIa Wohnbau aG’s projects generally take 14-16 months 

to build, depending on the construction project and its scope. our 

 construction partners are key to everything going smoothly. here 

too, IsarIa Wohnbau aG’s long-standing experience and major 

 importance on the market play a key role. 
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1. “nido” project
Karlsfeld
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MUNICH-ALLACH

PROJECT KARLSFELD

dr.-joHann-Heitzer-strasse, start of construction 2009-2015

Project:

new construction of terraced houses, 

houses with garden courtyards and 

owner-occupied apartments

with penthouses

location:

munich-Karlsfeld. s-bahn, Kindergarden, 

schools, banks and shops are easy to  

reach by foot or bicycle. urban area with 

park and a lot of free space.

number of apartments: 

544 residential units

sales volume:

around € 245 million.

row houses

terrace houses

Garden court houses lake view

penthouses apartment buildings
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current buildings as of february 2014: 

all units in image transferred to owner.

view of penthouses and terraced houses in 

Kastanienquartier, july 2013
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the property in vogelweidestraße 5 is the second revitali-

sation project for the app.artments brand. It comprises 

three building sections that are joined together in the 

shape of a t.

there is also an underground parking garage with space 

for 138 cars with the 167 apartments. the city apart-

ments were created by converting the office building, 

which was originally built in 1975, and which was the 

head office for ERV Versicherung, into a state-of-the-art 

apartment building. 

During this conversion, the original building was exten-

sively modernised, including totally renewing the build-

ing’s technology, and a new facade was added, in line 

with the German energy saving Directive enev 2009.

new look witH fresH interiors

The APP.ARTMENTS building adds a new flair to Vogelwei-

destraße with its confident, clean-cut facade. Floor-to-

ceiling windows with slatted applications add structure, 

almost all of the apartments have a balcony, a terrace or 

a conservatory. nothing shows that this is a building that 

has always stood here. 

more value from building

the app.artments are located in a building that was con-

structed in the 1970s. the renovation has ensured that 

the building’s technology – from the water and energy 

supply through to the elevators – is state-of-the-art. the 

facade and roof were renovated to conserve energy, and 

now meet the requirements in the German energy sav-

ing Directive (enev 2009), permanently cutting the prop-

erty’s operating costs. In addition to the renovation and 

heat insulation for the building itself, we also installed 

comprehensive noise protection, so that all of the tenants 

can live side by side without disturbing each other.

benefits for owners and residents 

The concept for the building’s space, use and fittings has 

been well thought through from start to finish, and cre-

ates the maximum of comfort in small spaces. the com-

pact size allows the residential units to be offered at high 

rents, however on the whole they are still affordable. 

there is a perfect combination of space and furnishing. 

the balconies or conservatories vastly increase the per-

ceived value. newly designed green spaces in the interior 

courtyard provide an inspiring eye-catcher, and offer a 

place to stop and relax in the heart of munich.

bottom left: Interior courtyard before conversion

right: Interior courtyard after conversion

top left: front view

right: photo of show apartment

2. “app.artments” project
munich bogenhausen
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an example:
project “tower“
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MUNICH-CENTRE

MUNICH-ALLACH

PROJECT TOWER

Project: 

Revitalization

location:

In the south-west of obersendling. as a 

result of its proximity to the Isar and the 

city centre this region is one of munich’s 

preferred residential areas, and the s-bahn 

and u-bahn train stations are within easy 

reach by foot from the property.

number of apartments: 

300 residential units

sales volume:

around € 150 million.

HigHligHt towersallianz arena

m.Pire

frauenkircHe

municH-obersendling

Illustration of living room with a view to the south
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corPorate governance

report on corporate Governance at IsarIa 

 Wohnbau aG 

„corporate Governance“ stands for responsible business 

management and supervision of companies with the ob-

jective of long-term creation of value. the executive board 

and supervisory board of IsarIa Wohnbau aG consider it to 

be an essential prerequisite for sustainable business suc-

cess as it strengthens trust on the part of shareholders, 

employees, business partners and the public with respect 

to the company’s leadership and management. In their 

corporate governance the executive board and supervisory 

board observe the latest valid version of German corpo-

rate Governance code (hereinafter also referred to as the 

‘code’). according to item 3.10 of the code, the executive 

board and supervisory board are issuing the following re-

port on corporate Governance at IsarIa Wohnbau aG. the 

corporate Governance statement pursuant to section 289a 

German commercial code [hGb] has been made perma-

nently available in the Investor relations area of the com-

pany website (www.isaria-wohnbau .de).

DeclaratIon of conformIty from the executIve  

boarD anD supervIsory boarD pursuant to 

 artIcle 161 German stocK corporatIon act [aKtG]

article 161 aktG stipulates that the executive board and 

the supervisory board shall issue annual declarations stat-

ing that the recommendations of the code have been or 

will be met as well as which have not and the reasons for 

this. the updated version of the Declaration of conformity 

from april 2013 was the subject matter of the supervisory 

board meeting of 20 april 2013. at this point, reference 

is made to the Declaration of conformity with respect to 

the reasons for divergences from the recommendations 

of the code, which has been made permanently available 

to the shareholders in the Investor relations area of the 

company website (www.isaria-wohnbau.de).

executIve boarD anD supervIsory boarD

management structure

IsarIa Wohnbau aG is a stock corporation under German 

law. the company‘s administration is subject to the regu-

lations of German stock corporation law, capital market 

provisions and the provisions of the company statutes 

and rules of procedure for the executive board and super-

visory board. the executive board and supervisory board 

of IsarIa Wohnbau aG provide a split management and 

supervisory structure. the shareholder’s meeting is the 

third body of the company.

compliance as a management function 

the executive board must ensure that legal provisions 

and internal company guidelines are complied with and 

observed by the group companies (compliance). these 

measures for complying with the law and internal guide-

lines are essential management functions at IsarIa 

Wohnbau aG. 

composition of and remuneration for positions on 

the executive board

together with the executive board, the supervisory board 

ensures that there is long-term succession planning, and 

takes into account the fact that ongoing contracts may 

possibly end in different periods. the supervisory board 

will, in the event of upcoming changes within the execu-

tive board, also take steps in the interest of diversity and 

in particular endeavour to consider women for filling po-

sitions on the board accordingly. 

composition of the supervisory board and diversity

pursuant to 5.4.1 (2) of the code, the supervisory board 

is to define specific goals with respect to its composition, 

which account for the activities of the company, potential 

conflicts of interest, the number of independent mem-

bers in the sense of item 5.4.2 of the code, an age limit to 

be defined for members of the Supervisory Board and di-

versity where steps are taken to ensure adequate partici-

pation of women in consideration of the specific situation 

of the company. for the reasons provided in the Declara-

tion of conformity, the supervisory board has disclosed 

a variation from this recommendation. however, it ad-

dressed the question as to which special knowledge and 

skills should be represented on the supervisory board:

•  In addition to the knowledge, skills and professional 

qualities of the members of the supervisory board, 

which are already required, expertise and experience 

with the German real-estate and capital market should 

also be contributed in order to critically evaluate the 

decisions of the executive board;

•  as a result of the great importance of litigation and 

legal risks, in particular from the company’s time be-

fore going public, broad-scale and particularly legal 

experience and knowledge is necessary, and should 

be added to the board, and

•  already based on the specifications of Article 100 (5) 

AktG, special expertise in the fields of accounting and 

auditing should also be present on the board particu-

larly in order to critically evaluate the annual financial 

statements to be complied by the company.

remuneration of the supervisory board

the remuneration set by the general meeting for the 

members of the supervisory board is regulated in article 

13 (1) of the articles of incorporation of IsarIa Wohnbau 

AG. This is based on the company’s size and the respon-

sibility and scope of activities of the members of the su-

pervisory board. the members of the supervisory board 

receive remuneration of EUR 15,000.00 for each full fiscal 

year of their membership of the supervisory board, and 

an additional meeting fee of eur 2,000 for each meeting 

of the supervisory board. the chairman of the superviso-

ry board receives twice this remuneration, and his deputy 

receives 1.5 times this remuneration. members who were 

not members of the Supervisory Board for the full fiscal 

year receive proportionate remuneration.

Prevention of conflicts of interest and „directors‘ 

dealings“

the disclosure and transparency of transactions, which 

could lead to a conflict of interest, are an integral part of 

our corporate Governance.

The Supervisory Board believes that it has a sufficient 

number of independent members serving on it in order 

to preventing any conflicts of interest; these members 

have neither a business or personal relationship to the 

company or the executive board. no former members of 

the executive board serve on the supervisory board. 

pursuant to section 15a German securities trading act 

(WphG), the members of the executive board, supervi-

sory board and persons with close relations to either of 

these boards are required by law to disclose the acquisi-

tion and the sale of company shares or financial instru-

ments based on such transactions if the value of the 

transactions conducted within a calendar year reaches 

or exceeds an amount of 5,000 euros. no corresponding 

transactions were reported to the company during the 

reporting period.

aDDItIonal InformatIon on corporate Governance

risk management

risks must be taken on in order to take advantage of op-

portunities for the company and reach targets. the re-

sponsible management of business risks falls under the 

principles of good corporate Governance. It must be en-

sured that risks are recognised in time, properly evalu-

ated and properly managed. the company endeavours 

to define provisions for the identification, evaluation and 

management of risks, which are also subject to critical 

examination by the auditor. Details on the risk manage-

ment process are provided in the risk report, which is part 

of the management report.

corporate Governance
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transparency

Important information is available in German and english 

on the company‘s website. 

furthermore, immediately after receipt of a relevant noti-

fication pursuant to Section 21 German Securities Trading 

act (WphG), the achieving, exceeding or falling below of 

3, 5, 10, 15, 20, 25, 30, 50 or 75 per cent of the voting 

rights in the company is published in an information sys-

tem that is distributed throughout europe. 

shareholders’ meeting

the shareholders will exercise their rights, including their 

voting right, at the shareholder‘s meeting. the sharehold-

ers will either exercise their voting right at the share-

holder‘s meeting themselves or have it exercised by an 

authorised representative of their choice or a company 

proxy, who is bound by instructions. each share grants 

one vote. 

the shareholder‘s meeting decides on all tasks assigned 

to it by law. this includes in particular deliberating on 

the appropriation of profit, the discharge of the Execu-

tive board and supervisory board as well as the election 

of auditors and supervisory board members. the share-

holder‘s meeting is also responsible for changes to the 

statutes and decides on all significant business measures 

such as inter-company agreements and conversions. the 

agenda as well as proposed resolutions for the sharehold-

er‘s meeting and the reports and documents required for 

the shareholder‘s meeting as well as the voting results 

will be published on the company‘s website. 

accounting and auditing

the supervisory board will retrieve a declaration of inde-

pendence from the auditor before calling the vote. In par-

ticular, it shall agree with him that the supervisory board 

chairman will be advised of any grounds for exclusion or 

prejudice, which encountered while performing the au-

dit, to the extent they are not immediately rectified and 

such that the auditor reports on all findings and events, 

which are significant for the functions of the Supervisory 

board and encountered while performing the audit.

munich, march 2014

executive board and supervisory board of  

isaria wohnbau ag
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In the year under review, the supervisory board per-

formed the tasks that were required of it by law, the arti-

cles of incorporation and the company by-laws. 

supervIsory boarD meetInGs

In 2013 the supervisory board met for a total of 13 meet-

ings, either face to face or by phone. In addition, there 

were a large number of telephone discussions between 

members of the supervisory board. no member of the 

supervisory board was present for less than half the 

meetings. no committees were formed in 2013.

the subjects of the supervisory board meetings in 2013 

were mostly: 

• supervising the management, 

• resolutions on transactions requiring approval, 

• supervising project status and the liquidity forecast, 

•  ongoing exchanges with the appointed auditor for the 

audit of the 2012 financial statements and the 2012 

management report as well as the 2012 consolidated 

financial statements and 2012 group management re-

port according to article 171 of the aktG,

•  Support for the company’s acquisition of One Group 

Gmbh, hamburg,

• Appointing a further member of the Executive Board;

•  Recommendations of the “Government Comission on 

the German corporate Governance code”.

supervIsIon of the executIve boarD

During the period under review, the supervisory board 

supervised and advised the executive board in line with 

statutory requirements and the possibilities available. 

the reports and documents presented by the executive 

board were in line with the requirements of article 90 

of the aktG.

for important issues, the chairman of the supervisory 

board also received reports outside the regular reports 

according to article 90 of the aktG. In addition, the chair-

man of the supervisory board was also in regular contact 

with the executive board between the meetings, and 

advised it on questions of strategy, forecasting, business 

growth, risks, risk management and the company’s com-

pliance.

a major focus of the activities of the executive and super-

visory boards in 2013 was also to further pursue the com-

pany’s restructuring process started in 2011 for financing, 

corporate forecasting and reporting. Significant improve-

ments were ascertained in this regard. 

corporate Governance

the executive board and supervisory board issued a 

declaration of conformity in april 2013 and most recent-

ly in march 2014 according to article 161 of the aktG 

with regard to the recommendations of the Government 

commission on the German corporate Governance code. 

the declaration of conformity is available on the com-

pany’s Web site. the details of corporate governance at 

IsarIa Wohnbau aG were discussed as part of the cor-

porate governance report, to which we refer (part of the 

annual report).

No conflicts of interests occurred for members of the Ex-

ecutive board or the supervisory board which had to be 

disclosed to the supervisory board immediately in the 

period under review. 

The requirements for independent financial experts with-

in the meaning of article 100 (5) of the aktG continue to 

be met by prof. raimund baumann. 

personnel matters

During the year under review, jan-christoph von lewin-

ski was appointed as a further member of the executive 

board. mr. von lewinski started his work with the compa-

ny on 1 January 2014. As COO (Chief Operating Officer) he 

is responsible, in particular, for project management and 

operating project development, and has taken over these 

tasks from the member of the executive board christian 

Dunkelberg, whose contract has been extended through 

to the end of 2015 and who will act as cIo (chief Invest-

ment Officer) in future. Michael Haupt continues to be 

Chairman of the Board and CEO (Chief Executive Officer).

mr. andreas epple, a member of the supervisory board, 

resigned from his office with a letter dated 28 January 

2013, and has left the company’s supervisory board. mr. 

robert unger was thus appointed as a member of the 

company’s supervisory board by munich local court on 17 

April 2013, and this position was confirmed by the com-

pany’s ordinary general meeting on 8 june 2013. 

annual anD consolIDateD fInancIal statements 

2013

Nörenberg • Schröder GmbH Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesells-

chaft, Hamburg, audited the annual financial statements 

and management report of IsarIa Wohnbau aG as well as 

the consolidated financial statements and group manage-

ment report for fiscal year 2013 and issued these with an 

unqualified auditor’s opinion in each case. 

The annual financial statements and management report 

were prepared according to the provisions of the hGb. 

The consolidated financial statements and group man-

agement report were prepared on the basis of Ifrs, as 

are to be applied in the eu, according to Directive (eu) no. 

1606/2002 and section 315a of the hGb.

the auditor performed the audit in observance of German 

accepted auditing principles established by the German 

Institute of Independent auditors (IDW).

The documents for the financial statements and the au-

dit reports for the company were sent to all members 

of the supervisory board in good time, and discussed in 

depth in the Supervisory Board meeting on the financial 

statements on 20 march 2014. the auditor participated in 

the meeting, discussed his audit, and was available for 

questions by the board. In addition, the auditor confirmed 

that the risk early warning system set up by the executive 

board is suitable, on the whole, for recognising develop-

ments at an early stage that could endanger the compa-

ny’s continued existence, and that there are no material 

weaknesses in the internal control and risk management 

systems with regard to the accounting process.

the supervisory board concurs with the auditor’s results, 

and as a result of its own review of the annual and consol-

idated financial statements and the respective manage-

ment reports, it has ascertained that no objections are to 

be raised. In particular, the supervisory board shares the 

assessment by the executive board in the management 

report and the group management report. the supervi-

sory board urged the executive board to closely monitor 

the risks shown in the group management report, and 

to keep the supervisory board updated on these on an 

ongoing basis. In its meeting on 20 march 2014, the su-

pervisory Board approved the company’s annual financial 

statements as of 31 December 2013 and the consolidated 

financial statements as of 31 December 2013. The finan-

cial statements of IsarIa Wohnbau aG are thus adopted.

expressIon of thanKs

the supervisory board would like to thank the executive 

board and all of the company‘s employees for their great 

dedication in fiscal year 2013.

munich, march 2014

for the supervisory board

prof. raimund baumann

chairman

supervIsory boarD report
pursuant to artIcle 171 II sentence 1 German stocK corporatIon act (aKtG)

dear shareholders,
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Group manaGement report for the 
fInancIal year 2013

1.  business activities and economic 
 environment

i. business activities and growtH

IsarIa Wohnbau aG (hereinafter also referred to as the 

“company” or, in connection with its subsidiaries and par-

ticipating interests the “IsarIa Wohnbau group” or only 

“IsarIa Wohnbau”) is a project developer for residential 

properties in the greater munich region. the Group buys 

plots of land in attractive locations via independent special 

purpose entities/subsidiaries, plans residential properties 

in these locations, constructs these and then sells them. 

the business activities of the IsarIa Wohnbau are divided 

into the business areas of new residential real estate con-

struction and the revitalization of existing properties. The 

latter includes also converting former commercial prop-

erties to turn them into residential properties under the 

brand “app.artments” created for this purpose.

the company’s business model is to sell all apartments 

and houses that it has constructed. IsarIa Wohnbau does 

not aim to rent or hold apartments or houses within a 

portfolio. With its project companies, the company oper-

ates exclusively in the high-growth greater metropolitan 

region of munich.

proDucts, sales anD constructIon actIvItIes by 

IsarIa Wohnbau 

the IsarIa Wohnbau Group’s claim is to offer top quality 

residences for purchase in attractive locations in the mu-

nich region. the highest standards are set with regard to 

architecture, style, design and also construction materials 

and construction technology. the standard is set by the de-

sires of typical owner-occupier households in munich. the 

company’s core business is not with luxury properties. 

owner-occupied apartments and houses are sold on be-

half of the company by freelance employees who have 

been working for the company for many years and who 

are paid purely on a commission basis. In addition, there 

are project-specific sales offices and sample apartments 

and houses. sales have been set up to deal with the in-

creasing number of investors as purchasers. For the first 

time, experience has also been gained with a nation-

wide real-estate sales organisation. support for inves-

tors who take over entire projects as rental properties, 

is provided directly by members of the executive board, 

who have long-standing links to the world of institu-

tional investors.

the company has a highly competent, experienced team 

of technical customer advisers and commercial em-

ployees, who support hundreds of customers each year 

from “sale from a plan” or during the construction phase 

through to the property handover. 

IsarIa Wohnbau realises its projects with external archi-

tects, engineers and construction companies, who are 

technically managed by a team of project developers and 

project managers and commercial controlling.

the projects listed in the table and majority acquisi-

tions of project companies that have already been cer-

tified will allow ISARIA Wohnbau to generate its future 

revenue volume. the project not included in the table 

“neue hirschpark terrassen” (104 residential units) is 

being executed in cooperation with corpus sireo projek-

tentwicklung Wohnen Gmbh and is carried at equity by 

the joint ventures included in the consolidated financial 

statements. for this company no revenues are recorded 

at a consolidated level. Instead, the proportionate result 

is absorbed. on the balance sheet date this project had 

mostly been completed.

isaria woHnbau‘s Projects 

Project special purpose entity location total 
number of 

housing 
units

scheduled
completion

status 

driem jK Wohnbau objekt Willy-brandt-
allee Gmbh; house c

munich-riem 64 03/2013 completed

nido

 

jK Wohnbau objekt Karlsfeld 1 
Gmbh; section 6

Karlsfeld am 
Prinzenpark

31 08/2013 completed

jK Wohnbau objekt Karlsfeld 1 
Gmbh; sections 5,7

50 12/2013 completed

jK Wohnbau objekt Karlsfeld 1 
Gmbh; section 1

77 12/2015 construction 
started

jK Wohnbau aG & co. objekt 
Karlsfeld 2 KG; section 9

35 06/2014 construction 
started

jK Wohnbau aG & co. objekt 
Karlsfeld 2 KG; section 8

55 03/2015 construction 
started

jK Wohnbau aG & co. objekt 
Karlsfeld 2 KG; section 10

73 06/2016 preparation 
for start of 

 construction

jK Wohnbau aG & co. objekt 
Karlsfeld 3 KG; section 12c 

33 12/2014 construction 
started

jK Wohnbau aG & co. objekt Karls-
feld 3 KG; remaining sections

112 03/2016 preparation 
for start of 

 construction

app.
art-
ments

living bogenhausen Gmbh munich- 
bogenhausen

167 03/2014 being completed

st. 
bonifa-
tius

gindiwo Gesellschaft  
für individuelle Wohnungspri-

vatisierung objekt st. bonifatius 
straße mbh – rear building

munich-
Giesing

21 03/2014 being completed

gindiwo Gesellschaft  
für individuelle Wohnungspri-

vatisierung objekt st. bonifatius 
straße mbh – front building

22 10/2014 construction  
in progress

tower jK tower Gmbh munich- 
obersendling

328 12/2018 plan b  
development

am 
münchfeld

jK Wohnbau objekt  
am münchfeld Gmbh

munich-allach 458 2017 – 2018 plan b  
development
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Key events In the perIoD unDer revIeW

change of company name

In its general meeting on 6 june 2013, the company 

changed its name to IsarIa Wohnbau aG (formerly jK 

Wohnbau aG). this was entered in the commercial regis-

ter on 13 june 2013. 

Further improvements to the financing structure

In order to reduce dependency on external financing part-

ners, on 31 December 2013, IsarIa acquired a 100 % inter-

est in one Group Gmbh (one Group) with its registered of-

fice in Hamburg via a non-cash capital increase. One Group 

was formed in 2009 and is an issuing company for project 

development funds and will invest in munich in IsarIa 

Wohnbau’s project pipeline via its proreal Deutschland 

funds. on 31 December 2013 IsarIa Wohnbau had al-

ready received financial participations with a volume of 

k€ 33,501 from this source. In structural terms, it has thus 

significantly reduced its dependency on external financing 

sources, and the company has its own financing platform.

acquisition of equity interests for subsidiaries which 

were already previously fully consolidated

During the course of the fiscal year, ISARIA Wohnbau ac-

quired additional interests in various subsidiaries that 

were already controlled by the group. In detail this con-

cerns the acquisition of minority interests in jK Wohnbau 

aG & co. objekt maistraße KG, j.K. Wohnbaugesellschaft 

mbh & co. objekt hohenwaldeck KG, jK Wohnbau objekt 

Karlsfeld 1 Gmbh, jK Wohnbau aG & co. objekt Karlsfeld 2 

KG, jK Wohnbau aG & co. objekt Karlsfeld 3 KG, jK Wohn-

bau Gmbh & co. objekt Waltherstraße KG and jK Wohnbau 

objekt stahlstraße Gmbh.

to the extent that the subsidiaries are corporations, the 

acquisition was carried as an acquisition of an interest 

without a change of status directly under consolidated 

equity. a comparison of the acquisition costs with the 

carrying amounts of the minority interests disposed of 

resulted in a difference of k€ -2,855 (previous year: k€ 0). 

In the case of the subsidiaries with the legal form of a 

partnership, in contrast the minority interests were not 

previously carried under equity, but under liabilities. as 

a result, the acquisition of the minority interests led to 

these liabilities being derecognised. In connection with 

the acquisition of a minority interest, one shareholder 

waived his claim to a purchase price in this regard. this 

resulted in a reduction of liabilities in the consolidated 

financial statements by k€ 3,301 and is reflected as a 

contribution from shareholders to reserves. the remain-

ing acquisition of interest resulted in financial income of 

k€ 325 (previous year: k€ 0). 

as a result of the acquisition of these interests, the com-

pany’s founder, mr. josef l. Kastenberger exited all of the 

subsidiaries.

acquisition of living bogenhausen gmbH

With effect from 29 November 2013 (date of first-time 

consolidation), the company acquired a 94 % interest in 

the project company living bogenhausen Gmbh (for-

merly jK Wohnbau objekt vogelweidestraße Gmbh). as 

IsarIa Wohnbau aG already held a 6 % interest, from 

this date it has held a 100 % interest. living bogen-

hausen GmbH is developing a revitalization property in 

vogelweidstraße 5 in munich-bogenhausen, which is 

converting a former office property into a state-of-the-

art apartment building. the acquisition of the majority 

interests in this project company means that IsarIa 

Wohnbau can realise its second revitalisation project 

under the app.artments brand.

developments of projects

During the past fiscal year 2013, it was only possible to 

re-commence building work very late at the start of the 

year as a result of the very long winter. however, work 

went without disruption and on schedule during the sec-

ond half of the year. the projects in detail:

the last unit in the hohenwaldeck building was handed 

over in march 2013, marking the completion of the project.

all units from the “driem” project in munich-riem, which 

were still left as of 31 December 2012, were handed over 

in the first three months of 2013. The property has there-

fore been completely sold, handed over and occupied.

the project “neue hirschpark terrassen” was completed 

in 2013 when the north building was fully completed 

with a total of 19 units and completion of the exterior 

areas. a total of 28 units were handed over in 2013. one 

last apartment was handed over at the start of 2014. the 

total of 104 apartments have thus all been sold, handed 

over and moved into on the reporting date, and the pro-

ject has been fully completed. the project is being carried 

out in cooperation with corpus sireo projektentwicklung 

Wohnen GmbH and is included in the consolidated finan-

cial statements at equity via the investment result.

In the renovation project st. bonifatius, the construction 

activities in the building to the rear have been complet-

ed, apart from a few remaining tasks. most of the apart-

ments have been handed over. from the building to the 

front the core has already been fully removed and the 

rebuilding work is continuing at a rapid pace. the rein-

forcement of the ceilings, which is required due to the 

construction, is running on schedule, which means that 

we believe that this will be completed and the buyers will 

move back in in the fourth quarter of 2014.

In the “nido” project in Dr. Johann-Heitzer-Straße in 

Karlsfeld West, after the long winter at the start of the 

year, for a further two months we had to battle extreme 

rainfall and the resulting high ground water levels. this 

led to weather-related delays in the continued course of 

construction. In spite of this, however, it was possible to 

complete 81 units in 2013, of which 71 units were also 

handed over in 2013, with corresponding recognition in 

revenues and earnings. as of 1 january 2014 a total of 

193 residential units were still under construction. 90 % 

of these have already been sold. construction work on 

these units is progressing on schedule. as a result of the 

major sales success, in addition a further 96 residential 

units in subsequent sites have been put up for sale, and 

a good 60 % of these had already been sold by the end 

of September. All of the 78 residential units in the first 

construction stage have already been sold, finished and 

transferred since 2012. IsarIa Wohnbau is realising a to-

tal of 547 residential units on this 115,000 m² site.

In the “app.artments” revitalisation project in vogel-

weidstraße 5 in munich-bogenhausen, it was only possi-

ble to re-commence construction work in april 2013 after 

the long winter. by then, the core had been fully removed 

from this building, and it was rebuilt successively from the 

second basement floor through to the fifth upper floor. 

the complex construction project was performed with 

individual handovers from a large number of different 

craftsmen using state-of-the-art technology. the apart-

ments, the so-called individual ownership, were mostly 

finished by the end of the year, and kitchens and fitted 

cupboards were added as finishing touches. However, as 

the city utilities company was not able to connect the dis-

trict heating on time, and as construction work still had 

to be finished in the jointly-owned sections (hallways, 

stairwells and external areas), the management board 

has decided to move back the transfers for the individual 

and joint ownership to the first quarter of 2014.

In the two developments am münchfeld and tower, ob-

taining building rights is being further driven. the politi-

cal will to create more residential construction rights that 

has been clearly expressed is faced with bureaucratic 

implementation, as a large number of public-sector play-

ers are involved in type of process. This makes it difficult 

to set out an exact timetable in practice. In the project 

“am münchfeld” in allach, in 2013 the test drafts for 

town planning were completed in 2013, and the struc-

tural-physical survey was completed. We now expect the 

resolution on the key data (“eckdatenbeschluss”) to be 

issued in the second quarter of 2014. In the tower project 

in munich obersendling, in 2013 the focus was on the ur-

ban planning development of the entire area in which the 

property is located. In its last meeting on 18 December 
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2013, the city council initiated the corresponding land de-

velopment planning. the results from a discussion forum 

with interested citizens in February 2014 will be included 

in a resolution on key data (“eckdatenbeschluss”) by the 

city of munich, which will be followed by an urban plan-

ning and landscape planning competition in the second 

half of 2014.

acquisition of majority interests in additional project 

developments

In December 2013, notarised purchase agreements for 

the acquisition of an 84 % interest in each case in three 

project development companies were certified. To date 

IsarIa Wohnbau has only held a minority interest of 

6 % in these companies. execution of these agreements 

is subject to the condition precedent that the financing 

partners approve. the executive board believes that this 

will be implemented during the course of 2014. the con-

clusions of these agreements means that IsarIa Wohn-

bau has taken a further key step in its efforts to secure its 

future project pipeline.

executive board and supervisory board membership 

changes

Mr. Andreas Epple resigned from his office on 28 Janu-

ary 2013. the district court of munich then appointed mr. 

robert unger, attorney at law, berlin, as a new member 

of the supervisory board with the resolution of 17 april 

2013. mr. unger was elected deputy chairman of the su-

pervisory board at the meeting of the supervisory board 

on 19 april 2013. on 6 june 2013, the general meeting 

elected mr. unger as a member of the supervisory board.

mr. jan von lewinski was appointed as a new, additional 

member of the executive board from 1 january 2014, in a 

resolution by the supervisory board on 20 october 2013.

ii. overall economic develoPments

according to estimates by the Institut für Weltwirtschaft 

(IfW) in Kiel, at the end of December 2013 the perspec-

tives for the global economy lifted at the end of 2013/

start of 2014. factors that perceptibly depressed the glob-

al economy in the past two years have thus become less 

important. the IfW also believes that in 2014 the econ-

omy in Germany will grow, driven by an upswing in the 

investment cycle. the gross domestic product in Germany 

is expected to lift by 1.7 % in 2014, and even by 2.5 % in 

2015. Employment figures will also continue to increase 

slightly, however the IfW puts the unemployment rate 

in 2014 at a constant 6.9 %. this is due to an increased 

return to work, in particular by women and older people, 

and also as a result of increased immigration.

Residential construction will continue to benefit from 

these positive underlying conditions, in particular from 

the continued extremely low financing costs, and also 

from the lack of alternative investments and from the 

continued insecurity.

iii.  develoPments on tHe real estate markets in 

germany and municH

the marKet for resIDentIal project Developers 

both the real estate economy in Germany (as an indi-

cator for the current situation) and also the real estate 

climate (as an indicator for the future perspectives) 

showed a further increase in the fourth quarter of 2013 

according to the hypo-Immobilienkonjunktur-Index in 

December 2013, and are thus higher than the respec-

tive figures at the end of 2012 by 13.6 % or 8.9 %. The 

climate for residential construction has thus fallen by a 

total of 7.7 % during the course of 2013 compared to the 

record-breaking figure in December 2013, however com-

pared to other asset classes it is still the most attractive 

and is thus a “safe harbour”. the fundamental mood on 

the German real estate market thus continues to be high 

on the whole. residential project developers continue 

to enjoy an excellent environment in all of Germany’s 

high-growth regions.

Developments on the housInG marKet In munIch

the real estate market in munich continues to be highly 

attractive – this situation has not changed since the end 

of 2012. Munich as a location takes first place in many 

current national studies with regard to factors relevant 

for the real estate market, such as economic and struc-

tural indicators, location strength and future-proof loca-

tions. most recently stated in the 2013 city ranking by 

Dekabank and Immobilienmanger. here, the bavarian 

state capital recorded the highest number of points in 

the weighted sections of affluence, job market and qual-

ity of life. munich is also the highest-priced location for 

residential real estate in Germany. 

the price increase in the past few years also continued in 

2013. the prices for owner-occupied apartments in mu-

nich increased by a further 13.7 % year on year through to 

the end of september 2013. as a result, the pace of price 

growth has fallen slightly compared to the increase in 

2012, however this is far from being a turnaround.

this strong increase is due to the exceptionally high and 

constant demand, which, in turn is due to the strong 

growth in the population of the city and its surrounding 

areas. munich has grown by around 100,000 inhabitants 

in the last four years alone. this is now not only due to 

strong numbers of newcomers but also a higher birth 

rate, as many of the new residents are the right age to be 

starting families.

In addition to the strong demand, however, the low 

supply is also ensuring that the situation on the munich 

market remains tense. There are not yet any concrete fig-
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ures available for 2013, however the number of planning 

permissions granted and the number of apartments com-

pleted each year are not enough to cover requirements, 

which the city of munich puts at around 7,000 apartments 

each year. In 2012 almost 6,700 apartments were com-

pleted, however this was by no means enough to com-

pensate for the insufficient construction activities in the 

past few years. In contrast, the low number of comple-

tions is now causing supply to be so scarce that the mu-

nich committee of experts, in its current quarterly report 

3/2013, has ascertained a 13 % downturn in the number 

of sales on the market for owner-occupied apartments in 

the first nine months of 2013. According to the prelimi-

nary market analysis, this trend has also been confirmed 

for the year as a whole, and the city’s committee of ex-

perts has ascertained: “the growing demand for residen-

tial properties has thinned out the offering, and at the 

same time prices have continued to increase.” With re-

gard to price developments, in its current quarterly report 

the munich committee of experts reports a further sub-

stantial increase in prices for newly built apartments in 

average and excellent residential locations from approx. 

€ 5,000/m² in 2012 to an average figure of € 5,950/m² 

in the first nine months of 2013. As a result, the average 

price in munich in 2013 increased by an average of ap-

prox. € 300/m² per quarter. In excellent residential loca-

tions, the average prices were even around € 6,650/m².

 

In the IvD Institute’s opinion, there are currently no indi-

cators that the situation on the munich real estate market 

will relax over the medium term. there is still a great 

appetite to make purchasers among both investors and 

owner-occupiers despite these higher purchase prices 

given the highly limited offering.

In the new demography report dated December 2012, the 

city of munich is already forecasting that the 1.5 million 

inhabitants mark will be passed in 2014. by 2030 the city 

is forecast to grow to between 1.65 million and 1.8 mil-

lion inhabitants, depending on the scenario. this would 

be at least 190,000 more inhabitants than at present, and 

would correspond to average growth of a good 11,000 to 

20,000 inhabitants per year, which is substantially lower 

than the current growth rate. that also means that resi-

dential accommodation of around the size of a small town 

has to be created in munich every year. that goes far be-

yond the current offering.

the underlying economic conditions and the demograph-

ic trends in munich have a positive impact on the op-

portunity/risk profile for this location. A study by Savills, 

a real estate agent and consulting company, which deals 

with current developments, perspectives and potential 

on the German market for residential real estate, comes 

to the conclusion that the macro location risk in munich is 

the lowest of all of the locations it surveyed.

competItIve posItIon of IsarIa Wohnbau In munIch

competition for project developers for residential con-

struction is mostly fragmented throughout Germany. 

there are many smaller providers on the market, who 

develop a few, small-scale properties in the traditional 

housing estate structures. as a result of the strong growth 

in the population of munich, which has been the case for 

decades, however, some major companies have become 

established, who mostly ensure urban development 

growth. IsarIa Wohnbau has ranked among these com-

panies for several years. Im Kreis der von bulwien-Gesa 

ermittelten fünf führenden münchner Wohnungsentwick-

ler sind alle anderen Unternehmen seit Jahrzehnten im 

Familienbesitz und das „zweitjüngste“ ist auch schon 45 

jahre am markt erfolgreich. auf basis einer ausreichend 

großen und strategischen projektpipeline gehört damit 

die entwicklung von Wohnungsbau in münchen offenbar 

zu den am wenigsten krisenanfälligen Geschäftsmodel-

len der Immobilienindustrie. 

IsarIa Wohnbau continues to be the most important Ger-

man residential property developer which only operates 

in a single location. 

2. organization of isaria woHnbau

i. executive bodies of isaria woHnbau ag

executIve anD supervIsory boarDs

the statutory management and representative body is 

the executive board of IsarIa Wohnbau aG. according to 

the articles of association this board comprises at least 

two members. the supervisory board advises and moni-

tors the executive board in its management of the com-

pany. In addition, it may appoint a ceo or chairman of the 

executive board and a Deputy. according to the articles of 

association of IsarIa Wohnbau aG, the supervisory board 

has three members, elected by the General meeting. on 

the balance sheet date, the supervisory board comprised 

prof. raimund baumann (chairman), robert unger (Dep-

uty chairman) and michael Kranich.

remuneratIon system

The Supervisory Board defines the Executive Board’s re-

muneration. the remuneration system for the members 

of the Executive Board in the past fiscal year comprised 

fixed salary payments and incidental payments, and also 

the following variable components: variable compensa-

tion for members of the executive board was included for 

2013, which can account for up to 60 % of their fixed an-

nual basic salary, and which is linked to reaching specific 

pre-defined milestones. These milestones set for 2013 

were only partially reached. a provision of k€ 200 was 

formed in these financial statements for this eventuality. 

The final amount will be determined by the Supervisory 

board after the balance sheet has been prepared. In ad-

dition, the Supervisory Board has defined the criteria for 

variable remuneration in 2014, which is linked to various 

corporate targets in fiscal year 2014. Slightly less than 

half of the variable remuneration is linked to concrete 

financial indicators, and the majority is linked to targets 

which aim to ensure the medium to long-term success 

of the company. remuneration for members of the su-

pervisory board is governed by the articles of associa-

tion. The members of the Supervisory Board receive fixed 

remuneration, set by the General meeting, plus reim-

bursement of their out-of-pocket expenses. the General 

meeting re-regulated remuneration on march 23, 2012. 

accordingly, members of the supervisory board also re-

ceive a meeting fee in addition to their fixed annual re-

muneration. 

further details of the remuneration for the executive and 

supervisory boards, in particular the amount of remuner-

ation for the past financial year, can be found in the notes 

to the consolidated financial statements.

ii. grouP management

the IsarIa Wohnbau Group is managed by the executive 

board of IsarIa Wohnbau aG, which gears its manage-

ment, in particular, to indicators for sales and construc-

tion progress. several coordinated It systems provide 

up-to-date information, which controlling prepares by 

comparing target to actual figures, and provides this to 

the executive board on a regular basis. as a result, the 

executive board is always able to put countermeasures 

in place if there are any differences, and to analyse the 

reasons. 

iii. emPloyees 

on 31 December 2013 the IsarIa Wohnbau Group (taking 

the acquisition of one Group into account) had 50 employ-

ees (previous year: 31). of this total, 16 (previous year: 

16) were employed in management and administration, 

10 (previous year: 8) in project development (technology) 

and 8 (previous year: 7) in sales, marketing and the cus-

tomer centres in munich, one Group in hamburg had 16 

employees. In addition, the IsarIa Wohnbau Group also 

has freelance employees on a commission-bases, mostly 

in sales and customer support. IsarIa Wohnbau itself had 

an average of 29 employees (previous year: 28) in 2013.
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3.  financial Position and results of 
 oPerations 

2013 was a year of transition for IsarIa Wohnbau, and 

was also depressed by poor weather conditions at the 

start of the year. as a result of this and for other reasons 

key handovers had to be put back to 2014. this can be 

seen very clearly in the low revenues during the fiscal 

year. With regard to profitability, in 2013 ISARIA was not 

yet able to benefit from the increase in sales prices in 

the last two years, as these will only be recognised as 

revenues and thus as earnings in 2014.

In contrast, 2013 was a record-breaking year for sales. It 

was possible to record notarised sales of € 110.6 million 

(previous year: € 90.3 million), and as was the case in 

the previous year all of these were individual sales. the 

volume thus recorded is 22.5 % higher than the previous 

year’s figure and has passed the 100 million euro mark 

for the first time. Notarized sales less units already trans-

ferred resulted in an order book of € 113 million (previous 

year: € 53 million) on 31 December 2013. this order book 

secures future revenues, and a large proportion of this 

will already be in 2014.

i. results of oPerations

ISARIA Wohnbau’s income was characterized by sales 

revenues – which were low, but with high margins. the 

gross margin increased from 28 % in the previous year 

to a good 34 %. The lower absolute gross profit is mostly 

due to two aspects. It was possible to record operat-

ing cost savings totalling millions, even when consid-

ering the extraordinary factors detailed below, which 

depressed the other operating expenses at the end of 

2013. however, in particular, it was possible to increase 

the financial result by more than 30 % year-on-year. 

this is the clear result of the constant and sustained 

improvement in financing structure already started in 

2012. At the same time, EBIT in fiscal year 2013 is clearly 

lower as a result of the lower revenues compared to the 

previous year of k€ 2,970 (k€ 12,586). as was the case 

in the previous year, the capitalisation of deferred taxes 

on losses carried forward had a substantially positive 

effect on consolidated earnings, with profits of k€ 1,084 

(previous year: k€ 1,195) being realised.

the revenue volume (revenues from the sale of property 

units and from rentals) totaled k€ 37,705 in fiscal year 

2013 (previous year: k€ 79,247). as revenues are general-

ly only recognized upon completion (handover) in the ac-

counts, and not continuously in line with the percentage 

of completion, the amount of revenues disclosed every 

year depends on the respective completion dates of the 

individual construction properties and is thus subject to 

strong fluctuations.

revenues are primarily governed by the income from 

the residential units handed over from individual sales 

in the respective period. In 2013 these related to hand-

overs from remaining units in the “driem” project ( jK 

Wohnbau objekt Willy-brandt-allee Gmbh), which had 

not yet taken place as of 31 December 2012, and the 

hand-over of two final units from projects already com-

pleted in previous years. In addition, in the third and 

fourth quarters of 2013 several completed construction 

stages in the “nido” project (jK Wohnbau objekt Karls-

feld 1 Gmbh) were transferred. this does not take into 

account revenues of k€ 22,182 (previous year: k€ 43,749) 

from a joint venture carried at equity. the earnings from 

this joint venture are only included in consolidated earn-

ings via the financial result. 

total output includes revenues as well as the change in 

inventories of ongoing construction properties accord-

ing to construction progress and handovers in the cur-

rent reporting period. as a result of the lower number 

of hand-overs compared to 2012, the IsarIa Wohnbau 

Group recorded a slight increase in stocks in 2013 in 

the amount of k€ 4,694 (previous year: k€ reduction in 

stocks of k€ 17,741).

the cost of materials fell by k€ 10,235 from k€ 39,658 

in 2012 to k€ 29,424. This downturn reflects the lower 

number of projects in construction compared to the same 

period of the previous year.

other operating income in 2013 mostly includes com-

pensation payments from mr. josef l. Kastenberger for 

a sale below value of k€ 611 (previous year: k€ 0) which 

took place back in 2009, various items of non-cash in-

come in the amount of k€ 1,035 (previous year: k€ 0), 

income from the sale of investment property in the total 

amount of k€ 649 (previous year: k€ 0) and income from 

the reversal of provisions in the amount of k€ 349 (previ-

ous year: k€ 1,276). In the previous year, other operating 

income also included income from the sale of interests 

in previously fully consolidated special purpose entities 

(spes) in the amount of k€ 5,268.

personnel expenses increased slightly in the reporting 

period to k€ 3,005 compared to k€ 2,811 in the same 

period of the previous year, in line with the increase 

in staff numbers. as of 31 December 2013, the IsarIa 

Wohnbau Group had 31 employees (31 December 2012: 

29 employees).

other operating expenses fell by almost 23 % year-

on-year to k€ 10,086 (previous year: k€ 13,060). of 

this downturn, k€ 994 thousand is due to lower sales 

commission. the record-breaking figures for notarised 

sales in 2013 described above are not reflected in the 

corresponding expenses in the consolidated finan-

cial statements, as these were partially recorded by 

a spe which was only consolidated for the first time 

on 30 november 2013. expenses in this spe prior to 

the date of first-time consolidation are not included in 

the figures in the consolidated financial statements. 

In addition, mostly guarantee and follow-up costs for 

existing projects were lower than the previous year 

by k€ 1,142, and it was possible to reduce legal and 

consulting costs by k€ 1,114. the expenses from ex-

traordinary factors had a contradictory effect. these 

were in the form of individual write-downs for receiv-

ables from mr. josef l. Kastenberger in the amount of 

k€ 803. these were necessary in connection with the 

settlement with mr. Kastenberger reached at the end 

of 2013 with regard to the settlement and netting of 

all of IsarIa Wohnbau’s receivables from and liabili-

ties to him, as well as his exit from all of the spes in 

which he held a minority interest.

Results of opeRations 01/01/ - 
12/31/2013

k€

01/01/ - 
12/31/2012

k€

Change

k€

Revenues 37,705 79,247 -41,542

Total output 42,400 61,506 -19,106

Cost of materials -29,424 -39,658 10,234

Gross profit 12,976 21,847 -8,871

Personnel expenses -3,005 -2,811 -194

Other operating income 3,543 7,525 -3,982

Other operating expenses -10,086 -13,060 2,974

EBIT 2,970 12,586 -9,616

Financial result -10,402 -15,153 4,751

Income tax expenses/ gains 8,516 3,762 4,754

CompRehensive inCome 1,084 1,195 -111
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ebIt fell in both absolute and relative terms in the period 

under review to k€ 2,970 compared to 2012 (k€ 12,586). 

however, the results from the same period of the previ-

ous year include other operating income from the sale 

of units in two previously fully consolidated spes in the 

amount of k€ 5,268. If we eliminate this one-off income, 

the downturn is just k€ 4,348.

It was possible to substantially improve the financial 

result by almost one third (31 %) in 2013 to k€ -10,402 

compared to k€ -15,153 in the previous year. financial 

income was lower at k€ 829 in 2013 compared to the 

same period of the previous year (k€ 1,652). In contrast, 

financial expenses fell in 2013 to k€ 13,221 (previous 

year: k€ 21,345). Here, the improvements to the financing 

structure and the reduction in liabilities from the repay-

ment of borrowing from completed construction projects 

that were already recorded in 2013 paid off to their full 

extent. the result of at-equity investments amounted to 

k€ 1,990 during the reporting period (same period last 

year: k€ 4,539).

the result from income taxes in 2013 was positive once 

again, as was also the case in the previous year, as a 

result of the capitalisation of deferred taxes on losses 

carried forward at k€ 8,516 thousand (previous year: 

k€ 3,762).

In terms of the segments, earnings in the IsarIa Wohn-

bau Group were as follows:

revenues in the largest segment of “new Developments” 

fell due to the factors described above with successful 

hand-overs and revenue recognition fell by k€ 35,175 to 

k€ 32,912 (previous year: k€ 68,087). however, this low 

volume of revenues was still sufficient to cover operat-

ing costs. as a result, ebIt was still positive at k€ 673 

(previous year: k€ 9.158). It was possible to cut financing 

expenses substantially by k€ 5,900 or 38 % to k€ 9,569 

(previous year: k€ 15,469). considering the slight down-

turn in financial income and the results from companies 

carried at equity included in this segment in the amount 

of k€ 1,990 (previous year: k€ 4,539) this results in nega-

tive segment earnings before taxes of k€ -5,927 (previ-

ous year: k€ -507). the segment earnings after taxes are 

positive as a result the capitalisation of deferred taxes 

on losses carried forwards of k€ 2,119 (previous year: 

k€ 3,568).

revenues in the “revitalisation” segment totalled 

k€ 1,914 after k€ 9,493 in the previous year. revenues 

from the previous year mostly stemmed from the global 

sale of the apartment house in schillerstraße, which was 

recognised in revenues in 2011 and 2012. as a result of 

renewed cost increases in the apartment modernisation 

business, which has now been discontinued, the segment 

result is once again negative in 2013 at k€ -1,440 (previ-

ous year: k€ -1,284).

revenues in the “other” segment of k€ 2,879 (previous 

year: k€ 1,667) were due to income in connection with 

the rental of portfolio properties, and also to the rental 

of an apartment building managed for a financial inves-

tor in schillerstraße in the amount of k€ 2,138 (previous 

year: k€ 881). ebIt in this segment was positive in 2013 

in the amount of k€ 926 (previous year: k€ -308) due to 

one-off effects totalling k€ 1,782 (previous year: k€ 334) 

from the sale of investment properties, compensation for 

damages and income from the write-up of investment 

properties. As a result of the higher financial expenses for 

existing properties, the segment recorded very slightly 

negative earnings before taxes of k€ -2 (previous year: 

k€ -688). as a result of the positive income tax result, the 

segment result after taxes is positive at k€ 405 (previous 

year: k€ -1,065).

In view of the weather-related delays in construction 

progress in the first half of 2013, the course of business 

was satisfactory in 2013 and was in line with expecta-

tions, with the following exception: in 2013 it was not 

possible to realise the hand-over of major parts of the 

second app.artment building that was scheduled until 

recently for the end of 2013, with the resulting recogni-

tion of revenues and earnings, and this has resulted in a 

corresponding shift in revenues and earnings from 2013 

to 2014. nevertheless, as a result of the substantial im-

provements in the financing structure initiated in 2012 

and which came to full fruition in 2013 for the first time, 

the economic position of IsarIa Wohnbau has improved 

sustainably, and now forms a solid and healthy base for 

future success.

net-asset-value (nav)

net asset value, the international indicator used to as-

sess real estate companies, and which is calculated ac-

cording to epra standards, was calculated for IsarIa 

Wohnbau for the first time as of 31 December 2013. The 

calculation of epra nav for IsarIa Wohnbau includes 

equity before non-controlling interests according to the 

balance sheet, adjusted for deferred taxes and divided 

by the number of shares. In the case of a project de-

veloper such as IsarIa Wohnbau, the central assets, 

the inventories under construction held for sale are, 

however, carried at cost. as a result, in order to ensure 

comparability with property holders, the company thus 

identified the fair value of these inventories itself us-

ing standard market residual value calculations, and this 

was confirmed by an external expert.

 
ePra nav – isaria woHnbau  
grouP

12/31/2013

k€

equity before non-controlling interests 13,606

hidden reserves of invetories * 77,425

correction for deferred taxes

Deferred tax assets -14,112

Deferred tax liabilities -1,684

ePra nav 75,236 

number of shares (after execution of 
share capital increase)

23,764

nav Per sHare 3.17 

* of these hidden reserves k€ 28,072 is due to companies in 
which IsarIa Wohnbau has already secured a majority inte-
rest by way of a notarised agreement, however for which 
execution is still subject to conditions precedent, however 
IsarIa Wohnbau believes that these conditions will be ful-
filled during the course of 2014.
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ii. net assets

 

Net assets are primarily characterised by the first-time 

consolidation of one Group as of 31 December 2013. as 

a result of this inclusion as of the end of December 2013, 

the assets and liabilities but not the income and expenses 

from One Group are included in the consolidated financial 

statements as of 31 December 2013.

total assets increased to k€ 226,939 on 31 December 2013 

compared to k€ 162,710 on 31 December 2012. of this to-

tal, k€ 21,845 is due to the first time inclusion of One Group 

in ISARIA Wohnbau’s consolidated financial statements.

non-current assets increased by k€ 18,710 or 77 % to 

k€ 41,817 on 31 December 2013 compared to 31 De-

cember 2012 (k€ 23,647). a major driver in this regard 

was the goodwill of k€ 4,936 and the intangible assets 

acquired at a fee in the amount of k€ 4,344, each from 

the first-time consolidation of one Group. In addition, 

the deferred tax assets carried on losses carried for-

ward increased by k€ 9,268.

current assets increased by 33 % to k€ 185,123 as of 

31 December 2013 compared to 31 December 2012 

(k€ 139,062). the properties designated for sale in-

creased by k€ 42,224. of this total, k€ 36,375 is due to 

living bogenhausen Gmbh, which was consolidated for 

the first time as of 29 November 2013. The remaining in-

crease corresponds to the ongoing construction progress 

for the other construction projects. In addition, cash in-

creased by k€ 7,584 from k€ 24,719 on 31 December 2012 

to k€ 32,303 on the balance sheet date. of this increase, 

k€ 7,384 is due to One Group. Other receivables and finan-

cial assets fell by k€ 4,780 from k€ 26,914 to k€ 22,134 on 

the balance sheet date. here, the receivables from par-

ticipating interests in the amount of k€ 5,722 carried in 

the previous year no longer applied in 2013 as a result of 

the full consolidation of living bogenhausen Gmbh, and 

in addition the receivables from mr. Kastenberger and the 

companies allocable to him fell by k€ 4,783 as a result of 

netting with the purchase prices to acquire the minority 

interests he had held to date. As a result of the first time 

inclusion of One Group in the consolidated financial state-

ments for 2013, other receivables increased by k€ 3,889.

iii. financial Position

In spite of the fact that consolidated earnings after taxes 

were low at k€ 1,084, it was possible to significantly im-

prove equity three-fold in 2013 by k€ 10,597 to k€ 13,606 

on the reporting date compared to 31 December 2012 

(k€ 3,009). the capital increase for the acquisition of one 

Group in the amount of k€ 8,700 contributed here. In ad-

dition, reserves and thus equity increased, mostly from 

the waiver of receivables described above under I.1. and 

an addition to reserves from a corporate acquisition in 

the total amount of k€ 3,737. the acquisition costs net-

ted directly with equity as part of the acquisition of non-

controlling interests had a contradictory impact in the 

amount of k€ 2,855. the equity ratio is now 6.0 % com-

pared to 1.8 % on 31 December 2012.

non-current liabilities increased by k€ 38,886 to k€ 66,697 

on 31 December 2013 compared to k€ 27,811 on 31 De-

cember 2012. this increase is mostly due to the compen-

sation liabilities to investors in the proreal Deutschland 

funds in the amount of k€ 47,712 carried as a result of 

the first-time inclusion of One Group in the consolidated 

financial statements as of 31 December 2013. In addition, 

non-current liabilities to banks increased as a result of the 

new issue of a loan in October 2013 to finance a construc-

tion project in the amount of k€ 6,860. the non-current 

portion of other compensation liabilities to shareholders 

in partnerships had a contradictory effect. a downturn 

of k€ 7,216 was due to the exit of non-controlling share-

holders from the spes held as partnerships, the remaining 

k€ 9,346 was due to a change in maturities. 

current liabilities increased by k€ 14,747 to k€ 146,636 

on 31 December 2013 compared to k€ 131,889 on 31 De-

cember 2012. this increase was due to an increase in li-

abilities from advance payments of k€ 31,530. these are 

due to the construction progress in the projects and pur-

chase price instalments being called up, and k€ 21,502 

of this total is due to living bogenhausen Gmbh, which 

was consolidated for the first time as of 29 November 

2013. In addition, trade payables also increased, mostly 

due to correspondingly higher liabilities or provisions for 

construction costs not yet invoiced of k€ 5,013. the com-

pensation liabilities to shareholders in partnership devel-

oped in the opposite direction as a result of repayments 

totalling k€ 14,226. In addition, current financial debt to 

banks also fell as a result of repayments by k€ 8,340.

cash in the IsarIa Wohnbau Group increased compared to 

31 December 2012 (k€ 24,719) by k€ 7,584 and totalled 

k€ 32,303 on the balance sheet date. the Group can freely 

dispose of these funds in the amount of k€ 12,393 on 31 

December 2012 (previous year: k€ 11,762).

the increase in cash freely disposable is composed of 

the cash flow from operating activities in the amount 

of k€ 679 (previous year: k€ 40,374), the cash flow from 

investing activities in the amount of k€ 2,861 (previous 

year: k€ 2,600) and the cash flow from financing activities 

in the amount of k€ -2,910 (previous year: k€ -48,671).

 

The cash flow from operating activities totalled k€ 679 in 

the year under review after k€ 40,374 in the previous year 

12/31/2013

k€

12/31/2012

k€

Change

k€

Cash 12,393 11,762 631

01/01/ –
12/31/2013

k€

01/01/ –
12/31/2012

k€

Change

k€

Cash flow from

operating activities 679 40,374 -39,695

investing activities 2,861 2,600 261

financing activities -2,910 -48,671 45,761

Net assets 12/31/2013

k€

12/31/2012

k€

ChaNge

k€

Non-current assets 41,817 23,647 18,170

Current assets 185,123 139,062 46,061

Equity 13,606 3,009 10,597

Non-current liabilities 66,697 27,811 38,886

Current liabilities 146,636 131,889 14,747

Balance sheet total 226,939 162,710 64,229
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and is mostly due to the negative consolidated earnings 

before income taxes in the amount of k€ 7,433 plus the fi-

nancial result (k€ 10,402), the increase in properties desig-

nated for sale by k€ 3,103, the reversal of write-downs and 

other non-cash income in the total amount of k€ 2,508, 

the downturn in receivables from the sale of properties 

and other receivables and financial assets of k€ 3,337, an 

increase in non-interest bearing liabilities and provisions 

of k€ 901 and from income taxes paid in the amount of 

k€ 726. The change in cash flow from operating activities 

compared to the prior year results largely from a purchase 

price for a global sale received in h1 2012.

The cash flow from investing activities in the amount 

of k€ 2,861 in 2013 (previous year: k€ 2,600) is mostly 

due to the cash received as part of business combina-

tions after deduction of the purchase price in the amount 

of k€ 2,861, from purchase price payments for non-con-

trolling interests acquired in the amount of k€ 2,855 and 

from purchase prices received for the sale of investment 

properties in the amount of k€ 1,155.

The cash flow from financing activities totaled k€ -2,910 

in 2013 after k€ -48,671 in the previous year. the repay-

ment of financial liabilities in the amount of k€ 33,240 

and interest payments in the amount of k€ 9,009 ex-

ceeded the income from drawing down financial liabili-

ties for the current construction activities in the amount 

of k€ 39,338. The change in cash flow from financing ac-

tivities compared to the prior year period results largely 

from the repayment of a bank loan in h1 2012 after the 

purchase price for the global sale already mentioned 

was received.

iv.  overall evaluation of isaria woHnbau’s fi-

nancial Position and results of oPerations

as a result of various structural activities in 2013 (acquisi-

tion and contribution of one Group as an issuing company 

to secure the financing, acquisition of non-controlling 

interests in spes, sustainable reductions in receivables 

from mr. Kastenberger), it was possible to further and 

sustainably improve the ISARIA Wohnbau group’s finan-

cial position and profitability in 2013. The Executive Board 

believes that the group’s continued existence has been 

fundamentally secured, and is confident that the im-

provement in profitability will gain pace in 2014.

v.  fundamentals and objectives of financial 

management of isaria woHnbau

The ISARIA Wohnbau Group finances real estate projects 

partially using equity and partially using borrowing. In 

the case of the latter besides bank loans, currently mostly 

mezzanine financing instruments, and also increasingly 

participating interests by one Group are used for project 

development. as a rule the real estate projects are held 

by individual spes. the spes mostly receive the funds re-

quired directly from lenders or, alternatively, from the 

parent company in the form of shareholder loans.

The financial management of the ISARIA Wohnbau Group 

spans capital structure management, cash and liquidity 

management as well as the management of interest rate 

and credit default risks. the aim is to secure the group’s 

financing strength and thus the company’s financial in-

dependence by securing liquidity. In addition, the capital 

costs are to be optimized via an adequate capital struc-

ture. In so doing, risks are mostly to be avoided. In this 

regard, liquidity forecasts are prepared on a regular basis. 

these are constantly reviewed for differences between 

target/actual figures, in order to be able to put corre-

sponding activities in place in the event of various sce-

narios occurring. 

4. oPPortunity and risk rePort

i. risk management system

In addition to the opportunities that present themselves 

from the IsarIa Wohnbau Group’s business activities, 

risks may also result that endanger the company’s con-

tinued existence. early recognition of risks and active risk 

management aim to reduce these dangers. 

A central risk management system supports the organiza-

tional units in identifying, recording in a structured man-

ner, and managing possible risks. It spans all of the or-

ganizational processes at the various levels and all types 

of risk. business forecasting and controlling processes are 

a major component. All organizational units perform risk 

identification and evaluation tasks. Jour fixe meetings, 

controlling discussions, department meetings, individual 

discussions and enquiries are also used regularly to ascer-

tain risks. risks with similar content are grouped together 

to form risk types, for example risks in the regulatory en-

vironment, financial risks, technical risks, or project risks. 

These are then prepared by the risk officer, who evaluates 

these and communicates them regularly to the responsi-

ble decision-maker, who controls the risks. 

this system gives the management an up-to-date over-

view of all of the group’s development, the individual 

projects and the relevant data at any time. the system 

was also constantly further developed and updated in the 

past fiscal year. In this regard, the Company aims to en-

sure that the reasons for any differences can be checked 

in good time and activities put in place by constantly 

comparing the forecast with actual figures.

for example, individual indicators that are used include 

the ratio of property to sales levels, notarized sales or 

the percentage of completion. this allows the IsarIa 

Wohnbau Group to ensure that it always have a picture 

of the actual circumstances at all times, and allows er-

rors in the single-entity and consolidated financial state-

ments to be avoided. 

ii.  key cHaracteristics of tHe internal control 

system of relevance for accounting 

IsarIa Wohnbau aG’ internal control system (Ics) of rel-

evance for accounting serves to minimize risks as part of 

the financial reporting and to avoid incorrect presentation 

in the annual and interim reports that could have a mate-

rial influence on decisions taken by the addressees for the 

information. the Ics aims to identify possible sources of 

error and to limit the risks in the IsarIa Wohnbau Group’s 

reporting. the structure of the accounting-based Ics is 

closely linked to the internal processes for accounting 

and financial reporting and the existing structures to con-

trol the business and central areas. this ensures that the 

quarterly, annual and consolidated financial statements 

in line with statutory requirements are prepared with suf-

ficient security.

Accounting in the ISARIA Wohnbau Group is organized 

centrally. the financial statements of all of the major 

group companies are prepared by in-house employees 

in the group’s headquarters in munich. In the event 

that parts of accounting, such as payroll accounting are 

outsourced to external service providers, IsarIa Wohn-

bau has the final responsibility for financial accounting. 

the ongoing accounting and the financial statements 

for one Group companies including the sub-group con-

solidated financial statements for one Group were pre-

pared by an external firm of auditors. the sub-group 

consolidated financial statements for one Group were 

audited independently. one Group’s accounting will be 

taken over by the group’s parent company in munich 

from 1 january 2014.

In the first step, all of the accounting transactions are al-

located to the respective projects. The first recognition 

of project-related items and general items is performed 

using the controlling software “allbudget”. this informa-

tion is then passed on to the responsible departments 

and project managers, and is subject to a professional 

and objective review. In so doing, attention is paid to 

ensure that intra-group regulations, deadlines and secu-

rity are met. If this review is positively confirmed, this 

is released and recorded in a central accounting system 

(Datev software). 
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In order to prepare the accrued and correct (consolidated) 

financial statements according to national and interna-

tional accounting standards, the single-entity financial 

statements of the subsidiaries are supplemented by addi-

tional information and summarized to form standardized 

reports. the high complexity and frequency are charac-

teristic of the accounting process (quarterly, six-month 

and annual financial statements). 

In detail, the accounting process for the 2012 annual and 

consolidated financial statements was as follows: The 

annual financial statements prepared according to the 

German commercial code were prepared internally by 

the accounting department of IsarIa Wohnbau aG using 

Datev software. calculations for taxes are performed by a 

firm of tax consultants. The fair values of our investment 

properties are identified by an external, independent sur-

veyor. As part of the audit of the consolidated financial 

statements, the financial statements of the subsidiaries 

included were checked to ensure that these are correct. 

The annual financial statements of ISARIA Wohnbau AG 

and its subsidiaries, for which there is a statutory audit-

ing requirement, were subject to an independent audit. 

The annual financial statements prepared according to 

the German commercial code form the basis for the in-

formation included in the database-based consolidation 

system “lucanet”. all of the adjustment bookings and 

consolidation activities for preparation of the Ifrs con-

solidated financial statements are mapped in this system. 

The IFRS consolidated financial statements are also au-

dited by the auditor for the financial statements. The final 

stage is the release of the financials by ISARIA Wohnbau 

aG’s executive board and their approval and adoption by 

the supervisory board.

iii. relevant oPPortunities and risks

General economIc opportunItIes anD rIsKs

the market for residential real estate is subject to a wide 

variety of fluctuations and depends on the general eco-

nomic environment, in particular the economy and the 

estimates of future economic growth and the associated 

demand for real estate. If major discrepancies emerge 

between the anticipated figures and the actual demand 

caused by the economy, this could lead to associated 

risks. the most major risks include sales risks and the 

associated income risks. however, general economic de-

velopments in fiscal year 2013 and the still prevailing in-

security from the financial and euro crisis led to exactly 

the opposite effect in 2013: real estate, in munich in par-

ticular, is regarded as being a safe harbor in turbulent 

period, and is currently experiencing a corresponding in-

crease in demand. 

In terms of demand for real estate, the positive trend 

remained unchecked. both private and also institutional 

demand did not slow in pace in 2013. as a result, the 

overall economic risk has not changed substantially year-

on-year for the IsarIa Wohnbau Group, as the Group has 

constantly broad base of purchaser groups.

however, the excellent economy for residential construc-

tion means that there are offer bottlenecks for individual 

sections of work and also at qualified prime contrac-

tors. highly demanded companies are increasingly able 

to increase their prices, and to select the customers to 

whom they will even make an offer. In this regard, IsarIa 

Wohnbau has long-standing, well-established business 

relationships and is now known as being a reliable client. 

however, the turbulence in the past and a comparatively 

weak level of equity still raise concerns for new contrac-

tors, which we still have to overcome.

the development of overall economic risks is, on the whole, 

depending from a wide variety of constantly changing fac-

tors which mutually influence each other. The group can-

not impact economic risks and the follow-on effects of the 

international crisis on the financial markets, but can only 

anticipate the effects and try to control these. 

polItIcal rIsKs anD opportunItIes

from the start of the 1990s, the German residential real 

estate market has relaxed to a great extent over the past 

20 years, which was why it was not focused on by politi-

cians. however, the legal and tax situation for real estate 

investors in Germany deteriorated on several occasions 

during this period. major changes were made in many 

areas (depreciation periods, deadlines for sales transac-

tions, inheritance tax, land tax). 

2012 saw the start of greater political discussions on the 

scarcity of residential accommodation in urban conurba-

tions such as munich. various legal initiatives have been 

discussed, and for the first time these became a central 

issue again during the bundestag elections and the sub-

sequent coalition negotiations in 2013. for example, a 

so-called “brake on rent prices” is to be expected for new 

rentals. this is expected to only affect the company to 

the extent that capital investors will have difficulties in 

implementing rent increases when subsequently letting a 

newly constructed property. however, on the whole there 

is an increased risk that there will be increased regulation 

of free residential construction and of rent as a result of 

various political activities and on all levels of politics. this 

may also be positive, for example with new programs to 

subsidise home ownership, and the attractive construc-

tion of welfare housing for investors. 

on the whole, we can see increased insecurity concern-

ing the possible consequences of political activities in 

particular in munich, one of the most tense, and most 

expensive markets for residential properties in Germany.

In general, higher statutory requirements for energy effi-

ciency could also push construction costs up substantially. 

The statutory energy efficiency requirements in the new 

enev 2014 include a moderate increase in requirements 

for new properties, and as a rule these are also taken into 

account in calculations. the Group does not believe that 

it is exposed to any particular risk in this regard as these 

are statutory provisions that apply equally to all market 

participants. 

DIversIfIcatIon anD acquIsItIon rIsK

the IsarIa Wohnbau Group focuses its business activities 

on the greater munich region. as a result, it depends to 

a great extent on local market developments. residential 

real estate prices in munich are already the highest in 

the whole of Germany. In spite of the favourable condi-

tions, this fact could restrict the further development of 

the real estate market in the city in future. If demand for 

residential real estate develops weakly, it could be neces-

sary to expand business activities to include other loca-

tions. the associated barriers to market entry and market 

entry costs could have a sustainable impact on the IsarIa 

Wohnbau Group’s profitability, but they could open up op-

portunities as well.

The market for project developers is characterized by in-

tense competition and a large number of well-established 

medium-sized and large companies, which primarily 

operate in specific regions, as is the case for the ISARIA 

Wohnbau Group. In addition the IsarIa Wohnbau Group is 

increasingly faced by competitors which operate through-

out Germany or internationally, and which are increas-

ingly aiming to win residential construction projects in the 

greater munich region. In order to combat this risk, the 

Group already formed its Revitalization division in 2008. 

as a result, not only construction of new residential prop-

erties, but also the renovation and conversion of existing 

properties, in particular former office properties can be 

used as a basis. In view of the unchanged tight situation on 

the market for land, in future the IsarIa Wohnbau Group 

will have to constantly use its competence in identifying 

suitable land and real estate in the greater munich region, 
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developing these and then acquiring these plots of land 

at suitable conditions. at present we must ascertain that 

competitors make speculative purchases, i.e. they calcu-

late using selling prices that are higher than the current 

market prices, and thus they expect a continuation of the 

price growth of the past three years. If this does not occur, 

there could be substantial risks for the entire market.

fInancIal rIsKs

The ISARIA Wohnbau Group is exposed to various finan-

cial risks as a result of its business activities. these also 

include, in particular, the risk of changes to liquidity or 

interest rates as well as the risk of business partners de-

faulting on payments. some contracts include a variable 

interest rate, which is adjusted regularly to current in-

terest rate developments. risks from changes to interest 

rates result from fluctuations in interest rates caused by 

the market. an increase in the general level of interest 

rates could increase the Group’s financing costs in future 

or make it more difficult to obtain financing in future. In 

addition, a higher level of interest rates could also result 

in a deterioration in demand for residential real estate 

and thus the possibilities to sell this, as purchasers gener-

ally finance at least part of the purchase price using bor-

rowing, and if financing costs are higher they could put 

off purchasing a property, elect to buy a less expensive 

property, or even not buy a property at all and use an 

alternative investment. as a result, an increase in inter-

est rates could thus have a negative impact on the IsarIa 

Wohnbau Group’s financial position and results of opera-

tions. The Group does not use derivative financial instru-

ments, for example to hedge against interest rate risks. 

the Group combats the risk of payment defaults with 

corresponding management of open items and by form-

ing valuation allowances. these risks are recorded and 

reported by corresponding reporting units in the IsarIa 

Wohnbau Group. the company’s debtors are mostly a 

large number of private apartment buyers, who verify 

their financing when making the purchase. 

A further financial risk for the ISARIA Wohnbau Group is 

the fact that residential real estate project development 

is capital intensive. to date it has used a wide variety 

of forms of financing. Part of the capital required for 

developing the respective projects is provided by loans 

from banks. In addition and to a greater extent, what 

are in some cases complex financing agreements, have 

been concluded with other lenders, in order to be able 

to prove the requisite equity to banks or to be able to 

entirely finance the projects in this manner for tempo-

rary periods. In this connection, so-called mezzanine 

capital is provided, for example as subordinate loans, 

typical or atypical silent partnerships or based on profit-

participation rights. In addition, the group has issued 

promissory note bonds. remuneration takes the form 

of interest payments or the disbursement of fixed, non-

repayable advance profits from the respective projects. 

As a result of the risk profile, remuneration for these 

funds is higher than interest on loans with first-ranking 

collateral for real estate construction.

In industry-specific terms, property developer financing is 

generally only granted with short terms of a few months, 

although the terms of the project developments and con-

struction activities are substantially longer. as a result of 

this risk-averse behavior by lenders, financing generally 

has to be prolonged during an activity. lenders use fac-

tors such as industry experience by the project developer 

and trust in the projects under development when mak-

ing their decisions to extend this financing. The general 

situation on the market and the forecast development 

continue to play a role in prolonging the financing. 

In 2014 major loans for the IsarIa Wohnbau Group will 

again have to be prolonged, and these are also pertinent 

with regard to liquidity. the current liquidity forecast in-

cludes bonds of around € 44 million having to be pro-

longed. In addition, a bank loan of around € 8 million has 

to be prolonged in september 2014, as has already been 

the case on several occasions in the past. In addition, it 

is still planned to fully repay jK fonds I by the middle of 

2014 for a total amount of almost € 11 million and to 

repay/reschedule the expensive mezzanine financing of 

up to € 44 million.

The key liquidity outflows are thus the ongoing liabili-

ties of ISARIA Wohnbau AG, the financing costs and the 

planned repayment of the mezzanine and fund capital. 

Liquidity inflows are expected in particular from partic-

ipations by one Group, a new corporate bond and the 

pending handovers from project companies.

It was possible to repay or extend all of the bonds and 

loans due in fiscal year 2013. 

the acquisition of one Group at the end of the year means 

a significant reduction in financial risks in many respects 

for ISARIA Wohnbau. Various financial instruments, which 

are all complex, will be replaced by a uniform structure. 

Inflows are now reliable and can be calculated. The costs 

are, in some cases, significantly lower than the previous 

exposure.

As it has been possible to successfully extend financing 

in the past and as the group’s own financing platform is 

available, the company believes that it will be possible 

to finance the pending extensions and project develop-

ments and that general liquidity is secure. no risks clas-

sified as endangering the company’s continued existence 

have emerged, and show that risk management is intact. 

balance-sheet rIsKs

on the balance sheet date, the consolidated balance sheet 

include deferred tax assets on losses carried forwards in 

the amount of k€ 14,112 (previous year: k€ 4,843) and 

intangible assets including goodwill from the first-time 

consolidation of one Group totalling k€ 9,704 (previous 

year: k€ 95). the impairment of these items mostly de-

pends on their being sufficient taxable income available 

in future, or that there is a sufficient level of profits at One 

Group. the above forecasts justify the carrying amounts 

on the balance sheet date, however by their very nature 

they are based on future estimates that include uncer-

tainties. any (even partial) non-occurrence of the antici-

pated results could result in material write-downs or im-

pairment expenses on the balance sheet in future.

partIcIpatIon rIsKs

the individual construction projects are executed by spe-

cial purpose entities in order to minimize risks. This re-

sults in a participation risk for companies for which no 

control is exercised. central controlling for participating 

interests monitors the development of the participating 

interests and thus recognizes risks in good time. With 

the exception of rental management, all of the staff are 

employed by IsarIa Wohnbau aG, and they control the 

participating interests from here.

project rIsKs anD project opportunItIes

the IsarIa Wohnbau Group is a traditional project devel-

oper for residential properties and as a rule it does not 

keep its properties on its books permanently, but rather 

it sells the residential units to customers, often during 

the construction phase. as a result, the Group relies on 

constantly receiving new planning permission required 

for its projects. If this permission under public law is not 

granted, not granted on time, or only subject to material 

conditions or incidental provisions, this can preclude the 

planned construction and development, negatively im-

pact this, or delay it, reduce the value of the land, push 

up the construction costs, and have a material impact on 

marketing. this risk is combatted via many years’ experi-

ence in project planning. 

In real estate project business, construction damage 

or building defects could result in damage compensa-

tion claims from buyers. In this case, the IsarIa Wohn-

bau Group bears the risk of default if it, in turn, has no 

recourse. the IsarIa Wohnbau Group combats this risk 

by demanding and receiving warranty guarantees from 
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the prime contractors it engages. In addition, as a rule 

the IsarIa Wohnbau Group bears the risk of claims be-

ing made against it as a result of contaminated sites or 

other ground risks, and also due to hazardous materials 

in buildings.

Business activities are subject to fluctuations, which are 

mostly characterized by the respective construction sta-

tus for the respective project. the IsarIa Wohnbau Group 

minimizes this risk in that it has projects with various con-

struction statuses in its portfolio. 

sales of residential units that are not in line with fore-

casts, as well as disruptions to construction progress, in 

particular preparatory and construction activities that 

take longer than planned, and other erroneous devel-

opments when executing projects could lead to signifi-

cantly higher costs. In order to combat these risks, large 

numbers of the units are sold during the planning phase 

before construction work starts, or in an early stage of 

construction. It is possible to take this approach as there 

is currently excess demand in munich for affordable, top 

quality newly built units, and the company can accord-

ingly offer attractive products. 

the project development business is linked to invest-

ments, which can generally be financed to a major extent 

using borrowing. If the banks should heighten their credit 

conditions in future, or if the level of interest should in-

crease significantly, this would have a negative impact 

on business activities. In addition, the conditions on the 

capital market are a particular challenge for project de-

velopment activities. The future project financing condi-

tions will have a decisive impact on if and when new 

projects can be realised. 

In fiscal year 2011, the Revitalization division was ex-

panded once again by acquiring office buildings, which 

are suitable for conversion into residential accommoda-

tion. this has reduced dependency on new construction. 

The Group believes that this diversification of its business 

model offers a competitive advantage. as a result, it will 

continue to grow the Revitalization division in future, in 

particular with the app.artments brand.

low returns in other forms of investment offer oppor-

tunities for real estate as an interesting investment op-

portunity. After the financial crisis, major investors are 

increasingly showing that they need secure investments. 

In the case of residential construction projects, gross ini-

tial returns of approx. 4 % can be realized in the greater 

munich region, which is an attractive return for investors 

in view of the low interest rates combined with the sus-

tained opportunities for increases in value for the apart-

ments. However, the prices that can be realized in indi-

vidual sales and the pace of sales are so attractive that 

global purchasers are hardly competitive. the company 

did not sell any properties globally to an investor in 2012 

and 2013.

It rIsKs

the key It components for forecasting and accounting 

and the real estate management of properties are run on 

the Group’s own It system. this system is serviced by a 

competent service provider. the availability of data and 

protection against unauthorized access is ensured by us-

ing state-of-the-art hardware and software technology. 

all of the relevant data is backed up on a regular basis. 

hr rIsKs

Competition for highly qualified specialists and execu-

tives continues to be high. the success of the IsarIa 

Wohnbau Group depends, to a substantial extent, on the 

extent to which the Group succeeds in hiring correspond-

ing employees, integrating them and ensuring their long-

term loyalty. employees’ knowledge and abilities are also 

key factors influencing the positive growth of the ISARIA 

Wohnbau Group. Hiring qualified employees and ensuring 

their long-term loyalty to the Group will also be of cen-

tral importance in future. as a result, particular attention 

is paid to succession planning, employee motivation and 

fluctuation. Als kapitalmarktorientiertes Unternehmen ist 

IsarIa Wohnbau in einem intransparentem Wettbewerb-

sumfeld für qualifizierte Mitarbeiter besonders attraktiv. 

leGal anD tax rIsKs

Business activities depend, to a great extent, on specific 

legal conditions. these include, in particular, the regu-

lations in the makler- und bauträgerverordnung (real 

estate agent and commercial construction Industry ordi-

nance). changes to national or european law, or changes 

to court rulings could have a negative impact on business 

activities. as a result, a change to the maturity regula-

tions in the makler- und bauträgerverordnung could have 

a negative impact on business operations. this regula-

tion stipulates that the purchase price is due for payment 

successively from the acquiring party before completion 

and handover, in line with construction progress, against 

registration of a priority means of conveyance securing 

the acquisition entitlement. any warranty claims by the 

purchaser are to be compensated by the IsarIa Wohnbau 

Group. In order to combat this risk, the IsarIa Wohnbau 

Group receives warranty guarantees from banks from its 

prime contractors. In addition, provisions are formed on 

the balance sheet date for anticipated litigation in con-

nection with existing properties. these relate, in particu-

lar, to provisions for warranties in the amount of around 

€ 2.4 million (previous year: around € 2.3 million) and 

additional provisions for litigation in connection with pos-

sible follow-on costs in the amount of around € 1.5 mil-

lion (previous year: around € 2.0 million).

By way of a final ruling dated 11 October 2013, the previ-

ous CEO Josef Kastenberger, who was in office through 

to the end of 2011, was sentenced to a prison sentence 

of three and a half years by munich I regional court for 

breaching trust and fraud. he admitted to having misap-

propriated funds from spes of k€ 160 for his own pur-

poses and to having defrauded a private creditor. the 

crimes were committed in 2007 and 2008. at that time, 

mr. Kastenberger was the sole shareholder of jK Wohn-

bau Gmbh (now IsarIa Wohnbau aG). proceedings with 

regard to other accusations from the period prior to the 

Ipo in november 2010 were provisionally discontinued 

upon application by the public prosecutors according to 

section 154 (2) of the stpo in view of the crimes already 

judged. The company has engaged a law firm to pursue 

all of the accusations under civil law against mr. Kasten-

berger and the third parties involved. In the company’s 

view, this issue results only in risks for the costs of legal 

action, however it also bears substantial opportunities for 

damage compensation payments, however these will not 

have a material impact on future earnings.

material tax risks could result from ongoing or future ex-

ternal tax audits. at present, out-of-court appeal proceed-

ings are underway in view of audit findings for previous 

years, with a tax risk of around € 1.3 million (previous 

year: around € 1.3 million) for which no provisions has 

been formed, as it is not expected that these will be 

used. at the same time, the outcome of these proceed-

ings is uncertain.

events In connectIon WIth the annual anD 

 consolIDateD fInancIal statements for 2009 anD 

the Ipo In 2010

The audit firm Linner, in cooperation with Luther Re-

chtsanwaltsgesellschaft mbh presented an expert opin-

ion in may 2013 with regard to a possible violation of 

obligations by consultants and executive bodies of jK 

Wohnbau Gmbh (now IsarIa Wohnbau aG) in preparing 

the annual financial statements for JK Wohnbau GmbH 

and the consolidated financial statements for the JK 

Wohnbau Group as of 31 December 2009.

In so doing, the responsibilities were investigated with 

regard to the 21 issues that caused the adjustments to 

prior-year figures made in the consolidated financial 

statements as of 31 December 2010 stated in the notes to 

these statements according to Ias 8. the company’s an-
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nual and consolidated financial statements for fiscal year 

2009 were included in the securities issuing prospectus 

for the Ipo on 26 october 2010 as part of the historical 

financial statements. 

Based on the findings in this expert opinion, ISARIA Wohn-

bau aG sued aGp Gmbh Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft 

in 2013 for the refund of the damage which has already 

occurred and which may still occur. this company was, 

at that time, the auditor for fiscal year 2009. The former 

ceo josef l. Kastenberger and the cfo johann haberstock, 

who was in office until the start of fiscal year 2011, were 

called to these judicial proceedings. In order to preserve 

its own legal position, the company can thus not report 

here in detail on the findings in the expert opinion. 

the expert opinion was not able to prove that former 

members of the company’s executive bodies wilfully made 

incorrect statements in the financial statements or to the 

auditor at that time. there was also no judgement due to 

investment fraud in the penal proceedings against mr. jo-

sef l. Kastenberger in the ruling issued on 11 october 2013. 

the corresponding claims were provisionally shelved upon 

application by the public prosecutors. however, it cannot 

be entirely ruled out that investigations will still be made 

against other parties involved in the preparation and audit 

of the 2009 financial statements and the IPO due to invest-

ment fraud. however, on the whole the company is con-

fident that the shareholders will only be able to take ac-

tion as a result of possible errors in the securities offering 

prospectus due to the special standards in sections 44 to 

47 of the Börsengesetz. According to these sections, claims 

from prospectus liability are limited to one year from the 

date on which the acquiring party became aware of the 

incorrect or incomplete nature of the information in the 

prospectus, however at the latest three years from pub-

lication of the prospectus. as a result, prospectus liability 

claims were thus limited to october 2013. 

by that date, only one shareholder, who is also subject to 

a reporting requirement due to the amount of the interest 

held, took action against the company and other parties 

involved in the Ipo that could have led to a suspension 

of the statute of limitations for the company. the result-

ing theoretical risk, and in the event that this dispute 

is contested, the financial risk even after several years, 

is in the mid-single digit million euros range based on 

the current share price. as a result, even if we assume 

the greatest possible damage from the Ipo, this will no 

longer endanger the company’s continued existence. In 

practical terms, the company is convinced that the risk is 

reduced to practically zero as a result of opportunities for 

recourse against other participants and the ongoing set-

tlement negotiations. 

other rIsKs

In addition to the risks already described, there are gen-

eral factors which are difficult to predict or which cannot 

be predicted at all, and which are thus practically impos-

sible to influence. These risks include unforeseen political 

changes, civic unrest, major natural catastrophes or ter-

rorist attacks. such developments could have a direct and 

indirect impact on the IsarIa Wohnbau Group’s business 

in future.

iv. overall assessment

In the IsarIa Wohnbau group’s view, at present, based on 

the assumptions made, no risks are visible which could 

endanger the company’s continued existence, neither 

from past risks, nor from currently foreseeable develop-

ments. If it is possible to implement the financing activi-

ties presented under financial risks, the ISARIA Wohnbau 

Group currently and in future will also be able to continue 

to grow profitably on the market for residential real es-

tate in Munich, and to fulfill the payment obligations due.

5.  information according to section 315 
(4) of tHe Hgb

composItIon of subscrIbeD capItal 

on 31 December 2013 IsarIa Wohnbau aG’s share capi-

tal totalled k€ 20,764 and comprised 20,764,000 no-par 

value shares. each share grants the holder one vote at the 

General meeting.

restrIctIons WhIch relate to the votInG rIGhts or 

transfer of shares

an agreement was reached with josef l. Kastenberg-

er in financial year 2011. According to this agreement, 

3,310,000 shares he holds directly and indirectly in IsarIa 

Wohnbau aG have been pledged to secure receivables in 

favour of the group.

the executive board is not aware of the existence of ad-

ditional restrictions within the meaning of section 289 (4) 

no. 2 of the hGb due to agreements between the com-

pany and shareholders or due to agreements between 

shareholders with regard to voting rights or the transfer 

of shares of the company. 

partIcIpatInG Interests exceeDInG 10 % of votInG 

rIGhts

as far as the company was aware, on 31 December 2013 

there were participating interests in the capital of IsarIa 

Wohnbau aG in excess of 10 % of voting rights held by 

josef l. Kastenberger (around 13.2 %), jK holding Gmbh 

(around 12.7 %, sole shareholder is josef l. Kastenberger) 

and helvetic private Investments aG (around 10.9 %). 

there are no shares with extraordinary rights that grant 

the holders controlling powers. In addition, there is no 

type of control of voting rights by shareholders who hold 

a participating interest in the capital and who do not di-

rectly exercise their control rights.

statutory reGulatIons anD provIsIons In the 

artIcles of assocIatIon on the appoIntment anD 

DIsmIssal of members of the executIve boarD anD 

chanGes to the artIcles of assocIatIon

members of the executive board are appointed and dis-

missed in accordance with sections 84 and 85 of the 

aktG. there are no extraordinary regulations in the com-

pany’s articles of association. appointments and dismiss-

als are at the sole discretion of the supervisory board of 

IsarIa Wohnbau aG. repeat appointments or extensions 

to periods of office for members of the Executive Board 

are permitted.

according to article 5 of the articles of association, the 

executive board can comprise two or more persons; the 

supervisory board takes the decision in this regard. the 

General meeting makes changes to the articles of associ-

ation according to sections 119 (1) no. 5, 113 of the aktG. 

according to section 179 (1) and (2) of the aktG, the ar-

ticles of association can only be changed by a resolution 

passed by at least 75 % of the share capital present when 

the resolution is passed. 

authorIzatIons for the executIve boarD to Issue 

or buy bacK shares

on the balance sheet date, by way of the resolution dated 

23 march 2012, the executive board is authorised to in-

crease the company’s share capital, with the approval of 

the supervisory board, through to 22 march 2017 on one 

or several occasions by up to a total of k€ 10,382. this will 

be performed by issuing up to 10,382,000 new bearer 

shares against cash and/or non-cash contributions. as a 

rule, the new shares must be offered to shareholders for 

subscription. The Executive Board is authorized, with the 

approval of the supervisory board, to exclude sharehold-

ers’ statutory subscription rights in one or several spe-

cific cases. The authorisation was used after the balance 

sheet date in the amount of the capital increase against 

non-cash contributions performed in order to acquire one 
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Group against the issue of 3,000,000 new shares of Isar-

Ia Wohnbau aG from authorised capital, with the result 

that on the date of these financial statements there is still 

authorised capital of k€ 7,382.

In addition, the company’s share capital has been con-

ditionally increased by way of a resolution by the Gen-

eral meeting on 23 march 2012 by up to k€ 10,382. the 

Executive Board is authorized, with the approval of the 

supervisory board, to issue bearer convertible bonds or 

bonds with warrants or a combination of these instru-

ments up to 22 march 2017, with a total amount of up 

to k€ 100,000 with or without a limited term, for a total 

of up to 10,382,000 bearer shares of IsarIa Wohnbau aG 

(conditional capital 2012).

aGreements In the event of a chanGe of control 

of the company

If the ownership situation for IsarIa Wohnbau aG chang-

es such that a private individual or legal entity or group of 

persons controls IsarIa Wohnbau aG within the meaning 

of section 17 of the aktG (change of control), mr. christian 

Dunkelberg and mr. michael haupt have the right to ter-

minate their employment agreements within eight weeks 

of becoming aware of this circumstance with notice of 

two weeks to the end of the month, and as compensation 

for the loss of their jobs they will receive compensation 

of 80 % of the remuneration which no longer resulted 

and was paid as a result of the premature end of their 

positions as member of the executive board. In addition, 

IsarIa Wohnbau aG has not concluded any key agree-

ments for the parent company that are subject to the con-

dition of a change in control as a result of an acquisition 

offer or a corresponding compensation agreement with 

the members of the executive board or employees.

6. corPorate governance rePort

the Declaration on corporate Governance required ac-

cording to section 289a of the hGb is published on 

IsarIa Wohnbau aG’s Web site (www.isaria-wohnbau.

de) in the Investor relations section. this is permanently 

accessible there.

7.  rePort on events after tHe balance 
sHeet date

With effect from 1 january 2014 mr jan von lewinski 

joined IsarIa Wohnbau aG’s executive board as the new 

COO (Chief Operating Officer). He takes over this posi-

tion from the former coo christian Dunkelberg, whose 

contract, which has been in place since 2010 has been 

extended to the end of 2015 and who will be responsible 

for the CIO’s tasks (Chief Investment Officer) in future. 

as a result, the company will be run by a three-member 

executive board in future. michael haupt’s appointment 

as ceo and chairman of the executive bord was extended 

to the end of 2017 in february 2014.

by creating the new position of cIo, the supervisory 

board has signalled that the company is to be geared, 

once again, to expansion and acquisitions in future. the 

acquisition of one Group in hamburg, and the possible 

acquisition in munich, which is currently mostly only pos-

sible at speculative prices, led to the decision to include 

one of the largest potential residential developments in 

hamburg in january 2014. During the course of the next 

few months, a decision will be taken on whether IsarIa 

Wohnbau will thus establish a second strategic location, 

or if the project will be considered as a pure financial 

investment for One Group. As a result of the agreed confi-

dentiality, it is not possible to provide any further details 

on the property.

In february 2014 the company issued a new corporate 

bond for € 10.0 million with a term to february 2015 and 

an interest rate of 8.0 % p.a. this was fully subscribed.

the capital increase from the contribution by one 

Group was entered into the commercial register on 11 

february 2014.

In addition, on the date that the consolidated manage-

ment report was prepared, the company was not aware 

of any material events that occurred after the balance 

sheet date and which have a material impact on the 

group’s business growth. the mild winter means that all 

of the construction projects are on schedule and are mak-

ing substantial progress. 

8. forecast

The forecast reported in the 2012 consolidated financial 

statements for the course of business in 2013 included 

statements on the amount of revenues, the development 

of financing costs, the EBIT margin and earnings after tax-

es. as a result of the shift in material, high-margin hand-

overs from the end of 2013 to the first quarter of 2014, 

only around half of the forecast revenues were recorded, 

and the ebIt margin also fell. however, as the forecast 

reduction in financing costs of 38 % was substantial, and 

as future income led to income from income taxes, on the 

whole positive earnings were recorded. the low-single 

digit million euro region, forecast in the consolidated fi-

nancial statements, was thus reached. In the quarterly 

report as of 30 september 2013, the threatened shifts in 

revenues, impacting earnings in the amount of up to € 5.0 

million were stated. the IsarIa Wohnbau group enjoyed 

stable business in 2013, so that even a 50 % reduction 

in forecast revenues still led to positive earnings. In ad-

dition, in the forecast in the 2012 consolidated financial 

statements, it was not possible to foresee that the com-

pany would be able to increase its equity three-fold in 

2013 as a result of various activities, and thus now has a 

relevant capitalisation.

the following statements on the future course of busi-

ness and the factors which are expected to have a ma-

terial impact on this with regard to developments on 

the market, in the industry and the company, are based 

on assessments by the executive board. as a rule, fore-

casts bear the risk that developments may not occur, 

both with regard to the general trend nor the specific 

extent. the material risks are described in the oppor-

tunity and risk report. 

future orIentatIon of busIness actIvItIes

the IsarIa Wohnbau Group has been established in the 

greater munich region for more than 15 years as a project 

developer for high-quality residential properties. accord-

ing to a current study by bulwienGesa, the IsarIa Wohn-

bau Group is one of the three largest project developers 

for residential property in munich. however, as it is very 

difficult to differentiate the company from the other top 

players, growth in the company’s traditional core busi-

ness is expected to be limited. In addition to the division 

for the new construction of residential properties, the 

Group also revitalizes existing vacant commercial proper-

ties. starting with the schillerstraße property, which was 

handed over in 2012, the property in vogelweidestraße is 

now the second property about to be completed, which 

means that more than 350 app.artments have been re-

alised. a parallel orientation as a commercial property 

developer is still not intended in future. commercial use 

is only conceivable for IsarIa Wohnbau as part of urban 

planning in residential locations. 

In the report on events after the balance sheet date, we 

have already mentioned that the company is currently 

investigating expanding outside of munich, and that it is 

focusing on Germany’s next largest city, hamburg. this is 

based on the significantly improved financing structure as 

a result of the acquisition of one Group. 

General economIc Developments, anD the munIch 

resIDentIal property marKet as the company’s 

home

In the view of the Institut für Weltwirtschaft in Kiel (IfW), 

there are excellent indicators that Germany’s economy is 

set to grow in 2014, driven in particular by an increase in 

investments. the global economy is also recovering sub-

stantially. factors which perceptibly depressed the global 
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economy in the past two years have become less impor-

tant in the IfW’s opinion. however, the sovereign debt 

crisis in the Eurozone has still not been resolved; a recent 

wave of uncertainty on the future of the Eurozone unset-

tled the financial markets during the forecast period, and 

also impacted demand.

In terms of the residential market in munich, the outlook 

for project developers continues to be promising. the an-

nual requirements for new residential properties in mu-

nich is currently around 7,000 apartments per year, and 

over the past few years this was only offset by around 

5,500 completed apartments per year. In studies by well-

known companies, munich has been named as Germa-

ny’s number one real estate market for several years. the 

number of new inhabitants has totalled between almost 

20,000 to almost 30,000 per year since 2010. 

this trend also continued unchanged in 2013 and cou-

pled with the trend to have more households compared 

to population numbers, led to an increase in demand for 

residential space. no material change is to be anticipated 

on the market for mortgage interest rates. as a result, 

there is also positive support for the acquisition of resi-

dential real estate in future. Given this background, we 

can assume higher rent and purchase prices, and the 

IsarIa Wohnbau Group will participate in this thanks to 

its business model.

Development of the fInancIal posItIon anD 

 Income

the IsarIa Wohnbau group was able to once again sub-

stantially increase its notarised sales in 2013. these are 

often sales “from the drawing board”, i.e., prior to the start 

of a minimum one-year construction phase. With an order 

book of € 113 million on 31 December 2013, the company 

has a large part of its revenues forecast for 2014 on its 

books, and already has the first secure revenues for 2015 

on its books. In addition, the construction services for all 

of the completions scheduled for 2014 have already been 

fully or mostly issued. the acquisition of one Group also 

means that it is much easier to forecast financing, and the 

company’s equity of € 13.6 million means that it has a rel-

evant capitalisation. In addition, from 2014 the substantial 

increase in selling prices in munich and the high current 

sales figures will have a significantly positive impact on 

the gross profit margin and EBIT for ISARIA Wohnbau.

In 2014 the company is forecasting revenues of around 

€ 100 million from construction activities and handovers.

In 2014 the company plans to complete additional ac-

quisitions of majority interests in spes that have already 

been certified. These projects are all currently still in the 

development phase, however construction is expected to 

start in 2014 in some cases. financing for these compa-

nies will lead to an increase in the group’s financing costs 

compared to 2013 by approx. 20-25 %.

slightly positive operating results are forecast for one 

Group in 2014. on the whole, our current forecast for 

2014 is for positive earnings after taxes in the low single-

digit millions.

as a result of land that we have already purchased, 

the project pipeline is also secure for the coming years 

after 2014, and is forecast to lead to further increases 

in earnings.

We are also forecasting earnings after taxes of mid-single 

digit million euros for IsarIa Wohnbau aG as a single 

entity for 2014 (HGB financial statements). In the previ-

ous year the forecast for the single entity included state-

ments on contributions to earnings from subsidiaries and 

participating interests and on the earnings after taxes in 

fiscal year 2013. This is forecast at a single-digit million 

amount. the forecast was also reached with earnings af-

ter taxes of € 5.6 million. the same individual aspects 

apply for an analysis of differences for the single entity 

company that have already been stated above for an 

analysis of differences at group level.

overall assessment

at present, there are no indicators for a short or medium-

term downturn in demand on the munich market for resi-

dential real estate. Its long-standing knowledge of the 

market, its secure project pipeline and what is now the 

group’s own financing platform as well as the substantial 

improvement in equity means that the IsarIa Wohnbau 

group will be able to participate to an above-average ex-

tent in the positive developments on the attractive real 

estate market in munich. the forecast increase in the 

population of munich through to 2025 and the constant 

increase in the number of households are key indicators 

for the Group that sales are also secure over the medium 

term and that it will be possible to achieve its forecast 

growth targets.

In summary, the executive board believes that there 

are clearly secure opportunities to successfully imple-

ment the group’s growth and significantly improve its 

financial position and profitability with the property 

units that are under construction and have mostly been 

completed, and with the projects already acquired or 

planned.

munich, 19 march 2014

michael haupt christian Dunkelberg jan von lewinski

spokesman of the member of the member of the

executive board/ceo executive board/cIo executive board/coo
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Consolidated statement of Comprehensive inCome for the finanCial Year 2013

Notes

2013

T€

2012

T€

sales revenue

a) from the sale of property units (7) 34,577 77,328

b) from the lease of property units (8) 3,129 1,918

Change in inventories of properties  
held for sale with finished or  
unfinished buildings

(9) 4,694 -17,741

total output 42,400 61,506

Cost of materials (10)

a) Expenses for the sale of property units -26,567 -37,931

b) Expenses for the lease of property units -2,857 -1,727

Gross profit 12,976 21,847

Personnel expenses (11) -3,005 -2,811

Depreciations/amortisation/impairment charges (18) (19) (20) -458 -916

Other operating income (12) 3,543 7,525

Other operating expenses (13) -10,086 -13,060

eBit 2,970 12,586

Financial income (14) 829 1,652

Financial expenses (15) -13,221 -21,345

Result of associates accounted for using the equity method (16) 1,990 4,539

financial result -10,402 -15,153

Consolidated result before income taxes -7,433 -2,567

Income tax gains (17) 8,516 3,762

Consolidated result after taxes on income 1,084 1,195

of which attributable to the shareholders of ISARIA 1,046 1,279

of which attributable to non controlling interests 38 -84

Other Comprehensive income 0 0

Comprehensive income 1,084 1,195

of which attributable to the shareholders of ISARIA 1,046 1,279

of which attributable to non controlling interests 38 -84

earnings per share in €

Basic (43) 0.05 0.06

Diluted (43) 0.05 0.06

Consolidated Financial Statements  
as of 31 December 2013
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Consolidated BalanCe sheet as of 31st deCemBer 2013

assets

Notes

12/31/
2013

k€

12/31/
2012

k€

equity and liabilities

Notes

12/31/
2013

k€

12/31/
2012

k€

i. non-current assets 41,817 23,647 i. equity 13,606 3,009

1. Intangible assets (18) 9,704 95 1. Subscribed capital (28) 20,764 20,764

2. Investment properties (19) 14,699 14,872 2. Equity and Reserves (28) 131,472 130,517

3. Property, plant and equipment (20) 393 285 3. Balance sheet loss -147,270 -148,316

4. Financial assets 4. Deposits made to execute the resolved capital increase 8,700 0

a) Investments in associates accounted for using the equity method (21) 2,868 2,807 Consolidated equity of the majority shareholders 13,665 2,965

b) Other investments (22) 37 38 5. Non controlling interests -59 45

5. Deferred tax assets (17) 14,112 4,843

6. Other accounts receivable (26) 5 707 ii. non-current liabilities 66,697 27,811

1. Compensation liabilities to shareholders  
in general partnership

(29) 47,712 16,562

2. Financial liabilities to banks (31) 15,355 9,318

ii. Current assets 185,123 139,062 3. Deferred tax liabilities (17) 1,453 480

1. Properties held for sales and other inventories 4. Other provisions (35) 2,177 1,451

a) Properties and equivalent rights with unfinished buildings (23) 125,694 83,470

b) Properties and equivalent rights with finished buildings (24) 640 640 iii. Current liabilities 146,636 131,889

2. Accounts receivable from the sale of property (25) 4,316 3,270 1. Compensation liabilities to shareholders  
in general partnership

(29) 10,983 25,209

3. Income tax receivables (17) 77 49

4. Other accounts receivable and financial assets (26) 22,093 26,914 2. Financial liabilities from silent participations, shareholder loans and other 
forms of capital provision

(30) 47,447 48,225

5. Cash and cash equivalents (27) 32,303 24,719

3. Financial liabilities to banks (31) 12,282 20,622

4. Trade accounts payable (33) 15,127 10,113

5. Liabilities from payments made on account (34) 46,988 15,458

6. Income tax liabilities (17) 1,748 1,015

7. Other provisions (35) 2,143 3,071

8. Other liabilities (32) 9,919 8,176

total assets 226,939 162,710 total equity and liabilities 226,939 162,710
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statement of Changes in Consolidated equity in the finanCial year 2013

Notes

subscribed 
capital

k€

deposits 
made to 

execute the 
resolved 

capital 
increase

k€

equity and 
reserves

k€

Balance 
sheet loss

k€

Consoli-
dated 

 equity  
of the 

 majority 
share-

holders

k€

non 
controlling 

interests

k€

total  
con-

solidated 
equity

k€

as of  
1st January 2012  

20,764 0 129,773 -149,595 942 129 1,071

Comprehensive  
Income

0 0 0 1,279 1,279 -84 1,195

Financial guarantees by 
Josef L. Kastenberger/ 
JK Holding GmbH

(28) 0 0 744 0 744 0 744

as of  
31st december 2012 

20,764 0 130,517 -148,316 2,965 45 3,009

Comprehensive  
Income

0 0 0 1,046 1,046 38 1,084

Deposits made to 
execute the resolved 
capital increase

0 8,700 0 0 8,700 0 8,700

Transaction costs 0 0 -18 0 -18 0 -18

Contribution from 
shareholders

0 0 3,737 0 3,737 0 3,737

Financial guarantees by 
Josef L. Kastenberger/ 
JK Holding GmbH

(28) 0 0 91 0 91 0 91

Business combination 
without change of 
status

0 0 -2,855 0 -2,855 -134 -2,989

First-time  
consolidation  
One Group

0 0 0 0 0 -7 -7

as of  
31st december 2013 

20,764 8,700 131,472 -147,270 13,665 -59 13,606

Consolidated Cash flow statement for the finanCial year 2013

  

Notes

2013

k€

2012*

k€

Consolidated result before income taxes -7,433 -2,567

Adjustments for the reconciliation from Consolidated result before  
income taxes to Cash flows from operating activities

Depreciations/amortisation/impairment charges (18) (19) (20) 458 916

Valuation allowances (+)/write-ups (-) (23) (24) (25) -1,883 2,820

Financial results (14) (15) (16) 10,402 15,153

Results from the sale of investment properties -649 0

Other non-cash expenses/income (36) -624 -4,366

Decrease (+) and increase (–) in properties held for sale  
and other inventories

(23) (24) -3,103 15,047

Decrease (+) and increase (–) in accounts receivable  
from the sale of property and of other accounts receivable  
and financial assets

 3,337 18,555

Increase (+) and decrease (–) in trade accounts payable  
and other current liabilities

(32) (33) (34) 1,127 -406

Increase (+) and decrease (–) in other provisions (35) -227 -1,577

Income taxes paid/refunded (17) -726 -3,200

Cash flows from operating activities 679 40,374

Acquisition of intangible assets (18) -18 -72

Acquisition of investment properties (19) 0 -7

Acquisition of property, plant and equipment (20) -83 -66

Payments for the acquisition of financial assets (26) -2,855 0

Payments from the sale of 
investment properties

(19) 1,155 400

Corporate acquisitions according 
to IFRS 3 less cash acquired

(3) 4,633 0

Sale of shares of subsidiaries with 
loss of control less cash disposed

(3) 0 2.320

Interest received (14) 30 25

Cash flows from investing activities 2,861 2,600

Payments from taking out of financial liabilities (30) (31) 39,338 40,091

Repayments of financial liabilities (30) (31) -33,240 -75,285

Interest paid (15) -9,009 -13,477

Cash flows from financing activities -2,910 -48,671

Change in cash 631 -5,697

Cash at the beginning of the accounting period (27) 11,762 17,459

Cash at the end of the accounting period (27) 12,393 11,762

* adjusted
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notes to tHe consolidated financial 
statements for tHe financial year 2013

1. general information

IsarIa Wohnbau aG (formerly jK Wohnbau aG, herein-

after also referred to as the “company”, „IsarIa“, or, in 

connection with its subsidiaries and affiliated companies 

as “IsarIa Wohnbau group” or the “Group”) is an akti-

engesellschaft (public limited company) under German 

law. shares of the company are listed on the regulated 

market of the frankfurt stock exchange. IsarIa Wohnbau 

aG is the Group’s parent company. It is registered with 

local court of munich under registration number hrb 

187909. The Company’s registered office is Leopoldstraße 

8, 80802 munich, Germany.

In its general meeting on 6 june 2013, the company chan-

ged its name to IsarIa Wohnbau aG. this was entered in 

the commercial register on 13 june 2013.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in 

euros (€), as all of the Group’s transactions are based on 

this currency and the euro is thus the Group’s functio-

nal currency. Unless other-wise indicated, all figures are 

expressed in thousands of euros (k€). We wish to point 

out that commercial rounding may result in slight discre-

pancies when rounded sums and percentages are used. 

this applies also to the totals and subtotals reported in 

the consolidated financial statements as well as within 

separate tables. 

the consolidated statement of comprehensive income is 

prepared according to the aggregate cost method. the 

fiscal year used by ISARIA Wohnbau AG and its subsidia-

ries and joint venture companies included in the conso-

lidated interim financial statements corresponds to the 

calendar year.

(1) business oPerations

the IsarIa Wohnbau Group is a project developer for re-

sidential properties in the greater munich area. the Group 

buys plots of land in attractive locations via independent 

special purpose entities/subsidiaries, plans residential 

properties in these locations, constructs these and then 

sells them. the business activities of the IsarIa Wohnbau 

Group include the divisions new construction of residen-

tial Property and Revitalization of Existing Properties. The 

latter includes changing former commercial properties 

into residential properties under the newly created brand 

“app.artments”.

the company’s business model is geared to sell the apart-

ments and houses built in full. IsarIa Wohnbau does not 

aim to rent or hold its stocks of apartments or houses. the 

company exclusively operates in the high-growth greater 

munich area with its project companies.

on 31 December 2013, IsarIa acquired a 100 % interest 

in One Group GmbH with its registered office in Hamburg. 

the business activities of one Group Gmbh and its sub-

sidiaries (hereinafter also referred to as “one Group”) 

mostly comprises the issue of project development funds 

for residential construction projects.

(2)  PrinciPles for PreParing tHe annual 

 financial statements

The consolidated financial statements as of 31 December 

2013 were prepared in conformance with the Internatio-

nal financial reporting standards (Ifrs), as supplemen-

ted by the provisions of § 315a HGB [Handelsgesetzbuch, 

German commercial code], and the relevant interpre-

tations of the International accounting standards board 

(Iasb) as they are to be applied according to Directive no. 

1606/2002 of the european parliament and the european 

council on the application of international accounting 

principles in the european union (eu).

the financial reporting for financial year 2012 has 

been prepared according to the applicable mandatory 

standards and presents a true and fair view of the 

Group’s net assets, financial positions, and results of 

operations. 

The present consolidated financial statements were pre-

pared by the executive board of IsarIa Wohnbau aG on 

19 march 2014 and, subject to approval by the superviso-

ry board, released for publication.

newly applicable or amended and applicable interpreta-

tions and standards 

During the fiscal year, the following new or revised IFRSs 

and interpretations were applied:

In view of the acquisition of one Group, on the balan-

ce sheet date the new standards Ifrs 10, Ifrs 11 and 

Ifrs 12 as well as the revised standards Ias 27 and Ias 

28 were voluntarily applied ahead of time. these stan-

dards, for which application is generally only mandatory 

from 1 january 2014, include new rules on consolida-

tion, in particular on the scope of the group of conso-

lidated companies. however, there were no changes 

as a result of this first time application, and also from 

the other regulations which had to be applied for the 

first time. Given this background, no comparable figures 

have been prepared in the consolidated balance sheet 

as of 1 january 2012, as would be required when an 

accounting method is applied for the first time.

standard/interpretation application  
mandatory from

adoption by eu-
commission 

amendments to Ias 1 presentation of Items of other comprehensive Income 01/01/2013 06/06/2012

Amendments to IAS 19 Employee Benefits 01/01/2013 06/06/2012

Amendments to IFRS 1 Severe Hyperinflation 01/01/2013 12/11/2012

amendments to Ias 12 Deferred tax: recovery of underlying assets 01/01/2013 12/11/2012

Ifrs 13 fair value measurement 01/01/2013 12/11/2012

IfrIc 20 stripping costs in the production phase of a surface mine 01/01/2013 12/11/2012

amendments to Ifrs 7 Disclosures – offsetting financial assets and financial 
liabilities

01/01/2013 12/13/2012

Improvements of International reporting standards (2009-2011) 01/01/2013 03/27/2013

amendments to Ifrs 1 Government loans 01/01/2013 03/04/2013

amendments to Ias 27 separate financial statements 01/01/2014 12/11/2012

amendments to Ias 28 Investments in associates and joint ventures 01/01/2014 12/11/2012

Ifrs 10 consolidated financial statements 01/01/2014 12/11/2012

Ifrs 11 joint arrangements 01/01/2014 12/11/2012

Ifrs 12 Disclosures of Interests in other entities 01/01/2014 12/11/2012
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the company does not at this time expect future applica-

tion of the new accounting principles to have any signifi-

cant effects on the consolidated financial statements. Die 

Erstanwendung dieser Standards soll zum verpflichtenden 

termin erfolgen.

(3) consolidation

On the balance sheet date, the present consolidated fi-

nancial statements comprise, in addition to IsarIa Wohn-

bau aG, 33 (previous year: 21) subsidiaries and three 

(previous year: three) joint ventures consolidated at equi-

ty. During financial year 2013, the scope of consolidation 

changed as follows:

busIness combInatIons

acquisition of one group

In order to secure access to the equity required to develop 

and realize its current and future project pipeline, ISA-

rIa Wohnbau aG acquired a 100 % interest in one Group 

Gmbh, hamburg, and its subsidiaries with effect from 31 

December 2013 (acquisition date). the acquired group is 

an issuing company for project development funds for 

residential construction. the purchase price was paid by 

issuing 3,000,000 shares from authorized capital. Based 

on a stock market price of € 2.90 for IsarIa Wohnbau aG 

on the acquisition date, this resulted in a purchase price 

for the business combination of k€ 8.700. the incidental 

acquisition costs incurred in the amount of k€ 50 are car-

ried as other operating expenses. 

The following table shows the fair values of the identifi-

able assets and liabilities in the business combination on 

the acquisition date.

the goodwill resulting from the difference between the 

purchase price and the net assets mostly represents the 

value of the anticipated income and cost synergies from 

the acquisition of one Group.

the receivables recorded on the acquisition date mostly 

comprise other receivables and financial assets with fair 

values of k€ 7,378, and it is expected that these will be 

collected in full.

the following table shows the revenues and earnings 

since the acquisition date and the amounts that would 

have resulted if one Group had been fully consolidated 

since 1 january 2013.

Revenue and profit or loss in k€ one group

since acquisiton date

revenue 0

Profit or loss 0

since 1st january 2013

revenue 508

Profit or loss 355

stanDarDs anD InterpretatIons alreaDy  

publIsheD but not yet applIeD

standard/interpretation application  
mandatory from

adoption by
eu-commission

amendments to Ias 32 offsetting financial assets 
and financial liabilities

01/01/2014 12/13/2012

amendments to Ias 36, Impairment of assets – recoverable amount Disclosures 
for non-financial assets

01/01/2014 11/20/2013

amendmends to Ias 39, novation of Derivatives and 
continuation of hedge accounting

01/01/2014 11/20/2013

IfrIc 21, levies 01/01/2014 open

Amendments to IAS 19, Defined Benefit Plans: 
employee contributions

01/01/2015 open

Ifrs 14, regulatory Deferral accounts 01/01/2016 open

Ifrs 9 financial Instruments and amendments to Ifrs 9 and Ifrs 7 Disclosures 01/01/2018 open

major classes of assets acquired  
and liabilities assumed

in k€

carrying amounts 
at date of acquisi-

tion

revaluation 
of assets and 

 liabilities

carrying amounts 
at date of first-
time consolida-

tion

other intangible assets 372 4,344 4.716

property, plant and equipment 129 0 129

Investments in subsidiaries and affiliated companies 28,501 0 28.501

Deferred tax assets 1,795 0 1.795

properties and equivalent rights with 
unfinished buildings

1,768 0 1.768

accounts receivable from the sale of property 3,506 0 3.506

Other accounts receivable and financial assets 7,378 0 7.378

cash and cash equivalents 7,384 0 7.384

total assets 50,833 4,344 55.177

compensation liabilities to shareholders in  
general partnership

47,712 0 47.712

trade accounts payable 860 0 860

other liabilities 1,458 0 1.458

Deferred tax liabilities 0 1,390 1.390

total liabilities 50,030 1,390 51.420

net assets 803 2,954 3.757

non controlling interests -7 0 -7

Purchase price according to ifrs 3 8.700

goodwill 4.936
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the difference between the purchase price and the net 

assets is not recognized in income, but taken directly to 

income as a shareholder contribution, as the acquisition 

of the interests was made from a company which is ma-

jority-owned by a shareholder.

the receivables recorded on the acquisition date mostly 

comprise other receivables and financial assets with fair 

values of k€ 20, and it is expected that these will be col-

lected in full.

the following table shows the revenues and earnings 

since the acquisition date and the amounts that would 

have resulted if the company had been fully consolidated 

since 1 january 2013.

sale of subsidiaries

no subsidiaries were sold in fiscal year 2013. In 2012, 

interests (94.0 % in each case) in several real estate 

companies were sold. this included jK Wohnbau objekt 

Prinzregentenstraße GmbH, JK Wohnbau Objekt Wa-

genbauerstraße Gmbh and jK Wohnbau objekt vogel-

weidestraße Gmbh. the remaining interest of 6.0 % in 

each case in these companies have since been carried 

as participating interests. jK Wohnbau objekt lands-

berger straße Gmbh was fully (100 %) sold in 2012. the 

following table shows the carrying amounts of the as-

sets and liabilities which have been disposed of by sale 

on the respective date of deconsolidation, according to 

primary category:

acquisition of living bogenhausen gmbH

With effect from 29 November 2013 (date of first-time 

consolidation), the company acquired a 94 % interest in 

the project company living bogenhausen Gmbh (for-

merly jK Wohnbau objekt vogelweidestraße Gmbh) in 

two stages. as IsarIa Wohnbau aG already held a 6 % 

interest, from this date it has held a 100 % interest. liv-

ing bogenhausen Gmbh was acquired in order to rein-

force business in the revitalisation segment under the  

“app.artments” brand.

the purchase price for the newly acquired 94 % interest 

totalled k€ 360 and exclusively comprises a cash com-

ponent. the incidental acquisition costs incurred in the 

amount of k€ 35 are carried as other operating expenses. 

as part of the second transfer of interests, land tax of 

k€ 708 was incurred.

The following table shows the fair values of the identifi-

able assets and liabilities in the business combination on 

the acquisition date.

major classes of assets acquired 
and liabilities assumed

in k€

carrying amounts 
at date of acquisi-

tion

revaluation 
of assets and 

 liabilities

carrying amounts 
at date of first-
time consolida-

tion

properties and equivalent rights 
with unfinished buildings

29,973 5,791 35,763

Other accounts receivable and financial assets 20 0 20

cash and cash equivalents 1,023 0 1,023

total assets 31,016 5,791 36,807

compensation liabilities to shareholders in  
general partnership

181 0 181

financial liabilities from silent participations, shareholder 
loans and other forms of capital provision

6,222 0 6,222

liabilities from payments made on account 18,152 0 18,152

trade accounts payable 2,970 0 2,970

other liabilities 6,998 753 7,751

total liabilities 34,523 753 35,276

net assets -3,507 5,037 1,530

Purchase price according to ifrs 3 1,095

Gain from first-time consolidation/
contribution from shareholders

-435

Revenue and profit or loss

in k€

living 
 bogenhausen

gmbH

since acquisiton date

revenue 0

Profit or loss -170

since 1st january 2013

revenue 0

Profit or loss -3.406

disposal of assets and liabilities 
through deconsolidation

carrying amount  
at date of  

deconsolidation

2012
k€

current assets

properties and equivalent 
rights with unfinished buildings

17,570

accounts receivable from the 
sale of property

1

other accounts receivable and  
financial assets

28

cash and cash  
equivalents

67

current liabilities

compensation liabilities 
to shareholders in 
general partnership

2,739

financial liabilities 
to banks

9,926

trade accounts 
payable

1,630

other liabilities 3,244

net assets 126

proceeds from the disposal 5,388

fair values of the r
emaining shares

6

income from deconsolidation 5,268
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In the previous year, the income from deconsolidation 

was carried under other operating income.

acquisition of equity interests for subsidiaries which 

were already previously fully consolidated

During the course of the fiscal year, ISARIA acquired further 

interests in various subsidiaries which the group already 

previously controlled. this concerns the acquisition of mi-

nority interests in jK Wohnbau aG & co. objekt maistraße 

KG, j.K. Wohnbaugesellschaft mbh & co. objekt hohenwal-

deck KG, jK Wohnbau objekt Karlsfeld 1 Gmbh, jK Wohnbau 

aG & co. objekt Karlsfeld 2 KG, jK Wohnbau aG & co. objekt 

Karlsfeld 3 KG, jK Wohnbau Gmbh & co. objekt Waltherstra-

ße KG and jK Wohnbau objekt stahlstraße Gmbh.

to the extent that the subsidiaries are corporations, the 

acquisition was carried as an acquisition of an interest wi-

thout a change of status directly under consolidated equi-

ty. a comparison of the acquisition costs with the carrying 

amounts of the minority interests disposed of resulted in 

a difference of k€ -2,855 (previous year: k€ 0).

In the case of the subsidiaries with the legal form of a 

partnership, in contrast the minority interests were not 

previously carried under equity, but under liabilities. as 

a result, the acquisition of the minority interests led to 

these liabilities being derecognised. as a rule, this dif-

ference has to be recognised in income and carried as 

financial income or financial expense. However, in con-

nection with the acquisition of a minority interest, one 

shareholder waived his claim to a purchase price in this 

regard. this resulted in liabilities of k€ 3,301 not being 

applied, and these are disclosed as a shareholder deposit 

under reserves, directly under equity. the remaining ac-

quisition of interest resulted in financial income of k€ 325 

(previous year: k€ 0).

intra-group consolidations and mergers

jK vertriebs aG & co. KG was merged with IsarIa Wohn-

bau aG by way of an agreement dated 7 february 2013. 

the effects resulting from the consolidation were elimi-

nated as an intra-group transaction.

by way of an agreement dated 4 December 2013, living 

bogenhausen Gmbh was merged with its sister copany 

jK Wohnbau projektgesellschaft mbh. the effects resul-

ting from the merger were eliminated as an intra-group 

transaction.

In the previosu year, gindiwo Gesellschaft für individu-

elle Wohnungsprivatisierung objekt schillerstraße mbh 

was merged wtih jK Wohnbau projektgesellschaft mbh 

by way of an agreement dated 13 february 2012. Gindiwo 

holding Gmbh was merged wtih IsarIa Wohnbau aG by 

way of an agreement dated 6 march 2012. the effects 

resulting from the mergers were eliminated as an intra-

group transaction. 

summary of fully-consolidated subsidiaries 

all subsidiaries controlled by IsarIa Wohnbau aG are fully 

consolidated to the extent that these are of importance 

for the Group’s financial position and results of opera-

tions. the Group is not expecting any material risks or 

any material impact on its net assets, financial position 

and results of operations and future cash flows from non-

consolidated companies. accordingly, the following com-

panies were fully consolidated in the consolidated finan-

cial statements as of December 31, 2013:

fully consolidated subsidiaries

name
registered 

office

12/31/2013
share in voting 

rights

12/31/2012
share in voting 

rights

app.artments Gmbh (formerly jK management Gmbh) munich 100 % 100 %

gindiwo Gesellschaft für individuelle Wohnungspriva-
tisierung objekt st. bonifatius straße mbh

munich 100 % 100 %

IsarIa holding Gmbh (formerly jK Wohnbau objekt bos-
chetsrieder straße Gmbh)

munich 100 % 100 %

Isaria III Immobilienverwaltung Gmbh & co. KG munich 100 % 100 %

Isaria Immobilienverwaltung Gmbh & co. KG munich 100 % 100 %

j.K. Wohnbaugesellschaft mbh & co.  
objekt hohenwaldeck KG

munich 100 % 47 %

jK tower Gmbh munich 100 % 100 %

jK Wohnbau aG & co. objekt Karlsfeld 2 KG munich 100 % 94 %

jK Wohnbau aG & co. objekt Karlsfeld 3 KG munich 100 % 94 %

jK Wohnbau Gmbh & co. objekt maistraße KG munich 100 % 70 %

jK Wohnbau Gmbh & co. objekt Waltherstraße KG munich 100 % 25 %

jK Wohnbau objekt am münchfeld Gmbh munich 100 % 100 %

jK Wohnbau objekt Karlsfeld 1 Gmbh munich 100 % 95 %

jK Wohnbau objekt stahlstraße Gmbh munich 100 % 70 %

jK Wohnbau objekt Willy-brandt-allee Gmbh munich 100 % 100 %

living bogenhausen Gmbh (ehem. jK Wohnbau 
 projektgesellschaft mbh)

munich 100 % 100 %

one capital emissionshaus Gmbh hamburg 100 % - 

one consulting Gmbh hamburg 100 % - 

one Group Gmbh hamburg 100 % - 

one Komplementär Gmbh hamburg 100 % - 

one project Development Gmbh hamburg 100 % - 

one real estate Gmbh hamburg 100 % - 

j.K. Wohnbaugesellschaft mbh & co.  
objekt Defreggerstraße KG

munich 99 % 99 %

GInDIWo Gesellschaft für individuelle 
Wohnprivatisierung mbh

munich 94.9 % 94.9 %

j.K. verwaltungs Gmbh & co. objekt viktoriastraße KG munich 94.9 % 94.9 %

vrhv verwaltung I Gmbh berlin 94.8 % - 

one finance ofc Gmbh hamburg 66.7 % - 

jK vertriebs aG & co. KG munich - 0 %

jK Wohnbau fonds I beteiligungs Gmbh & co. KG munich 0 % 0 %

proreal Deutschland fonds Gmbh & co. KG hamburg 0.13 % - 

proreal Deutschland projektfonds Gmbh & co. KG hamburg 0.01 % - 

proreal Deutschland fonds 2 Gmbh & co. KG hamburg 0.60 % - 

proreal Deutschland fonds 3 Gmbh & co. KG hamburg 0.02 % - 
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In the case of jK Wohnbau fonds I beteiligungs Gmbh & 

co. KG, proreal Deutschland fonds 2 Gmbh & co. KG and 

proreal Deutschland fonds 3 Gmbh & co. KG the share 

of voting rights is 0 % or just 0.60 % and 0.02 %, and for 

proreal Deutschland fonds Gmbh & co. KG 0.13 % and 

proreal Deutschland projektfonds Gmbh & co. KG 0.01 %. 

however, these companies are fully consolidated in the 

consolidated financial statements, as the group controls 

these companies even without holding a majority of vot-

ing rights, there are risk charges or claims to fluctuating 

returns, and the group has the ability to exercise its con-

trol to determine the amount of the returns.

joint ventures

a joint venture company is a joint agreement in which the 

participants (partner companies) which exercise the joint 

control of the agreement have rights to the net assets in 

the agreement. joint ventures are included in the con-

solidated financial statements at equity. The consolidated 

financial statements include three (previous year: three) 

joint ventures:

 joint ventures

name

regis-
tered 
office

12/31/
2013

share in 
voting 
rights

12/31/
2013

share in 
voting 
rights

jK-cor Wohnbauent-
wicklung Gmbh

munich 50 % 50 %

jK-cor Wohnbauent-
wicklung Gmbh & co. 
Wilhelm-hale-straße 
35 KG

munich 50 % 50 %

jK-cor Wohnbauent-
wicklung Gmbh & co. 
Wilhelm-hale-straße 
45 KG

munich 50 % 50 %

In the joint venture companies, real estate projects in mu-

nich are developed, constructed and sold together with a 

project partner. on the balance sheet date these projects 

had mostly been completed.

2. accounting and measurement metHods

(4) accounting and valuation Policies

the accounting and valuation policies applied in the con-

solidated financial statements are outlined below. Further 

information on individual items in the consolidated state-

ment of comprehensive income and the consolidated bal-

ance sheet is provided, along with the associated figures, 

in the notes below. The consolidated financial statements 

have been prepared in accordance with the going-concern 

principle and applying the cost-of-acquisition principle.

revenue recoGnItIon anD reportInG of sales

sales revenue comprises all revenue resulting from the 

typical business operations of the Group. sales revenue 

is disclosed without sales tax. as a rule, sales reve-

nue is recognised at the time at which the products or 

goods were delivered or the services were performed 

and at which the transfer of risk to the customer oc-

curred. the amount of sales revenue must be reliably 

measurable, and it must be possible to assume that the 

accounts receivable can be collected. price reductions 

that are granted reduce sales revenue. revenue is rec-

ognised at the time at which the estate in severalty is 

accepted by the apartment buyer. In the process, sales 

are recorded proportionately for the collective prop-

erty as well. the company justifies this by the fact that 

it is mandatory that the principal parts of the collective 

property be inspected by an appropriately engaged au-

thority (e.g. tÜv süd) before acceptance of the estate 

in severalty by the apartment buyer. recording sales 

for the estate in severalty and the proportional joint 

property at the time the estate in severalty is accepted 

is common practice in this business sector in Germany 

and does not conflict with the provisions of IfrIc 15 if 

the essential parts of the joint property have already 

been completed by such time.

If the Group enters into a commitment to sell goods or 

perform services in addition to constructing real estate 

(for example, selling a parcel of land or buildings still 

under construction or providing management services), 

the provisions of IfrIc 15 prescribe a test to determine 

whether such a contract must be divided into individu-

ally identifiable parts for which, independently of one 

another, revenue must then be recognised. revenue is 

then recognised by allocating total revenue among the 

individual parts according to the fair value to be assigned 

to each of these parts individually.

currently within the Group no construction contracts with-

in the meaning of Ias 11 exist. only in the exceptional 

event that, with increasing progress in construction, the 

power of disposition and the material opportunities and 

risks associated with the sold real estate are transferred 

to the buyer, there is nevertheless, in accordance with 

the provisions of IfrIc 15, current recognition of revenue 

according to the percentage-of-completion method, and 

that according to the ratio between costs already incurred 

and the total costs.

recoGnItIon of other Income anD Interest Income

other income is recognised as it is realised. Interest income 

is recognised according to the effective interest rate.

recoGnItIon of expenses

expenditures are recognised as expenses when use is 

made of the service or at the time at which it is occa-

sioned. Interest is recognised as an expense according to 

the effective interest rate.

GooDWIll

upon initial recognition, goodwill from a merger is car-

ried at cost. cost is the excess of the compensation 

paid (acquisition costs) compared to the identifiable 

assets and acquired liabilities. after first-time recogni-

tion, goodwill is carried at cost less accumulated im-

pairment.

Goodwill is not subject to scheduled amortisation, but is 

tested for impairment at least once per year, and also 

during the year if there are any impairment indicators, in 

line with the regulations of Ias 36 at a cash-generating 

unit level. newly created goodwill is allocated in each 

case to the cash-generating unit, which is expected to 

benefit from the merger. As a rule, the cash-generating 

units correspond to the operating segments, as goodwill 

can only be managed at this level.

In order to identify possible impairment, the recoverable 

amount of a cash-generating unit is compared with its 

carrying amount. the recoverable amount of an asset is 

the greater of its value in use and its fair value less costs 

to sell. Impairment is only recorded when the carrying 

amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount. no 

write-ups are performed if the reasons for impairment 

recognised in previous years no longer applies.

other IntanGIble assets

other intangible assets are measured at cost, less depre-

ciation and impairment. at present, there are no internal-

ly generated intangible assets and intangible assets with 

indefinite useful lives, with the exception of goodwill. 

the company applies the following depreciation methods 

and useful lives:

intangible assets depreciation 
method

useful life

software straight-
line

3 to 5 years

other purchased 
 intangible assets

straight-
line

3.5 to 10 
years

other property rights straight-
line

6 years
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Investment propertIes

Investment properties comprise all real estate that is held 

to generate rental income or for long-term appreciation 

and is not used by the Group itself. there are no active 

marketing activities for these properties. the properties 

are recognised at cost at the time of addition. the invest-

ment properties are depreciated on a straight-line basis. 

Depreciation in the year of addition is on a “pro rata tem-

poris” basis. the company applies the following deprecia-

tion methods and useful lives:

investment properties depreciation 
method

useful life

Investment properties straight-
line

33.3 to 50 
years

property, plant anD equIpment

property, plant and equipment are measured at cost, less 

depreciation and impairment. Disposals are recognised 

at historical costs and with accumulated depreciation. 

Profits or losses from the disposal of property, plant and 

equipment are reported under other operating income or 

expenses. the company applies the following deprecia-

tion methods and useful lives:

Property, plant and 
equipment

depreciation 
method

useful life

Furniture and fixtures straight-
line

3 to 10 
years

ImpaIrments of other IntanGIble assets, property, 

plant anD equIpment, anD Investment propertIes

For intangible assets with a finite useful live, property, 

plant and equipment, and investment properties, an 

impairment test is conducted if concrete indications of 

impairment are present. an impairment is recognised in 

profit or loss if the recoverable amount of the asset is 

less than the carrying amount. the recoverable amount 

is always measured for each asset individually. When this 

is not possible, it is measured on the basis of a group of 

assets that largely generate independent cash flows. The 

recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs 

to sell and value in use. every impairment is immediately 

recognised in profit or loss. If the reason for impairment 

recorded in previous years no longer applies, the value is 

written up to at most the amount of amortised cost.

Investments In assocIates accounteD for usInG 

the equIty methoD

shares in joint ventures are disclosed in the balance sheet 

according to the equity method. the shares are recog-

nised in the balance sheet at cost plus the changes in the 

Group’s share in net assets after acquisition. the goodwill 

associated with a company included at equity is included 

in the carrying amount of the share and is not depreci-

ated. When applying the equity method, the Group de-

termines whether an additional impairment loss must be 

accounted for with regard to the Group’s net investment. 

the statement of comprehensive income contains the 

Group’s share in the companies’ profit under “Result of 

associates accounted for using the equity method”.

propertIes helD for sale anD other InventorIes

properties held for sale and other inventories are recog-

nised at cost or the lower net realisable value. the acqui-

sition costs in this case comprise the directly attributable 

acquisition and preparation costs, i.e., particularly costs 

for the parcel of land and incidental acquisition costs. the 

development costs comprise costs directly attributable to 

the real estate development process and such borrowing 

costs as are apportionable to the period of development. 

the expected net realisable value is the recoverable sales 

revenue expected in the normal course of business less 

selling or development costs still to be incurred.

borroWInG costs

borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the ac-

quisition, construction, or development of a qualified as-

set are capitalised as part of the acquisition or develop-

ment costs. all other borrowing costs are recognised in 

the period in which they are incurred.

provIsIons

provisions are formed when there is a current liability to-

wards a third party arising from a past event, the liability 

is likely to result in a future outflow of resources, and 

the amount of the liability can be reliably estimated. the 

probability that the outflow of resources will occur must 

be greater than 50 %. provisions are formed only for legal 

or actual liabilities towards third parties. provisions are 

recognised at their probable payment amount and not 

netted with claims for reimbursement. provisions based 

on a large number of similar events are reported in the 

balance sheet at their expected value.

Income taxes (current anD DeferreD taxes)

Income tax expense represents the sum of current (ac-

tual) tax expense and deferred taxes. the current tax 

expense is measured on the basis of taxable income for 

the year. the Group’s current tax expense liability is cal-

culated on the basis of the tax rates in effect.

Deferred taxes are measured by the “liability method” 

according to Ias 12, “Income taxes”. this means that, 

with the exception of goodwill arising on consolidation 

and the initial measurement of assets and liabilities not 

resulting from a business combination and which, at the 

time of the transaction, affect neither the balance sheet 

result nor the income to be taxed, deferred taxes are 

formed for all temporary differences between the carry-

ing amounts of assets and liabilities in the Ifrs and tax 

accounts, irrespective of the period within which these 

differences balance. Deferred tax claims and liabilities 

are measured using the tax rates that are expected to 

be valid in the period in which an asset is to be realised 

or a debt is to be satisfied. The tax rates (and tax rules) 

that apply as of the balance sheet date, or that will soon 

apply, are taken as the basis. 

Deferred taxes relating to items recognised directly in 

equity are likewise recognised in equity. Deferred tax as-

sets are formed for accumulated losses brought forward 

if their realisability is probable. 

contInGencIes (contInGent lIabIlItIes anD assets)

contingencies are potential liabilities or assets arising 

from past events and whose existence will be confirmed 

by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more 

uncertain future events that are not entirely within the 

Group’s control. contingent liabilities can also be pre-

sent obligations arising from past events and for which 

an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits 

is not probable or for which the amount of the obliga-

tion cannot be measured reliably. contingent liabilities 

are recognised at their fair value if they were assumed 

in the course of a business acquisition. contingent assets 

are not recognised. If an outflow of economic benefit is 

not improbable, information on contingent liabilities is 

disclosed in the notes to the consolidated financial state-

ments. the same applies to contingent assets when an 

inflow is probable.

fInancIal Instruments

According to IAS 39, financial instruments are contracts 

that result in a financial asset for one company and a fi-
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nancial liability or an equity instrument for another. If the 

trading and settlement dates are different for a financial 

asset, it is first recognised as of the settlement date. A 

financial instrument is initially measured at fair value. For 

measurement purposes, IAS 39 divides financial assets 

into these categories:

•  Financial instruments recognised at fair value through 

profit or loss 

• Financial investments held-to-maturity

• Loans and receivables

• Financial assets available for sale

The group’s financial assets include cash and cash equiva-

lents, trade receivables, receivables from loans issued, 

receivables from affiliated companies and other financial 

assets as well as financial assets. The Group defines how 

its financial assets are classified when they are first rec-

ognised. The Group has not recognised any financial asset 

at fair value in profit or loss. The Group does not at pre-

sent use any derivative financial instruments as a hedge 

against, for example, interest rate risks.

financial liabilities, on the other hand, are attributable to 

both categories:

•  Financial instruments designated at fair value in profit 

or loss and financial instruments held for trade pur-

poses

• Other financial liabilities

The Group defines how its financial liabilities are classi-

fied when they are first recognised. The Group’s finan-

cial liabilities comprise trade accounts payable and other 

liabilities, bank overdrafts, compensation liabilities to 

shareholders in general partnerships, financial liabilities 

from silent participations, shareholder loans and other 

forms of capital provision, loans and financial guarantees. 

The Group has not recognised any financial liabilities at 

fair value in profit or loss.

Depending on how financial instruments are categorised, 

they are subsequently measured either at fair value or at 

amortised cost using the effective interest rate method. 

fair value is determined according to the following meas-

urement steps:

•  Step 1: prices quoted on active markets (and adopted 

without change) for identical assets or liabilities

•  Step 2: input factors that are not the quoted prices con-

sidered in step 1 but which can be observed either 

directly or indirectly (i.e., as derived from prices) for 

the asset or liability

•  Step 3: factors for measuring the asset or liability not 

based on observable market data (non-observable in-

put factors)

At present, all fair values measured for financial instru-

ments are based on information factors and input factors 

as described for step 2 above.

the amortised costs are acquisition costs less repayments, 

impairments, and the reversal of differences between ac-

quisition costs and the amount repayable at maturity. 

at present, only the categories “loans and receivables” 

(abbreviation: “lar”) and “available for sale (abbrevia-

tion: “AfS”) are used for asset-side financial instruments, 

while only the category “financial liabilities measured at 

amortised costs (abbreviation: “flac”) is used for liabil-

ity-side financial instruments. Loans and receivables are 

non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determina-

ble payments that are not quoted in an active market. 

after their initial recognition, loans and receivables are 

measured at amortised costs using the effective interest 

rate method less any impairments. Gains and losses are 

included in the net income/loss for the period if the loans 

and receivables are derecognised or impaired, or through 

the amortisation process. 

financial assets available for sale are assets that are clas-

sified neither as financial assets to be held for trading nor 

as financial assets to be held to maturity and that are not 

loans or receivables. after initial recognition, the asset is 

measured at fair value – if it can be determined reliably 

– and gains and losses are recognised in a separate item 

within equity. If fair value cannot be determined reliably 

(e.g., for unlisted shares in corporations or partnerships), 

the asset is recognised at historical costs. When the asset 

is disposed of, or in the event that an impairment loss is 

identified, the amount previously recognised in equity is 

recognised in the profit and loss statement. 

financial assets available for sale exist at present exclu-

sively in the form of unlisted shares in corporations or 

partnerships. there are no concrete plans at this time to 

sell these investments. no reliable market prices were 

available for these interests on the balance sheet date.

Impairment tests are conducted regularly for financial as-

sets if indications of an impairment loss are apparent. If 

the Group determines that there is no objective indication 

of impairment for an individually evaluated financial as-

set, whether it is important or not, it will include the as-

set in a group of financial assets with comparable default 

risk profiles and evaluate them collectively for impair-

ment. assets that are evaluated individually for impair-

ment and for which a valuation allowance is or continues 

to be recognised are not included in a collective impair-

ment evaluation. If there are objective indications that an 

impairment has occurred, the amount of impairment loss 

is the difference between the carrying value of the asset 

and the present value of the expected future cash flow 

(with the exception of expected future loan defaults that 

have not yet occurred). the present value of expected 

future cash flows is discounted with the original interest 

rate in effect for the financial asset. If a loan has a vari-

able interest rate, the discount rate used to measure an 

impairment loss is the current effective interest rate. un-

less stated otherwise, the fair value of all current finan-

cial instruments is, because they are current, the carrying 

amounts.

A financial asset (or a part of a financial asset or a part of 

a group of similar financial assets) is derecognised if one 

of the following conditions is satisfied:

•  The contractual rights to receive cash flows from a fi-

nancial asset have expired.

•  The Group has transferred its contractual rights to re-

ceive cash flows from the financial asset to third par-

ties, or has assumed a contractual obligation for imme-

diate payment of the cash flow to a third party under 

an agreement that satisfies the requirements of IAS 

39.19 (pass-through arrangement) and, in so doing, 

has either (a) transferred mainly all opportunities and 

risks associated with ownership of the financial asset 

or, (b), though it has neither transferred nor retained 

mainly all opportunities and risks associated with 

ownership of the financial asset, has transferred the 

power of disposition over the asset.

A financial liability is derecognised if the obligation un-

derlying this liability has been fulfilled, terminated, or 

has expired. If an existing financial liability financial lia-

bility is exchanged for another financial liability from the 

same lender on substantially different contractual terms 

or the terms of an existing liability are substantially mod-

ified, such and exchange or modification is treated as the 

derecognition of the original liability and the recognition 

of a new liability. the difference between the carrying 

amounts is recognised in profit or loss.

financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net 

amount recognised in the balance sheet only if there is 

at the present time a legal right to set off the reported 

amounts against one another and the intention is to set-

tle on a net basis or, with the realization of the asset con-

cerned, to settle the associated liability. bank overdrafts 

are offset against receivables from the same bank if the 

receivables serve as security for the liabilities by assign-

ment and the maturity dates for the receivables and li-

abilities are virtually identical. 
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leases

leases in which essentially all risks and opportunities 

associated with ownership of an asset are borne by the 

lessor are classified as operating leases. The leasing pay-

ments made are recognised directly in profit or loss as 

expenses in the statement of comprehensive income. at 

present there are no finance leases within the Group.

classIfIcatIon of share capItal In General 

 partnershIps

financial instruments that entitle the holder to repayment 

of the capital made available to the company must, ac-

cording to IAS 32, be classified as borrowed capital. The 

subsidiaries of IsarIa Wohnbau aG are organised in part in 

the legal form of a general partnership whose articles of 

association cannot bar the partners from terminating and 

thereby obliging the company to disburse settlement bal-

ances. the settlement liabilities are measured by means of 

a discounted cash flow model using measurement param-

eters derived from market data. changes in the carrying 

amount of the settlement liabilities are recognised in profit 

or loss under financial expense or financial income. 

employee benefIts 

Contributions to state-run pension funds for defined-ben-

efit plans for pension insurance are recognised as per-

sonnel expenses. At present there are no such defined-

benefit plans at the ISARIA Wohnbau Group.

(5) consolidation PrinciPles

business combinations (within the meaning of Ifrs 3) were 

accounted for using the acquisition method. accordingly, 

the acquisition costs for the acquisition of the company 

were distributed over the acquired, individually identifi-

able assets and liabilities and contingent liabilities in line 

with their fair values on the date of acquisition. a remain-

ing positive difference is recognised as goodwill, while a 

negative difference remaining after further review is rec-

ognised in profit or loss. Incidental acquisition costs are 

recognised as an expense. If shares in businesses fully con-

solidated before or afterwards are acquired or sold (busi-

ness acquisition with a change of status), the differences 

between the purchase price and the carrying amount of 

the net asset acquired or sold are recognised directly in eq-

uity. the purchase and sale of property companies that do 

not constitute businesses within the meaning of Ifrs 3 are 

usually recognised as a direct acquisition or sale of prop-

erties (asset deals). In the case of step acquisitions, e.g. 

when there is a transition from an associated company to 

full consolidation as a subsidiary, the previously recognised 

carrying value of the company is re-measured as part of 

the business acquisition costs at fair value, and any result-

ing gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss.

revenues, expenses, and income, along with receiva-

bles and liabilities between the included companies, are 

eliminated. Significant provisional results are eliminated.

(6) use of estimates and assumPtions

As the consolidated financial statements are drawn up, 

the executive board must make estimates and assump-

tions that have an effect on the items in the consolidated 

financial statements and the notes to the consolidated 

financial statements. Actual developments may diverge 

from the estimates and assumptions made. the important 

estimates and assumptions are further explained below.

GooDWIll anD other IntanGIble assets 

With regard to goodwill and other intangible assets, as-

sumptions and estimates are required, in particular with 

regard to the future cash flows, returns and capitalisa-

tion rates.

the carrying amount for all of the intangible assets, in-

cluding goodwill, totalled k€ 9,704 on the balance sheet 

date (previous year: k€ 95).

propertIes helD for sale anD other InventorIes

properties held for sale and other inventories are recog-

nised at cost or the lower net realisable value. produc-

tion-related overheads are included in production costs. 

the amortisation of production-related overheads attrib-

utable to the development process for individual projects 

is subject to estimates and assumptions that affect the 

amount of production costs to be included. 

likewise, when net realisable value is determined for the 

purpose of inventory valuation without loss, estimates 

and assumptions must be made with regard to the sales 

revenues that can be achieved in the normal course of 

business and the production and sales costs still expected 

as of the accounting date. the carrying value of the prop-

erties held for sale and other inventories is, as of the bal-

ance sheet date, k€ 126,334 (previous year: k€ 84,110).

Investment propertIes

the fair values of the investment properties were calcu-

lated in 2013 using the income method by an independ-

ent expert, and total k€ 15,425 (previous year: k€ 15,875).

for measurement purposes, factors that have a direct and 

considerable effect on fair value, such as future rent rev-

enues and applicable discount rates, must be estimated.

Significant measurement parameters were, as in the pre-

vious year, rates of return on property [Liegenschaftszin-

sen, net annual income in relation to the sales price of the 

property] between 3.0 % and 4.0 %, maintenance costs 

between 5.0 % and 12.0 %, management costs between 

3.0 % and 4.0 %, and a rent default risk between 3.0 % 

and 6.0 %, each in relation to net rents. as of the balance 

sheet date, the carrying value of the investment proper-

ties amounted to k€ 14,699 (previous year: k€ 14,872).

even impairment tests for investment properties meas-

ured at amortised costs make use of estimates of future 

cash flows resulting from the course of business, esti-

mates that affect the recognition and measurement of 

these facts. moreover, fair values and costs to sell also 

are based on estimates and assumptions.

Based on these assumptions and estimates, in the fiscal 

year a write-up of k€ 521 (previous year: write-down of 

k€ 210) was carried for investment properties, as the fair 

value, which was also ascertained in an expert opinion, 

exceeded the carrying amount by the corresponding fig-

ure. the income from the write-up (previous year: write-

down) is carried under other operating income (previous 

year: amortisation and depreciation) in the statement 

of other comprehensive income. segment reporting in-

cludes both the income from the write-up as well as the 

impairment losses in the “other” segment.

provIsIons

the process of determining provisions involves consider-

able use of estimates. the Group forms provisions for fol-

low-up costs from orders already billed. these estimates 

may change as a result of new information. the Group 

forms provisions for payments under guarantees if the 

amount or date of such payments is uncertain. other pro-

visions are formed for individual risks for which payment 

dates or amounts are uncertain. estimates are necessary 

for the formation of provisions. this applies especially 

to provisions formed for litigation risks. the outcome of 

litigation is uncertain in many cases. the actual amounts 

and dates of payment may differ from the original es-

timates. as of the balance sheet date of 31 December 

2013, the carrying amount of the provisions was k€ 4,320 

(previous year: k€ 4,522).

compensatIon lIabIlItIes to shareholDers In Gen-

eral partnershIps

compensation liabilities for limited partnership interests 

are measured at fair value by means of a discounted cash 

flow model using measurement parameters derived from 

market data. for this purpose, estimates of and assump-

tions are made regarding future repayment obligations. 
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the actual amounts and dates of payment may differ 

from the original estimates. the carrying amount of non-

current compensation liabilities as of the balance sheet 

date is k€ 47,712 (previous year: k€ 16,562), the carry-

ing amount of current compensation liabilities comes to 

k€ 10,983 (previous year: k€ 25,209).

revenue recoGnItIon

If the Group enters into a commitment to sell goods or 

perform services in addition to constructing real estate 

(for example, selling a parcel of land or buildings still un-

der construction or providing management services), a 

test is performed to determine whether such a contract 

must be divided into individually identifiable parts for 

which, independently of one another, revenue must then 

be recognised. revenue is then recognised by allocating 

total revenue among the individual parts according to the 

fair value to be assigned to each of these parts individu-

ally. these fair values must be estimated by the Group. 

No revenues were recognised on this basis during the fis-

cal year (previous year: k€ 9.203).

Income taxes

to form tax provisions, estimates must be made. It also 

must be determined whether a valuation allowance or 

non-recognition is necessary for deferred taxes. one must 

assess the probability that deferred taxes resulting from 

time differences and losses brought forward can be set 

off in the future against taxable profits. There are uncer-

tainties regarding the interpretation of complex tax rules 

and the amount and time of future taxable income. to 

assess the issue of whether deferred taxes from tax loss 

carry-forwards can be used, i.e., if these are not impaired, 

the company’s earnings forecasts and tax strategies that 

can be concretely implemented are used. this is based 

on the three-year medium-term forecast. as forecasting 

certainty decreases the further the date of realization is 

in the future, loss carry-forwards that can only be used 

in the period after the first three years of the forecast 

are not applied. on the balance sheet date of 31 Decem-

ber 2013, the assets from current income taxes totaled 

k€ 77 (previous year: k€ 49) and liabilities from current 

income taxes totaled k€ 1,748 (previous year: k€ 1,015). 

assets from deferred taxes totaled k€ 14,112 (previous 

year: k€ 4,843), and liabilities from deferred taxes totaled 

k€ 1,453 (previous year: k€ 480).

3.  notes to tHe consolidated statement of 
comPreHensive income

(7)  sales revenue from tHe sale of ProPerty 

units

sales revenue from the sale of property units can be ap-

portioned among the individual properties as follows:

 

sales revenue from the 
sale of property units

2013

k€

2012

k€

Karlsfeld 1 property 28,058 2,566 

Willy-brandt-allee property 3,163 54,252 

hohenwaldeck property 901 5,239 

maistraße property 447 780 

Waltherstraße property 97 2,061 

schillerstraße property 0 9,203 

Defreggerstraße property 0 2,600 

stahlstraße property 0 344 

other properties 1,911 284 

total 34,577 77,328 

(8)  sales revenue from tHe lease of ProPerty 

units

sales revenues from the lease of property units in the 

amount of k€ 3,129 (previous year: k€ 1,918) mostly in-

clude income from the rental of investment properties 

in the amount of k€ 741 (previous year: k€ 785) and in-

come from the sub-rental of properties in the amount of 

k€ 2,138 (previous year: k€ 881). 

(9)  cHange in inventories of ProPerties Held for 

sale witH finisHed or unfinisHed buildings

change in inventories of 
properties held for sale 
with finished or unfin-
ished buildings

2013

k€

2012

k€

Increase in inventories 35,367 48,257 

Decrease in inventories 
through sale

(30,673) (65,998)

total 4,694 (17,741)

(10) cost of materials

cost of materials relates to purchased materials and ser-

vices for the operating project companies in the amount 

of k€ 26,567 (previous year: k€ 37,931) as well as ex-

penses from generating rental income in the amount of 

k€ 2,857 (previous year: k€ 1,727). 

(11) Personnel exPenses

personnel expense consists of the following:

Personnel expenses 2013

k€

2012

k€

Wages and salaries 2,708 2,513 

social security 
 contributions

297 298 

total 3,005 2,811 

The payments to state-run pension funds during the fi-

nancial year 2013 amount to k€ 129 (previous year: 

k€ 131) and are included in the social security contribu-

tions and retirement pensions.

(12) otHer oPerating income

other operating income consists of the following: 

other operating income 2013

k€

2012

k€

compensation payments 842 33 

Gains from the sale of 
non-current assets

649 0 

reversal of provisions 349 1,276 

reversal of impairment 
adjustments to accounts 
receivables

106 103 

Income from deconsolida-
tion of property companies

0 5,268 

other income 1,596 845 

total 3,543 7,525 

With regard to the income in the previous year from the 

deconsolidation of real-estate companies, pleas refer to 

note 3.
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(13) otHer oPerating exPenses

other operating expenses consist of the following:

other operating 
 expenses

2013

k€

2012

k€

legal, consulting and 
auditing expenses

2,895 4,000

sales commissions and 
other selling expenses

2,434 3,428

Warranty and follow-up 
expenses

1,336 2,487

expenses from allowances 
for doubtful accounts

803 0

advertising and travelling 
expenses

791 782

expenses for premises 569 608

other 1,258 1,755

total 10,086 13,060 

(14) financial income

financial income consists of the following:

financial income 2013

k€

2012

k€

financial income of 
 general partners in 
 property companies

705 526 

financial income from 
financial assets

80 1,024 

Other financial income 44 102 

total 829 1,652 

Financial income from financial assets is mostly due to 

interest income from bank balances and loans. The finan-

cial income from general partners in property companies 

relates to income from the reversal of compensation li-

abilities to shareholders in general partnerships.

(15) financial exPenses

financial expenses 2013

k€

2012

k€

Interest and similar 
expenses from financial 
liabilities

10,717 16,000

financing costs 1,985 3,590

Interest expenses from 
provisions and non-finan-
cial liabilities

324 861

financial guarantees by 
josef l. Kastenberger/ 
jK holding Gmbh

91 744

others 104 150

total 13,221 21,345 

Interest and similar expenses from financial liabilities 

and financing costs mostly include interest paid on fi-

nancial debt and the effects of using the effective inter-

est rate method.

Interest expenses from provisions and non-financial li-

abilities mostly include the effects from valuing long-

term provisions at their present value, and interest on 

non-financial liabilities, such as tax liabilities.

Of the total financial expenses in the amount of k€ 

13,221 (previous year: k€ 21,345), k€ 11,083 (previous 

year: k€ 17,143) have been capitalised as production costs 

under Properties and equivalent rights with unfinished 

or finished buildings. The capitalisation rate in each case 

lies between 1.87 % and 23.0 % (previous year: between 

2.7 % and 23.0 %).

(16)  result of associates accounted for using 

tHe equity metHod

the result from companies accounted for at equity in the 

total amount of k€ 1,990 (previous year: k€ 4,539) is due in 

full (previous year: k€ 3,109) to the proportionate changes 

in equity recognised in income during the fiscal year for 

the joint venture companies included at equity in the con-

solidated financial statements. In the previous year, earn-

ings in the amount of k€ 1,430 related to the reversal of 

liabilities which were carried as such in previous years for 

the excess share of losses from equity-accounted compa-

nies with contingent liabilities according to Ias 28.30. 

(17) income taxes

The companies included in the consolidated financial 

statements are all subject to German corporation tax 

(including the solidarity surcharge) and trade tax, to the 

extent that these do not operate as asset managers as 

fund companies. When identifying the tax assessment 

basis, there are regularly additions and reductions for 

certain items of income and expense. the amount of the 

income taxes is measured based on the taxable income 

thus measured, or on the trade income thus identified. 

Deferred taxes are calculated based on temporary differ-

ences between the tax base and the carrying amount in 

the Ifrs balance sheet. If it is improbable that deferred 

taxes will be realized, these are written down up to the 

amount of the deferred tax liabilities formed for the re-

spective tax subject.

In fiscal year 2013, deferred tax liabilities on tax losses 

carried forwards of k€ 8,238 (previous year. k€ 4,843) 

were additionally capitalized for ISARIA Wohnbau AG. The 

company’s forecast for the fiscal years from 2014 to 2016 

provides positive results in this regard, which show that 

the losses carried forwards will be used. the company 

thus believes that it is probable that it will realize its tax 

entitlement. no deferred tax assets will be formed on 

corporation tax loss carry-forwards of around € 55 mil-

lion (previous year: around € 62 million) and trade tax 

loss-carryforwards of around € 36 million (previous year: 

around € 71 million), as it is not possible to assume with 

sufficient certainty that these loss carry-forwards can be 

used as a result of the long forecasting period for the 

respective forecasts. 

When calculating deferred taxes, as a rule the valid, com-

pound tax rate of 32.98 % (previous year: 32.98 %) was 

applied. With regard to one Group, which was acquired as 

of 31 December 2013, the compound tax rate is 32.28 %.

the deferred tax assets and liabilities are the result of 

differences for the following items:

allocation of deferred 
taxes

in k€

deferred 
tax assets

12/31/2013

deferred tax  
liabilities

12/31/2013

non-current assets 0 1,818 

Intangible assets 0 1,390 

Investments in associates 
accounted for using the 
equity method

0 428 

current assets 103 1,667 

properties and 
 equivalent rights with 
unfinished buildings

91 1,667 

other receivables 12 0 

non-current liabilities 206 365 

compensation liabilities 
to shareholders in gen-
eral partnership

206 285 

Warranty provisions 0 80 

losses brought forward 16,201 0 

sub-total 16,509 3,850 

thereof non-current 16,407 2,183 

netting* (2,398) (2,398)

deferred taxes according 
to consolidated balance 
sheet

14,112 1,453 

* according to Ias 12, deferred tax assets and deferred tax 
liabilities relating to the same tax authority are to be netted 
if they meet certain other conditions.
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Tax losses can be carried forward indefinitely.

no deferred taxes were formed in connection with shares 

in subsidiaries. these would normally accrue at the rate 

of 5 %, owing to the 95 per cent exemption, when shares 

in corporations are sold. at this time the Group does not 

expect a deferred tax liability from the sale of shares in 

subsidiaries. 

allocation of deferred 
taxes

k€

deferred tax 
assets

12/31/2012

deferred tax 
 liabilities

12/31/2012

non-current assets 0 645 

Investments in associates 
accounted for using the 
equity method

0 645 

current assets 245 1,218 

properties and equiva-
lent rights with unfin-
ished buildings

50 1,218 

other receivables 195 0 

non-current liabilities 332 285 

compensation liabilities 
to shareholders in gen-
eral partnership

332 170 

Warranty provisions 0 115 

current liabilities 0 330 

compensation liabilities 
to shareholders in gen-
eral partnership

0 330 

losses brought forward 6,265 0 

sub-total 6,842 2,479 

thereof non-current 6,597 931 

netting* (1,999) (1,999)

deferred taxes according 
to consolidated balance 
sheet

4,843 480 

* according to Ias 12, deferred tax assets and deferred tax 
liabilities relating to the same tax authority are to be netted 
if they meet certain other conditions.

the deferred taxes and current expenses for taxes on in-

come are as follows for the financial year:

actual and deferred 
taxes

2013

k€

2012

k€

actual tax expenses (179) 1,462 

Deferred tax expenses (+)/
tax income (-) (8,338) (5,224)

total tax expenses (+)/
income (-) (8,516) (3,762)

current taxes in the consolidated balance sheet are as 

follows:

actual taxes in the con-
solidated balance sheet

12/31/2013

k€

12/31/2012

k€

current income tax 
 receivables 77 49 

current income tax 
 liabilities 1,748 1,015 

the following table shows the reconciliation of the in-

come tax expense expected in the financial year to the 

tax income or tax expense actually recognised. to deter-

mine the expected tax income, the 32.98 % Group tax 

rate in effect in financial year 2013 is multiplied by in-

come before taxes. 

tax rate reconciliation 2013

k€

2012

k€

Profit/Loss before taxes (7,433) (2,567)

Group income tax rate ( %) 32.98 % 32.98 %

expected tax expenses/income (2,451) (847)

non-recognition of deferred taxes (3,020) 3 

permanent differences (2,341) (708)

taxes from previous accounting periods (41) (152)

loss deduction (90) (40)

result of associates accounted for using the equity method (217) (806)

fiscal unit for corporate tax purposes (97) (501)

tax rate differences (25) 0 

other differences (235) (711)

total tax expenses/revenue (8,516) (3,762)

effective income tax rate 114.58 % 146.55 %
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in k€

goodwill intangible as-
sets acquired 

in conjunction 
with business 
combinations

other   
intangible  

assets

total

costs of acquisition as of 
1st january 2012 0 0 465 465 

additions 0 0 72 72 

Disposals 0 0 0 0 

as of 31st december 0 0 537 537

depreciations as of 1st january 2012 0 0 357 357 

additions 0 0 85 85 

Disposals 0 0 0 0 

as of 31st december 0 0 442 442 

net carrying amount as of 12/31/2012 0 0 95 95 

costs of acquisition as of 
1st january 2013 0 0 537 537

additions 0 0 18 18 

additions as a result of business 
 combinations 4,936 4,344 372 9,652 

Disposals 0 0 0 

as of 31st december 4,936 4,344 927 10,207 

depreciations as of 1st january 2013 0 0 442 442 

additions 0 0 62 62 

additions as a result of business 
 combinations 0 0 0 0 

Disposals 0 0 0 0 

as of 31st december 0 0 504 504 

net carrying amount as of 12/31/2013 4,936 4,344 424 9,704 

4.  notes to tHe consolidated balance 
sHeet

(18) intangible assets

the goodwill disclosed results from the merger with one 

Group, see also note 3, and from 1 january 2014 it has 

been allocated to the “one Group” reporting segment 

for the purposes of impairment testing (as the relevant 

cash-generating unit).

as part of impairment testing, the value in use deter-

mined for this segment was higher than the carrying 

amount. This calculation is based on forecast cash flows, 

which have been derived from the forecast approved by 

management for the next five years, and also the em-

pirical figures previously available for One Group. The 

discount rate is 12 % for the detailed forecast phase, and 

11 % (after considering a growth discount of 1 %) for the 

long-term planning phase, and reflects the specific risks 

of this cash-generating unit. the discount rate was identi-

fied using the CAPM model based on current market data 

and estimates. Impairment testing did not result in any 

impairment as of the balance sheet date.

the intangible assets shown are not subject to any prop-

erty restrictions or restraints on disposal.

(19) investment ProPerties

investment properties 2013

k€

2012

k€

costs of acquisition as of 
1st january

18,235 18,535 

additions (0) 7 

Disposals 760 306 

as of 31st december 17,475 18,235 

depreciations and 
impairments as of 1st 
january

3,363 3,079 

additions (587) 284 

as of 31st december 2,776 3,363 

net carrying amount 
as of 01/01/

14,872 15,456 

net carrying amount 
as of 12/31/

14,699 14,872 

rented apartments and shop units are disclosed in the 

item “Investment properties”. total rental income of 

k€ 741 (previous year: k€ 785) was recorded in the 

income for the period. expenses of k€ 205 (previous 

year: k€ 210) were incurred for maintenance for the 

rented property. expenses for vacant properties were 

of minor importance, as was also the case in the pre-

vious year. 

There are several land charges for the loans to finance 

the investment properties and in connection with loan 

liabilities assumed by Dr. josef l. Kastenberger. further, 

claims arising from leases on these properties were as-

signed to various banks as security. We refer to subs. 31, 

“financial liabilities to banks”, in these notes and to subs. 

41, “transactions with related parties”.

(20) ProPerty, Plant and equiPment

Furnitures and fittings 2013

k€

2012

k€

costs of acquisition 
as of 1st january

1,411 1,345 

additions 83 66 

additions as a result of 
business combinations

129 0 

Disposals 0 0 

as of 31st december 1,623 1,411 

depreciations 
as of 1st january

1,125 997 

additions 105 128 

Disposals 0 0 

as of 31st december 1,230 1,125 

net carrying amount 
as of 01/01/

285 348 

net carrying amount 
as of 12/31/

393 285 

 

the property, plant and equipment shown are not subject 

to any property restrictions or restraints on disposal. 
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(24)  ProPerties and equivalent rigHts witH 

finisHed buildings

The reported properties and equivalent rights with fin-

ished buildings pertain to a flat and motor vehicle parking 

spaces in the amount of k€ 640 (previous year: k€ 640). 

(25)  accounts receivable from tHe sale of 

 ProPerty

accounts receiv-
able from the sale of 
 property

12/31/2013

k€

12/31/2012

k€

Gross value of accounts 
receivable from property 
sales

4,672 3,919

Specific allowances (356) (649)

total 4,316 3,270 

the valuation allowances for receivables from the sale of 

property have developed as follows:

development of value 
adjustments on ac-
counts receivable from 
the sale of
property

2013

k€

2012

k€

as of 01/01/ 649 4 

additions 29 645 

Disposal 0 0 

release 322 0 

as of 12/31/ 356 649 

the age structure of the receivables from the sale of 

property is as follows:

(21) investments in associates

because of its percentage share in joint ventures, the fol-

lowing values are allocable to the Group:

attributable values of 
associates accounted 
for using the equity 
method

12/31/2013

k€

12/31/2012

k€

non-current assets 34 297

current assets 6,039 23,777

current liabilities 5,755 20,949

non-current liabilities 38 26

sales revenue 11,091 21,874

revenue 76 23

expenses 9,177 17,710

as in the previous year, there are no unrecognised pro-

portional losses in the financial year from joint ventures 

carried under equity method accounting. as of the bal-

ance sheet date, as in the previous year, there are also no 

accumulated unrecognised losses. 

the changes in the carrying amounts for joint ventures 

are as follows:

associates accounted 
for using the equity 
method

2013

k€

2012

k€

costs of acquisition 
as of 01/01/

2,807 2,966 

additions 1,990 2,757 

Disposals 1,929 2,916 

as of 12/31/ 2,868 2,807 

carrying amount 01/01/ 2,807 2,966 

carrying amount 12/31/ 2,868 2,807 

the proportional changes in equity in joint ventures meas-

ured at equity are recognised under additions and disposals.

(22) otHer investments

the other investments in the amount of k€ 37 (previous 

year: k€ 38) relate to shares in non-listed real estate com-

panies, generally of 6.0 % of voting rights, for which the 

fair value cannot be reliably determined due to the lack 

of an active market or other information which indicates 

a market value. the investments are carried at amortised 

cost, since a fair value cannot be reliably measured for 

the investments as of the balance sheet date.

(23)  ProPerties and equivalent rigHts witH 

unfinisHed buildings

the disclosure relates to the group’s projects under con-

struction in the greater munich region and one project in 

berlin for one Group.

During the period under review, impairment in the 

amount of k€ 380 (previous year: k€ 2,693) and write-ups 

in the amount of k€ 1,970 (previous year: k€ 0) were per-

formed, which are recorded in each case under changes 

in inventories. the carrying amount of these invento-

ries recognised at fair value less costs to sell comes to 

k€ 6,437 (previous year: k€ 2,960) after impairment).

from the inventories, according to the company’s esti-

mates, expected carrying amounts of approximately € 52 

million (31 December 2012: approximately € 53 million) 

will be realised only after more than twelve months. 

analysis of the nonimpaired
accounts
receivable from the sale
of property

neither 
impaired 

nor 
overdue 

of which overdue and non-impaired

carrying
amount

< 90 
days

90 - 180 
days

180 - 360 
days

> 360 
days

k€ k€ k€ k€ k€ k€

as of
12/31/2013

as of
12/31/2013

as of
12/31/2013

as of
12/31/2013

as of
12/31/2013

as of
12/31/2013

accounts receivable
from the sale of property

4,316 4,275 38 0 2 0

as of
12/31/2012

as of
12/31/2012

as of
12/31/2012

as of
12/31/2012

as of
12/31/2012

as of
12/31/2012

accounts receivable
from the sale of property

3,270 3,268 0 1 1 0
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as regards receivables from the sale of property that are 

neither impaired nor in default of payment, there are as 

of the balance sheet date no signs indicating that the 

debtors will fail to meet their payment obligations. the 

receivables from the sale of property are to some extent 

secured through bank guarantees. the Group is not per-

mitted to sell them without a payment default by their 

owners or to pass them on as security.

(26)  otHer accounts receivable and financial 

assets 

other accounts 
 receivable and  
financial assets

12/31/2013

k€

12/31/2012

k€

prepayments for property 
purchases

7,000 7,000 

accounts receivable from 
the sale of shares

6,311 2,707 

security deposits 3,042 3,038 

creditors with debit 
 balances

1,732 967 

accounts receivable from 
related parties

1,502 6,284 

accounts receivable from 
other investments

517 6,239 

other 1,995 1,386 

total 22,098 27,621 

Deposits mostly comprise cash deposits provided for 

rental agreements and warranty guarantees.

Other receivables and financial assets include financial 

assets with a total amount of k€ 13,103 (previous year: 

k€ 19,235).

(27) casH 

cash 12/31/2013

k€

12/31/2012

k€

bank 32,299 24,718 

cash in hand 4 1 

total 32,303 24,719 

the cash comprise bank balances with a remaining ma-

turity of no more than three months together with cash 

on hand.

cash in the amount of k€ 2,039 (previous year: k€ 806) 

is due to jK Wohnbau fonds I beteiligungs Gmbh & co. 

KG, proreal Deutschland fonds Gmbh & co. KG, pro-

real Deutschland fonds 2 Gmbh & co. KG and proreal 

Deutschland fonds 3 Gmbh & co. KG and the group can 

only avail of these funds for specific projects, as these 

funds were exclusively provided for investments in pro-

ject developments for these fund companies.

In connection with the financing of existing real estate 

holdings and project companies, a credit balance in the 

amount of k€ 3,756 (previous year: k€ 2,245) was pledged 

to the lending banks on 31 December 2013 for the duration 

of the loan agreement. In addition, there are further access 

restrictions for the purpose of securing guarantees. as of 

the balance sheet date, the Group had free access to k€ 

12,393 (previous year: k€ 11,762) in liquid funds.

(28) subscribed caPital

subscribed capital as of 31 December 2013 amounts to 

k€ 20,764, unchanged from last year’s balance sheet 

date. It is divided into 20,764,000 no-par-value, fully 

paid-up shares.

the acquisition of one Group as of 31 December 2013 was 

performed as part of a non-cash capital increase against 

the issue of 3,000,000 new shares of IsarIa Wohnbau 

aG from authorised capital. It was entered into the com-

mercial register on 11 february 2014. the capital increase 

only becomes legally effective from this date. Given this 

background, the non-cash capital increase (in the amount 

of the total acquisition costs for one Group of k€ 8,700) 

was disclosed under a separate item under equity on the 

balance sheet date “Deposits made to execute the re-

solved capital increase”. transaction costs for this non-

cash capital increase were already deducted directly from 

equity in the amount of k€ 18 in fiscal year 2013. With 

regard to these transaction costs, income tax advantages 

of k€ 0 had to be considered, which means that a total 

amount of k€ 18 is carried in the statement of changes in 

shareholders’ equity.

as of the balance sheet date, the managing board had 

been authorized until to 22 March 2017, by way of a reso-

lution by the General meeting on 23 march 2012, to in-

crease the share capital with supervisory board’s approval, 

one or more times by up to k€ 10,382 against cash and/or 

non-cash contributions, including the possibility to exclude 

shareholders’ subscription rights (Authorized Capital 2012). 

the authorisation was used after the balance sheet date in 

the amount of the capital increase against non-cash contri-

butions performed in order to acquire one Group, with the 

result that on the date of these financial statements there 

is still authorised capital of k€ 7,382.

In addition, the company’s share capital has been con-

ditionally increased by way of a resolution by the Gen-

eral meeting on 23 march 2012 by up to k€ 10,382. the 

Managing Board is authorized, with the approval of the 

supervisory board, to issue bearer convertible bonds or 

bonds with warrants or a combination of these instru-

ments up to 22 march 2017, with a total amount of up 

to k€ 100,000 with or without a limited term, for a total 

of up to 10,382,000 bearer shares of IsarIa Wohnbau aG 

(conditional capital 2012.

The additions to reserves in fiscal year 2013 resulted 

from the assumption of guarantees by josef l. Kasten-

berger and JK Holding GmbH to benefit the group, in ad-

dition to the waiver of receivables already mentioned 

under note 3 and the addition to reserves from a cor-

porate acquisition also mentioned under note 3. the 

transferred sums in the amount of k€ 91 (previous year: 

k€ 744) are aligned to such risk-adequate compensation 

as should be paid to outside third parties in return for 

assuming guarantees. a contradictory effect had the dif-

ference also described under note 3 from the compari-

son of acquisition costs with the carrying amounts of the 

minority interests disposed of from the acquisition of 

an interest without a change of status in the amount of 

k€ -2,855 (previous year: 0).

(29)  comPensation liabilities to sHareHolders 

in general PartnersHiPs

altogether, short- and long-term compensation liabilities 

to shareholders in general partnerships comprise the fol-

lowing as of the balance sheet date:

compensation liabili-
ties to shareholders in 
general partnership

12/31/2013

k€

12/31/2012

k€

liabilities to general 
partners of the proreal 
Deutschland fonds

47,712 0 

liabilities to general part-
ners of the jK Wohnbau 
fonds I beteiligungs Gmbh 
& co. KG

10,976 31,232 

partnerfonds "Kapital für 
den mittelstand" anlage 
Gmbh & co.KG

0 3,324 

hfs helvetic financial 
services aG 

0 3,967 

josef l. Kastenberger 0 2,712 

other 8 538 

total 58,696 41,772 
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(30)  financial liabilities from silent ParticiPa-

tions, sHareHolder loans and otHer forms 

of caPital Provision

Altogether, current and non-current financial liabilities 

from silent participations, shareholder loans, and other 

forms of capital provision comprise the following:

financial liabilities from 
silent participations, 
shareholder loans
and other forms of 
 capital provision

12/31/2013

k€

12/31/2012

k€

STRATOS Mezzanine Fonds 
der hansaInvest, Wol-
lerau/Schweiz

43,929 43,929 

little rock business corp., 
panama city/republic of 
panama

3,500 0 

one project Develop-
ment Gmbh (proreal 
Deutschland fonds), 
hamburg

0 2,278 

corporate bond 0 2,000 

other 18 18 

total 47,447 48,225 

The recognised financial liabilities relate above all to 

property-related financing. All liabilities are allocated ex-

clusively to the “other financial liabilities” category. The 

interest rates for the recognised financial liabilities lie be-

tween 8.0 % and 23.0 % (previous year: between 8.0 % 

and 23.0 %). 

The residual maturity of the financial liabilities from si-

lent participations, shareholder loans, and other forms of 

capital provision is as follows:

financial 
liabilities

remain-
ing term
< 1 year

remain-
ing term

1 - 5 
years

remain-
ing term
> 5 years

k€ k€ k€ k€

12/31/
2013

financial liabilities 
from silent 
participations, 
shareholder
loans and other 
forms of capital 
provision

47,447 47,447 0 0 

12/31/
2012

financial liabilities 
from silent 
participations, 
shareholder
loans and other 
forms of capital 
provision

48,225 48,225 0 0 

(31) financial liabilities to banks

Altogether, the current and non-current financial liabili-

ties to banks have the following residual maturities:

financial 
liabilities

remain-
ing term
< 1 year

remain-
ing term

1 - 5 
years

remain-
ing term
> 5 years

k€ k€ k€ k€

12/31/
2013

financial liabilities 
to banks

27,637 12,282 7,199 8,156 

12/31/
2012

financial liabilities 
to banks

29,940 20,622 1,162 8,156 

The current financial liabilities to banks are mainly for 

property-related project development plans. the non-

current financial liabilities are, as of the balance sheet 

date, largely for financing investment properties. 

the liabilities to the limited partners of proreal 

Deutschland fonds Gmbh & co. KG, proreal Deutschland 

fonds 2 Gmbh & co. KG and proreal Deutschland fonds 

3 Gmbh & co. KG are limited partners’ interests by fund 

investors in the form of participating interests and loans 

granted to project companies.

the liabilities to limited partners in jK Wohnbau fonds I 

beteiligungs Gmbh & co. KG are the limited partnership 

interests of the fund’s investors in the form of atypical 

silent participations in project companies.

the liability to the partnerfonds Kapital für den mittel-

stand anlage Gmbh & co. KG in the previous year is the 

allocable share from jK vertriebs aG & co. KG, which was 

fully settled during the year under review by exercising a 

call option for the limited partners’ shares.

hfs helvetic financial services aG has sold its limited 

partner’s shares held in various project companies, in-

cluding the resulting profit entitlements in ISARIA Wohn-

bau aG due to it as a result and previously carried under 

compensation liabilities to shareholders in partnerships 

(see also the comments under note 3).

the residual maturities of the compensation liabilities to 

shareholders in general partnerships are as follows:

financial 
 liabilities

remain-
ing term
< 1 year

remain-
ing term

1 - 5 
years

remain-
ing term
> 5 years

k€ k€ k€ k€

12/31/
2013

compensation 
liabilities to 
shareholders
in general 
 partnership

58,696 10,983 47,712 0 

12/31/
2012

compensation 
liabilities to 
shareholders
in general 
 partnership

41,772 25,209 16,562 0 
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(35) otHer Provisions

altogether, other short- and long-term provisions have 

developed as follows:

other provisions

k€

warran-
ties

other 
 provisions

total

as of 01/01/2013 2,296 2,226 4,522 

additions 348 651 999 

consumption 0 1,014 1,014 

reversal 346 3 349 

Interest effects 80 82 162 

as of 31/12/2013 2,378 1,943 4,320 

thereof current 201 1,942 2,143 

thereof non-current 2,177 0 2,177 

provisions for warranty claims are formed on the basis of 

past loss experience or estimated future losses. there are 

no guarantee or warranty liabilities that exceed custom-

ary guarantee or warranty liabilities. the other provisions 

include for the most part provisions for litigation risks.

5.  notes on tHe consolidated casH flow 
statement

(36) consolidated casH flow statement

The cash flow statement shows how the Group’s cash has 

changed in the course of the year under review through 

inflows and outflows of funds. In conformance with IAS 7, 

“Statement of cash flows”, a distinction is made between 

cash flows from current business activities, investment 

activities, and financing activities. The cash in the cash 

flow statement exclusively comprises the freely available 

cash. If this is added to the cash with restricted availabil-

ity in the amount of k€ 19,910 (previous year: k€ 12,957), 

this results in the cash disclosed on the balance sheet. 

this basis of presentation has been changed compared 

to the previous year. as a result, compared to the previ-

ous year the cash flow from operating activities and the 

downturn in receivables from the sale of land and other 

trade receivables and current receivables has fallen by 

k€ 4,425.

the other non-cash income in the amount of k€ 624 (pre-

vious year: k€ 4,366) relates to an adjustment to assets 

at fair value (step-up). In the previous year, this income 

mostly stemmed from the deconsolidation of property 

companies (see also note 12, other operating income).

the acquisition of one Group, performed on 31 December 

2013, does not impact the consolidated cash flow state-

ment, as this merger was exclusively financed by issu-

ing 3,000,000 shares of IsarIa Wohnbau aG. the item 

cash forms the sole exception. this item is included under 

business combinations according to Ifrs 3 less cash re-

ceived, in the amount of k€ 5,728. 

 

6. segment rePorting

at the balance sheet date the IsarIa Wohnbau Group 

comprises three segments: “new Developments”, “revi-

talisation” and “other”. the segments differ in their ser-

vice profiles and their target customer groups. Transac-

tions between segments are recognised according to Ifrs 

accounting principles. the activities of the jK Wohnbau 

Group are limited to Germany or the greater munich area, 

and geographical segmentation is considered unneces-

sary for that reason. the business activities of the seg-

ments may be summarised as follows: 

•  The service profile of the “New Developments” seg-

ment ranges from acquiring, purchasing and, if nec-

essary, clearing land to the subsequent planning and 

development of the project and its realisation through 

construction to dividing up the structure in accordance 

with the German condominium act (Wohnungseigen-

tumsgesetz) and selling the apartments and buildings 

to private and institutional buyers. this segment is the 

on the balance sheet date the Group has access to un-

used credit lines in the amount of k€ 1,874 (previous year: 

k€ 221) earmarked for project development. the Group 

pays no commitment fee for unused credit lines. the in-

terest rate for credit lines when used is between 2.71 % 

and 6.0 % (previous year: between 3.3 % and 6.0 %) for 

the fixed-rate loans or, for one variable-rate loan, the 

euribor reference interest rate plus 2.6 % (previous year: 

euribor plus 2.6 %).

assets with the following net carrying amounts were 

pledged as collateral for the Group’s existing financial li-

abilities to banks: 

12/31/2013

k€

12/31/2012

k€

Secured financial liabilities 
to banks

22,152 24,185

net carrying amount of the 
mortgaged inventories

45,050 37,746

net carrying amount of 
the mortgaged investment 
properties

14,699 14,872

the assets pledged as collateral can be realised by the 

lenders if the Group fails to meet its interest and principal 

obligations on its financial liabilities.

(32) otHer liabilities

the other current liabilities comprise the following:

other liabilities 12/31/2013

k€

12/31/2012

k€

accrued interests 5,572 2,797 

taxes and duties 1,972 1,816 

sales tax liabilities 710 1,842 

liabilities to related parties 0 766 

other liabilities 1,665 955 

total 9,919 8,176 

The other current liabilities include financial liabilities in 

the amount of k€ 5,572 (previous year: k€ 4,313). the 

remaining term of the other liabilities was less than one 

year, as was the case in the previous year.

(33) trade accounts Payable

the trade payables due within one year amount to 

k€ 15,127 (previous year: k€ 10,113) as of the balance 

sheet date.

(34) liabilities from Payments made on account

the liabilities from payments made on account pertain 

to down payments by buyers for residential units not yet 

handed over. as of 31 December 2013 there were liabili-

ties in the amount of k€ 46,988 (previous year: k€ 15,458).
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typical property development business for new prop-

erties.

•  The “Revitalization segment” includes spans acquisi-

tions of existing properties, the subsequent planning 

and realization, and in some cases expansion if required 

(e.g., by adding additional stories) for these properties, 

through to breaking up and selling the apartments to 

private buyers as owner-occupiers or as a capital invest-

ment, and also to institutional investors. In this seg-

ment, so-called “privatization”, or the break-up of ex-

isting residential properties into residential units with 

the renovated or existing units then being sold, is not 

further pursued. Instead, now only existing vacant com-

mercial properties are converted to residential proper-

ties, preferentially using the “app.artments” brand.

•  The “Other” segment mostly includes rental income 

from real estate.

the acquisition of one Group performed as of 31 De-

cember 2013 does not yet impact segment reporting 

on the balance sheet date, as this only includes income 

and expenses during the period under review and no 

assets and liabilities. however, the income and ex-

penses from one Group are not included in the consoli-

dated financial statements as of 31 December 2013, as 

the date of first time consolidation is the same as the 

balance sheet date.

The revenues and segment results for financial years 

2013 and 2012 break down as follows:

in k€ new devel-
opments

revitalisation other consolidation/
reconciliation

group

sales revenue - external

01/01 - 12/31/2013 32,912 1,914 2,879 0 37,705
01/01 - 12/31/2012 68,087 9,493 1,667 0 79,247

sales revenue - internal

01/01 - 12/31/2013 0 0 0 0 0
01/01 - 12/31/2012 0 0 0 0 0

cHange in inventories

01/01 - 12/31/2013 -345 5,039 0 0 4,694
01/01 - 12/31/2012 -18,470 729 0 0 -17,741

gross Profit

01/01 - 12/31/2013 32,567 6,953 2,879 0 42,400
01/01 - 12/31/2012 49,617 10,222 1,667 0 61,506

dePreciations

01/01 - 12/31/2013 -160 0 -298 0 -458
01/01 - 12/31/2012 -376 -1 -539 0 -916

ebit

01/01 - 12/31/2013 673 1,370 926 0 2,970
01/01 - 12/31/2012 9,158 3,760 -308 -24 12,586

financial income

01/01 - 12/31/2013 979 5 2 -158 829
01/01 - 12/31/2012 1,265 34 568 -216 1,652

financial exPenses

01/01 - 12/31/2013 -9,569 -2,879 -931 158 -13,221
01/01 - 12/31/2012 -15,469 -5,143 -948 216 -21,345

result of associates accounted for using tHe equity metHod

01/01 - 12/31/2013 1,990 0 0 0 1,990
01/01 - 12/31/2012 4,539 0 0 0 4,539

income tax exPenses/income

01/01 - 12/31/2013 8,046 63 407 0 8,516
01/01 - 12/31/2012 4,075 64 -377 0 3,762

result after taxes on income

01/01 - 12/31/2013 2,119 -1,440 405 0 1,084
01/01 - 12/31/2012 3,568 -1,284 -1,065 -24 1,195

valuation allowances (-) / write-uPs (+) on inventories and receivables

01/01 - 12/31/2013 -86 1,970 0 0 1,883
01/01 - 12/31/2012 603 -3,423 0 0 -2,820

of the external revenues in the previous year, k€ 9,203 

is due to an institutional investor in connection with a 

global sale. this corresponds to around 12 % of total rev-

enues in the previous year. these sales are attributable to 

the revitalisation segment.
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7. otHer notes

(37)  contingent liabilities and otHer financial 

liabilities

as of December 31, 2012 there was a contingent liabil-

ity in connection with a guarantee by IsarIa Wohnbau 

aG in favor of a joint venture company in the amount 

of k€ 3,071 for a loan that has already been redeemed 

but not yet settled. settlement of this loan as of 30 

june 2013 also means that this contingent liability no 

longer applies. In addition, as of 31 December 2013, as 

was also the case in the previous year, there are con-

tingent liabilities from investment properties in the to-

tal amount of k€ 4,700 as collateral for liabilities from 

loans, which mr. josef l. Kastenberger took over as part 

of a non-cash capital increase from IsarIa Wohnbau 

Group. the Group does not believe that these contin-

gent liabilities will be used.

the managing board has formed provisions of a suf-

ficient amount for risks from litigation and tax risks, to 

the extent that these can be recognized. In total, provi-

sions for litigation risks were formed in the amount of 

around € 1.5 million (previous year: around € 2.0 million). 

a further € 1.5 million (previous year 1.9 million) were 

already considered in this regard in trade payables. the 

maximum expected risk is around € 9.7 million (previous 

year: around € 7.2 million). however, the company does 

not expect to be held liable for an amount in excess of the 

amount of the provisions formed.

As of 31 December 2013 there were significant financial 

obligations in connection with property acquisitions that 

had not yet been completed in the amount of k€ 21,000 

(previous year: k€ 21,000). the due dates for these re-

maining purchase price instalments depend on conditions 

for which their occurrence depends on reaching certain 

development stages under construction law. the com-

pany believes that the next development stage will be 

reached in the summer of 2014, causing the next pur-

chase price instalment of k€ 7,000 to become due, how-

ever that the remaining development stages will not oc-

cur before the fall of 2015.

In addition, there is a financial liability from a purchase 

price increase for a plot of land already acquired in the 

amount of k€ 2,500 (previous year: k€ 2,500), which will 

become due when the new development plan is present-

ed. this is not expected to become due before the end 

of 2014.

Further, there are financial liabilities from acquisitions of 

real estate companies which have already been certified 

but have not yet been completed on the balance sheet 

date. the purchase prices in this regard total k€ 63. on 

the date of the acquisition of the real estate companies, 

which is expected during the course of 2014, real estate 

financing of around € 49 million (carrying amounts on 31 

December 2013) will be taken over.

(38) notes on leasing agreements

sale-anD-lease-bacK transactIons

under a contract dated 21 December 2011, the schill-

erstrasse property was sold to an institutional investor. 

under the terms of the sale, the IsarIa Wohnbau Group 

agreed to lease back the property for a period of five 

years at a contractually agreed rent and to sublease 

it itself. the buyer also has the option to extend this 

blanket lease by another five years. the IsarIa Wohn-

bau Group lets the property on its own account through 

a project company set up for the purpose, thus act-

ing under this arrangement as both lessee and lessor. 

the blanket lease entered into on usual market terms 

is classifiable as an operating leasing agreement. the 

resulting fixed lease obligations and rental income are 

included in the tables presented below pertaining to 

the leasing agreements.

the Group as lessee

the group’s obligations from non-terminable leasing 

agreements relate to rented office premises and other 

operating and office equipment, in addition to the gen-

eral rental agreement already mentioned. the expenses 

from operating leases recognized in income through 

profit and loss totaled k€ 2,608 (previous year: k€ 1,807) 

in the year under review. of this total k€ 2,010 (previ-

ous year: k€ 1,173) is due to a sub-rental (general rental 

agreement)

non-terminable operating leasing agreements give rise 

to the following future obligations:

minimum lease  
payments

12/31/2013

k€

12/31/2012

k€

Due date within  
one year

2,672 2,605

Due date in between 
one and five years

5,866 8,502

Due date after more  
than five years

0 0

total 8,538 11,108

If the purchaser of the schillerstraße property uses his ex-

tension option for the general rental agreement for a fur-

ther five years, the total minimum leasing payments will 

increase by k€ 11,417 to k€ 19,955. In this case, the group 

would have the right to sub-let for a further five years.

the Group as lessor

the Group acts as lessor in operating leasing arrange-

ments. such action consists mainly in letting residential 

and retail units in rented real estate held for investment 

purposes. the Group expects the following payments in 

the next years under non-terminable leasing and lease 

agreements:

minimum lease  
payments

12/31/2013

k€

12/31/2012

k€

Due date within  
one year

1,113 1,051

Due date in between 
one and five years

246 721

Due date after more  
than five years

0 0

summe 1,359 1,772
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IFRS 7.25 requires that, for each class of financial instru-

ment, a fair value be disclosed in way that allows com-

parison with the corresponding carrying amount. the 

following notes deal with, in particular, how fair values 

are measured for financial instruments that are not to 

be recognised in the balance sheet at fair value but for 

which, according to Ifrs 7, a fair value must be stated in 

addition.

•  Cash and cash equivalents, trade accounts receivable 

and payable, and other receivables and liabilities have 

for the most part short maturities, for which reason 

their carrying amounts as of the balance sheet date 

are approximately equal to their fair values 

•  For variable interest rate loans, assuming no change in 

creditworthiness, market value comparisons are omit-

ted because of the regular adjusting of the interest 

rate on the loan to market values. an explicit disclo-

sure is omitted also in the case of fixed interest rate 

loans with short-term maturities, since in this case the 

carrying amount represents an approximation of the 

market value. For fixed interest rate loans with long-

assessment
category as

per ias 39

12/31/2013 

carrying
amount

12/31/2013 

fair value

12/31/2012 

carrying
amount

12/31/2012 

fair value

assets in k€

financial assets – other investments afs 37 n/a 38 n/a

accounts receivable from the sale of property lar 4,316 4,316 3,270 3,270

Other accounts receivable and financial assets lar 13,103 13,103 19,235 19,235

cash and cash equivalents lar 32,303 32,303 24,719 24,719

liabilities in k€

compensation liabilities to shareholders in 
general partnership

flac 58,696 58,696 41,772 41,772

financial liabilities from silent participations, 
shareholder loans and other forms of capital 
provision

flac 47,447 48,149 48,225 49,404

financial liabilities to banks flac 27,637 27,797 29,940 30,122

trade accounts payable flac 15,127 15,127 10,113 10,113

Other financial liabilities flac 5,572 5,572 4,313 4,313

net income or net losses from loans and accounts re-

ceivable comprise changes in valuation allowances, 

profits or losses from derecognition, cash receipts, and 

reversals of impairment losses from loans and receiva-

bles originally written off. In the period under review, as 

in the previous year, no interest income was collected 

from written-down trade receivables.

net income  
from financial
instruments per  
 assessment
category

from interest from subsequent assessment from disposal net result

changes in fair 
values impairment

2013
k€

2012
k€

2013
k€

2012
k€

2013
k€

2012
k€

2013
k€

2012
k€

2013
k€

2012
k€

financial assets  
available for sale (afs) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

loans and accounts 
receivable (lar) 80 1,024 0 0 -803 0 106 103 -616 1,128

financial liabilities 
measured at amortised 
costs (flac)

-12,807 -19,740 0 0 0 0 0 0 -12,807 -19,740

total -12,727 -18,716 0 0 -803 0 106 103 -13,423 -18,612

(39)  additional notes concerning financial 

instruments

carryInG amounts, faIr values accorDInG to 

measurement cateGory

the following table shows by measurement category ac-

cording to Ias 39 the carrying amounts and fair values 

for the financial assets and liabilities recognised in the 

consolidated financial statements:

term maturities, if there are significant differences 

from the carrying amount, a fair value is calculated for 

comparison. the current interest parameters and indi-

vidual credit standings are accounted for in the form of 

prevailing creditworthiness or liquidity spreads.

•  The financial liabilities from silent participations, 

shareholder loans and other forms of capital provision 

consist primarily of liabilities from atypically silent and 

typically silent participations, of debentures in the 

form of subordinate notes, and of loans for individual 

property companies. for these liabilities the company 

prepared a market value comparison and calculated 

differences to the carrying amount on this basis.

net Income from fInancIal Instruments

net income by measurement category is as follows:
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(40) grouP risk management

the risk management system for the IsarIa Wohnbau 

Group is an integral component of the IsarIa Wohnbau 

Group’s business practice, and spans the individual organi-

sational workflows at various levels and all types of risk. 

business forecasting and controlling processes are a major 

component. All organizational units perform risk identifica-

tion and evaluation tasks. risks with similar content are 

grouped together to form risk types, for example risks in 

the regulatory environment, financial risks, technical risks, 

or project risks. these are then communicated regularly 

to the responsible decision-maker, who controls the risks. 

macroeconomIc rIsKs

Given the regional focus of the Group’s business opera-

tions, the economic situation in Germany and in the real 

estate market in munich are extremely important for the 

Group. Inherent in the domestic economy are risks result-

ing from the legal and tax regimes, interest rate levels, 

the general direction of prices, and supply and demand 

trends in the rental and real estate market. the Group has 

no control over these factors. It can only anticipate and 

adjust to them.

fInancIal rIsK manaGement

The Group is exposed to various financial risks, which re-

sult from the group’s operating and financial activities. 

The most important financial risks result from the credit-

worthiness and ability to pay on the part of the group’s 

counterparties, from the liquidity risk and from changes 

in interest rates. The Managing Board defines the basic 

features of the financial policy and these are monitored 

by the supervisory board. the Group’s controlling Depart-

ment is responsible for implementing the financial policy 

and ongoing risk management. certain transactions re-

quire the prior approval of the managing or supervisory 

board, who are also informed on a regular basis of the 

scope and amount of the current risks.. 

creDIt rIsK (Default rIsK)

credit risks arise from the possibility that counterpar-

ties to a transaction are unable to satisfy their obliga-

tions and that the Group will incur a financial loss as 

a result. the maximum credit risk (default risk), disre-

garding netting agreements and any additional security 

or other credit enhancements, is equivalent to no more 

than the carrying amount of the Group’s financial assets 

plus the contingent liabilities already described. the 

Group allows for credit risk by recognising impairments 

accordingly. as a rule, credit risk is reduced through di-

versification, which is achieved through a large number 

of debtors. credit risk is further lessened by collecting 

down payments from buyers. 

on a historical basis, the company does not consider 

the risk of bad debt loss to be great. Impairment pro-

visions are recognised for doubtful debts. In the case 

of uncollectible accounts, they are written off com-

pletely. trade receivables, which, within the Group, 

relate mainly to receivables from property sales, are 

subject to active risk management with a focus on cur-

rent receivables. the objective of receivables manage-

ment is to improve the Group’s liquidity through an 

optimised use of assets while an acceptable risk level 

is maintained. the danger of risk concentrations may 

be considered low, since, as a rule, most of the trade 

receivables are from buyers of residential units. these 

receivables are characterised by a larger number of 

distinct debtors. an exception in this regard is given 

by the group’s receivables from josef l. Kastenberger, 

which totaled k€ 1,502 on the balance sheet date (prior 

to considering contradictory liabilities) (previous year: 

k€ 5,971). the group believes that these receivables 

are not impaired as a result of the collateral provided, 

as was also the case in the previous year. for further 

details please see note 41 related party transactions.

lIquIDIty rIsKs

Liquidity risks occur when short-term financial liabilities 

exceed short-term financial assets. Liquidity risk is con-

trolled with the use of Group-wide financial planning 

tools and is tracked continuously.

In industry-specific terms, property developer financ-

ing is generally only granted with short terms of a few 

months, although the terms of the project develop-

ments and construction activities are substantially long-

er. as a result of this risk-averse behavior by lenders, 

financing generally has to be prolonged during an activ-

ity. lenders use factors such as industry experience by 

the project developer and trust in the projects under de-

velopment when making their decisions to extend this 

financing. The general situation on the market and the 

forecast development continue to play a role in prolong-

ing the financing. 

In 2014 further key loans will become due for extension 

in the IsarIa Wohnbau Group, and these play a key role 

from a liquidity perspective. the current liquidity forecast 

includes bonds of around € 44 million having to be pro-

longed. In addition, a bank loan of around € 8 million has 

to be prolonged in september 2014, as has already been 

the case on several occasions in the past. In addition, it 

is still planned to fully repay jK fonds I by the middle 

of 2014 for a total mount of almost € 11 million and to 

repay/reschedule the expensive mezzanine financing of 

up to € 44 million.

The key liquidity outflows are thus the ongoing liabili-

ties of ISARIA Wohnbau AG, the financing costs and the 

planned repayment of the mezzanine and fund capital. 

Liquidity inflows are expected in particular from partic-

ipations by one Group, a new corporate bond and the 

pending handovers from project companies.

It was possible to repay or extend all of the bonds and 

loans due in fiscal year 2013. 

the acquisition of one Group at the end of the year 

means a significant reduction in financial risks in many 

respects for ISARIA Wohnbau. Various financial instru-

ments, which are all complex, will be replaced by a uni-

form structure. Inflows are now reliable and can be cal-

culated. The costs are, in some cases, significantly lower 

than the previous exposure.

As it has been possible to successfully extend financ-

ing in the past and as the group’s own financing plat-

form is available, the company believes that it will be 

possible to finance the pending extensions and project 

developments and that general liquidity is secure. no 

risks classified as endangering the company’s continued 

existence have emerged, and show that risk manage-

ment is intact. 

the following table shows the contractually agreed or 

expected (undiscounted) interest and principal payments 

on the Group’s primary financial obligations. The figures 

in the table represent undiscounted payment flows. The 

interest payments on financial instruments with variable 

interest rates are based on the current interest rate as 

of the balance sheet date. Included were all instruments 

held as of 31 December 2012 and for which payments had 

already been contractually agreed. not included are pro-

jected figures for new, future liabilities. Financial liabili-

ties that are repayable at any time are always allocated 

to the earliest time period.
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contractually agreed 
interest payments 
and repayments of 
the originary finan-
cial liabilities

in k€

Cash flows 2014 Cash flows 2015 – 2018 Cash flows > 2019

carrying 
amount

12/31/
2013

interest
fix

interest
variable

repay-
ment

interest
fix

interest
variable

repay-
ment

interest
fix

interest
variable

repay-
ment

compensation liabilities 
to shareholders in 
general partnership

58,696 5,695 0 13,178 10,492 0 31,422 2,185 0 17,563 

financial liabilities from 
silent participations, 
shareholder loans and 
other forms of capital 
provision

47,447 6,600 0 47,446 0 0 0 0 0 0 

financial liabilities to 
banks 27,637 344 540 9,530 1,233 145 11,632 3,317 0 6,475 

liabilities to related 
companies
and associates

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Other financial 
 liabilities 5,572 0 0 5,572 0 0 0 0 0 0 

total 139,351 12,638 540 75,727 11,725 145 43,054 5,502 0 24,038 

contractually agreed 
interest payments 
and repayments of 
the originary finan-
cial liabilities

in k€

Cash flows 2013 Cash flows 2014 – 2017 Cash flows > 2018

carrying 
amount

12/31/
2012

interest
fix

interest
variable

repay-
ment

interest
fix

interest
variable

repay-
ment

interest
fix

interest
variable

repay-
ment

compensation liabilities 
to shareholders in 
general partnership

41,772 1,882 0 25,947 3,783 0 13,268 0 0 0 

financial liabilities from 
silent participations, 
shareholder loans and 
other forms of capital 
provision

48,225 6,582 0 48,224 0 0 0 0 0 0 

financial liabilities to 
banks 29,940 372 372 20,625 1,374 0 1,159 3,819 0 8,156 

liabilities to related 
companies
and associates

766 0 0 766 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Other financial 
 liabilities 3,547 0 0 3,547 0 0 0 0 0 0 

total 124,250 8,836 372 99,109 5,157 0 14,428 3,819 0 8,156 

In addition to the interest and principal payments shown 

here for the primary financial liabilities, there are also the 

potential payment obligations resulting from contingent 

liabilities as described above in subs. 37.

marKet rIsK (Interest rate rIsK)

a market risk results from changes in the market price of 

the Group’s financial assets and liabilities. A market risk 

can have an impact on both the Group’s financial results 

and its equity. to disclose market risks, Ifrs 7 calls for 

sensitivity analyses that show the effects of hypothetical 

changes in relevant risk variables on income and equity. 

the Group is not subject to any foreign exchange risks, 

since all of the Group’s business is transacted in euros. 

the Group is subject, however, to the risks inherent in 

changing interest rates. the periodic effects are deter-

mined by applying the hypothetical changes in risk vari-

ables to the financial instruments held as of the balance 

sheet date. It is assumed that the financial instruments 

held as of the balance sheet date are representative of 

the entire year.

Interest rate risks result from interest rate changes, which 

can have negative effects on the Group’s financial results 

and its equity. Interest rate fluctuations may result in 

changes in interest income and interest expense. moreo-

ver, the market prices of certain financial assets, liabilities 

and hedging instruments can be affected. 

the company is not exposed to market price changes re-

sulting from interest risks, as these normally occur only 

in the case of fixed-rate loans, which are not measured at 

fair value. For fixed-rate financial instruments that are not 

recognised at fair value, the company therefore omits a 

disclosure of market price sensitivity.

sensitivity analyses disclose the effects that changes 

in market interest rates have on interest payments, in-

terest income and expense, other components of profit 

or loss, or, as the case may be, on equity. the interest 

sensitivity analyses are based on the following under-

lying assumptions:

•  Changes in market interest rates for primary fixed-rate 

financial instruments affect income only when those 

instruments are measured at fair value. accordingly, 

no fixed-rate financial instruments measured at amor-

tised costs are subject to any interest rate change risks 

within the meaning of Ifrs 7.

•  Changes in market interest rates affect interest in-

come on primary, variable-rate financial instruments; 

accordingly, they also are factored in when income-

related sensitivities are calculated.

a substantial portion of the IsarIa Wohnbau Group’s 

loans are fixed-rate. For fixed-rate loans, banks can con-

tractually grant the option of adjusting the interest rate 

to changes in general conditions, in which case the inter-

est rate is not to be understood as a variable rate, since 

that would constitute a change in the terms of the loan 

and not a regular, non-contingent, immediate, prime-rate 

dependant interest rate change. a change in the market 

interest level therefore affects only variable-rate loans. 

taking into account the one (previous year: eight) loan 

contractually defined as variable-rate, a basis point shift 

of ± 100 basis points per annum was calculated in relation 

the carrying amount (cf. subs. 31, financial liabilities to 

banks). a hypothetically resulting effect on the statement 

of comprehensive income would amount in each instance 

to k€ 102 (previous year: k€ 86). loans to associate com-

panies recognised at equity were not considered.

capItal

as a joint stock corporation, the company is subject to 

the minimum capital requirements according to German 

stock corporation law. the Group is subject also to the 

customary and industry-specific minimum capital re-

quirements for the banking industry, particularly when 

it comes to financing specific real properties. These mini-
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mum capital requirements are regularly monitored, and 

they were met during the financial year, as they were in 

the previous year.

The Group defines its managed capital as group equity. 

the objectives of its capital management are:

•  The ability to ensure the Group’s continued operation 

so that it may continue to offer residential properties 

to customers and income to investors.

•  To have the financial resources that enable the Group 

to invest in areas that can generate income for inves-

tors that is commensurate with the risks incurred.

capital is monitored with the help of the equity ratio and 

net financial liabilities. These measure as follows:

12/31/2013

k€

12/31/2012

k€

compensation liabilities 
to shareholders in general 
partnership

58,696 41,772

financial liabilities 75,083 78,165

trade accounts pay-
able and other financial 
 liabilities

20,699 14,427

less cash funds -32,303 -24,719

Net financial liabilities 122,175 109,644

equity 13,606 3,009

Equity and net financial 
liabilities 135,781 112,653

equity ratio 6.0 % 1.8 %

(41)  transactions witH related comPanies and 

Persons

companies and persons are “related parties” within the 

meaning of Ias 24 when one of the parties has, directly 

or indirectly, the ability to control or significantly influ-

ence the other party.

joInt ventures

Identified as related parties were, first, the following joint 

ventures included in the consolidated financial state-

ments according to the equity method (appearing as “jK 

cor” companies in the following list):

•  JK-COR Wohnbauentwicklung GmbH

•  JK-COR Wohnbauentwicklung GmbH & Co. Wilhelm-

hale-strasse 35 KG

•  JK-COR Wohnbauentwicklung GmbH & Co. Wilhelm-

hale-strasse 45 KG

companIes unDer the sIGnIfIcant Influence of a 

major shareholDer

The following companies were subsequently identified as 

related parties on which Dr. josef l. Kastenberger was able 

to exert a significant influence in the period under review 

(called “jK holding” companies in the following list):

• JK Holding GmbH

• JK Verwaltungs GmbH 

• Hohenwaldeck Vermögensverwaltungs GmbH 

relates partIes In Key posItIons

the members of the managing and supervisory boards 

are regarded as being related parties. these were as fol-

lows in fiscal year 2013:

related Persons in key Positions

management board

michael haupt, ceo

christian Dunkelberg, coo

supervisory board

prof. Dr. raimund baumann (chairman)

robert unger (Deputy chairman, from 17. april 2013)

michael Kranich

andreas epple (until 28 january 2013 )

on 28 january 2013, supervisory board member andreas 

Epple resigned from his office. Mr. Robert Unger, attorney 

at low, berlin, was appointed by the court as a new mem-

ber of the supervisory board on 17 april, and was elected 

by the general meeting on 6 june 2013. mr. unger was 

elected deputy chairman of the supervisory board at the 

meeting of the supervisory board on 19 april 2013.

the executive board members belong to no other control-

ling bodies. the supervisory board members are mem-

bers in the following other controlling bodies:

herr prof. Dr. raimund baumann, lawyer and tax adviser, 

stuttgart

• MBS AG – chairman of the executive board

• LMT GmbH & Co. KG – chairman of the executive board 

•  Seibt &Kapp Maschinenfabrik GmbH & Co.KG - advisory 

board

•  Jessen Holding GmbH&Co KG - advisory board

herr robert unger, lawyer, berlin (from 17 april 2013)

• no further mandats

herr michael Kranich, executive Director of aeris capItal, 

Pfäffikon, Swiss

•  Park & Bellheimer AG – chairman of the executive 

board

•  ZetVisons AG – deputy chairman of the supervisory 

board

•  Leonardo Venture GmbH & KGaA – deputy chairman of 

the supervisory board

• Epple Holding GmbH – chairman of the advisory council

•  VRmagic Holding AG – supervisory board

herr andreas epple, lawyer, heidelberg (until 28 january 

2013)

•  MAG Mainzer Aufbaugesellschaft mbH - supervisory 

board
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jK-cor companIes

Income with the jK-cor companies in the amount of 

k€ 1,990 (previous year: k€ 4,539) is related mainly to 

the share of net income contained in the financial results. 

the expenses amounting to k€ 0 (previous year: k€ 12) 

are related mainly to interest expenses. as of the balance 

sheet date there were no liabilities to the jK-cor compa-

nies (previous year: k€ 569).

jK holDInG companIes

Income from the jK holding companies in the amount of 

k€ 70 (previous year: k€ 78) relates to financial income, 

the expenses of k€ 2 (previous year: k€ 3) relate to finan-

cial expenses. there are no longer any receivables (previ-

ous year: k€ 313) and liabilities (previous year: k€ 596).

remuneration for the supervisory board totaled k€ 208 in 

the past fiscal year (previous year: k€ 142).

In fiscal years 2012 and 2013 Mr. Michael Haupt rented 

two apartments from the company through to 31 march 

2013, and then to 31 December 2013 one apartment in a 

property managed by the company at a rent also paid by 

other tenants. the resulting income is carried under the 

item revenues from rental.

josef l. KastenberGer

the income carried under this position in the amount of 

k€ 372 (previous year: k€ 1,221) is mostly due to rental 

payments from Mr. Josef L. Kastenberger and financial 

income from the reversal of liabilities for compensation 

that resulted from mr. Kastenberger.

josef l. Kastenberger has assumed joint and several guar-

antees and provided other security for various financing 

agreements for the Group. as of 31 December 2013, josef 

l. Kastenberger or jK holding Gmbh, which is allocable to 

him, acted as guarantors for a total volume of k€ 6,177 

of liabilities from the group (previous year: k€ 9,443). In 

the consolidated financial statements, liability remunera-

tion in line with the risk profile for the respective financ-

ing was assumed. This resulted in financial expenses in 

the amount of k€ 91 (previous year: k€ 744) which were 

carried as deposits for expenses under reserves. In an 

agreement dated 19 December 2013, IsarIa Wohnbau 

aG waived all of the remaining guarantee liabilities for 

mr. Kastenberger. the remaining portion of the expens-

es shown in the table totalling k€ 847 (previous year: 

k€ 757) relates to expenses from the redefinition of in-

terest receivables from mr. Kastenberger. In the previous 

year, the expenses disclosed mostly comprised financial 

transactions with related parties revenue expenses accounts 
 receivable

liabilities

in k€
01/01 – 12/31/ 

2013
01/01 – 12/31/ 

2013
12/31/2013 12/31/2013

jK-cor companies 1,990 0 0 0

jK holding companies 70 2 0 0

executive and supervisory board 13 976 0 85

josef l. Kastenberger 372 847 1,502 0

total 2,445 1,824 1,502 85

in k€
01/01 – 12/31/ 

2012
01/01 – 12/31/ 

2012
12/31/2012 12/31/2012

jK-cor companies 4,539 12 0 569

jK holding companies 78 3 313 596

executive and supervisory board 10 812 0 7

josef l. Kastenberger 1,221 757 5,971 2,712

total 5,848 1,584 6,284 3,884

2013

in k€

fixed  
component

variable  
component

Fringe benefits total  
compensation

michael haupt 248 100 36 384

christian Dunkelberg 248 100 14 362

total 495 200 51 746

2012

in k€

fixed  
component

variable  
component

Fringe benefits total  
compensation

michael haupt 220 50 34 304

christian Dunkelberg 240 130 24 394

total 460 180 58 698

the following tables show the transactions with related 

parties:

executIve boarD anD supervIsory boarD

total remuneration for the members of the executive 

board amounted to k€ 746 (previous year: k€ 698). re-

muneration for the individual members of the executive 

board was as follows in the respective fiscal years:
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expenses in connection with compensation liabilities 

from mr. josef l. Kastenberger as a result of his position 

as a limited partner in real estate companies. 

the receivables of k€ 1,502 (previous year: k€ 5,971) re-

sult from the agreement reached at the end of 2013 with 

mr. Kastenberger for dealing with and settlement of all 

of the obligations due from him, in particular from pur-

chase prices from the acquisition of the minority interests 

he previously held in various project companies. these 

receivables are secured via share pledges. the liabilities 

disclosed in the previous year in the amount of k€ 2,712 

mostly comprised financial expenses in connection with 

compensation liabilities from mr. josef l. Kastenberger as 

a result of his position as a limited partner in real estate 

companies.

(42) personnel

12/31/2013 12/31/2012

number of employees 50 31

On average, there were 31 employees in fiscal year 2013 

(previous year: 29 employees). this increase is due to an 

increase in personnel in both technology/project Devel-

opment and also in commercial departments. The first-

time inclusion of One Group in the consolidated financial 

statements as of 31 December 2013 resulted in the addi-

tion of 16 employees.

(43) earnInGs per share 

earnings per share is calculated as the ratio between 

the consolidated earnings due to the shareholders of 

IsarIa Wohnbau aG and the weighted average number 

of shares in circulation in the year under review. as was 

the case in the previous year, there were no instruments 

outstanding that could dilute the earnings. as a result, 

the diluted earnings per share is identical to the basic 

earnings per share.

weighted number of
common shares 
 outstanding 
(thousands)

share capital 
and number 

of shares

weighted 
number of 

shares out-
standing

01/01/2013 20,764 20,764

12/31/2013 20,764 20,764

weighted number of 
common shares out-
standing in the financial 
year 2013 (in thousands)

20,764

calculation of earnings 
per share 2013 2012

consolidated result after 
taxes on income attribut-
able to the shareholders of 
jKW (in k€)

1,046 1,279

Weighted number of com-
mon shares outstanding 
(in thousands)

20,764 20,764

basic earnings per share 
(in €) 0.05 0.06

Diluted earnings per share 
(in €) 0.05 0.06

after the balance sheet date, the number of shares in cir-

culation increased by 3,000,000 to 23,764,000 as a result 

of the effective non-cash capital increase from the acqui-

sition of One Group. If this number of shares is fictitiously 

used to calculate the earnings per share, this results in 

earnings per share of € 0.04 for fiscal year 2013 and € 

0.05 for the previous year.

(44)  exemPtion under § 264(3) Hgb or § 264 b 

Hgb 

the following subsidiaries have made use of the exemp-

tion under § 264(3) hGb or § 264 b hGb:

• JK Wohnbau AG & Co. Objekt Karlsfeld 2 KG

• JK Wohnbau AG & Co. Objekt Karlsfeld 3 KG

• JK Wohnbau AG & Co. Objekt Maistraße KG

•  J.K. Wohnbaugesellschaft mbH & Co. Objekt Defregger-

straße KG

• J.K. Verwaltungs AG & Co. Objekt Viktoriastraße KG

• App.artments GmbH (formerly JK Management GmbH)

• JK Tower GmbH

• JK Wohnbau Objekt Am Münchfeld GmbH

• JK Wohnbau Objekt Willy-Brandt-Allee GmbH

•  Living Bogenhausen GmbH (formerly JK Wohnbau Pro-

jektgesellschaft mbh)

(45)  fees of tHe auditor of tHe consolidated 

financial statements

The auditor for fiscal year 2013, Nörenberg • Schröder 

Gmbh Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft, hamburg, 

charged fees totaling k€ 462 for fiscal year 2013 (previ-

ous year: k€ 293). of this total, k€ 405 (previous year: 

k€ 250) related to auditing services for the audit of the 

annual and consolidated financial statements, and k€ 15 

(previous year: k€ 30) related to other consulting services 

for the mabv audit. In addition, fees of k€ 42 (previous 

year: k€ 13) were charged for other services (consulting 

services). In addition, expenses of k€ 28 (previous year: 

k€ 31) were charged.

all of the stated fees and expenses are net of statutory 

vat of 19 %. the IsarIa Wohnbau Group cannot deduct 

the VAT invoiced, and it thus has to be recognized as an 

expense.

(46) events after tHe balance sHeet date

With effect from 1 january 2014 mr jan von lewinski 

joined IsarIa Wohnbau aG’s executive board as the new 

COO (Chief Operating Officer). He takes over this posi-

tion from the former coo christian Dunkelberg, whose 

contract, which has been in place since 2010 has been 

extended to the end of 2015 and who will be responsible 

for the CIO’s tasks (Chief Investment Officer) in future. 

as a result, the company will be run by a three-member 

executive board in future. michael haupt’s appointment 

as ceo and chairman of the executive bord was extended 

to the end of 2017 in february 2014.

by creating the new position of cIo, the supervisory 

board has signalled that the company is to be geared, 

once again, to expansion and acquisitions in future. the 

acquisition of one Group in hamburg, and the possible 

acquisition in munich, which is currently mostly only pos-

sible at speculative prices, led to the decision to include 

one of the largest potential residential developments in 

hamburg in january 2014. During the course of the next 

few months, a decision will be taken on whether IsarIa 

Wohnbau will thus establish a second strategic location, 

or if the project will be considered as a pure financial 

investment for One Group. As a result of the agreed confi-

dentiality, it is not possible to provide any further details 

on the property.

In february 2014 the company issued a new corporate 

bond for € 10.0 million with a term to february 2015 and 

an interest rate of 8.0 % p.a. this was fully subscribed.

the capital increase from the contribution by one Group 

was entered into the commercial register on 11 february 

2014.

Apart from this, on the date that these consolidated fi-

nancial statements were prepared, the company was not 

aware of any material events that occurred after the bal-

ance sheet date and which have a material impact on the 
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group’s business growth. the mild winter means that all 

of the construction projects are on schedule and are mak-

ing substantial progress.

(47)  declaration of conformity witH tHe ger-

man corPorate governance code

the declaration of conformity with the German corpo-

rate Governance code prescribed under § 161 aktG [ak-

tiengesetz, German Stock Corporation Act] was issued 

by the executive board and the supervisory board of 

IsarIa Wohnbau aG and has been made permanently 

available to the shareholders on the company’s Inter-

net page (www.isaria-wohnbau.de) in the Investor re-

lations section.

munich, 19 march 2014

michael haupt christian Dunkelberg jan von lewinski

spokesman of the member of the member of the

executive board/ceo executive board/cIo executive board/coo

resPonsibility statement of tHe legal 
rePresentatives

We assure to the best of our knowledge that the consoli-

dated financial statements give a true and fair view of the 

net assets, financial position and results of the Group, and 

the Group management report, includes a fair review of 

the development and performance of the business and 

the position of the Group, together with a description of 

the material opportunities and risks associated with the 

expected development of the Group.

munich, 19 march 2014

michael haupt christian Dunkelberg jan von lewinski

spokesman of the member of the member of the

executive board/ceo executive board/cIo executive board/coo
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We have audited the consolidated financial statements 

prepared by IsarIa Wohnbau aG, munich, comprising the 

statement of financial position, statement of comprehen-

sive income, statement of changes in equity, statement 

of cash flows and the notes to the financial statements, 

together with the Group management report for the fi-

nancial year from 1 january to 31 December 2013. the 

preparation of the consolidated financial statements and 

the Group management report in accordance with the 

Ifrs, as adopted by the eu and the additional require-

ments of German commercial law pursuant to §315a (1) 

HGB (Handelsgesetzbuch - “German Commercial Code”) 

is, the responsibility of the parent company’s legal repre-

sentatives. our responsibility is to express an opinion on 

the consolidated financial statements and on the Group 

management report based on our audit. 

We conducted our audit of the consolidated financial 

statements in accordance with §317 hGb and German 

generally accepted standards for the audit of financial 

statements promulgated by the Institute of public au-

ditors in Germany (Institut der Wirtschaftsprüfer IDW). 

those standards require that we plan and perform the au-

dit such that misstatements materially affecting the pres-

entation of the net assets, financial position and results 

of operations in the consolidated financial statements in 

accordance with the applicable financial reporting frame-

work and in the Group management report are detected 

with reasonable assurance. Knowledge of the business 

activities and the economic and legal environment of 

the Group and expectations as to possible misstatements 

are taken into account in the determination of audit pro-

cedures. the effectiveness of the accounting-related in-

ternal control system and the evidence supporting the 

disclosures in the consolidated financial statements and 

the Group management report are examined primarily on 

a test basis within the framework of the audit. the audit 

includes assessing the annual financial statements of the 

entities included in consolidation, the determination of 

the entities to be included in consolidation, the account-

ing and consolidation principles used and significant es-

timates made by the company´s legal representatives, as 

well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consoli-

dated financial statements and the Group management 

report. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable 

basis for our opinion. 

our audit has not led to any reservations.

In our opinion, based on our findings of the audit, the 

consolidated financial statements comply with the IFRS, 

as adopted by the eu, and the additional requirements of 

German commercial law pursuant to § 315a (1) hGb and 

give a true and fair view of the net assets, financial posi-

tion and results of operations of the Group in accordance 

with these requirements. the Group management report 

is consistent with the consolidated financial statements 

and as a whole provides a suitable view of the Group´s 

position and suitably presents the opportunities and risks 

of future development. 

hamburg, 19 march 2014

Nörenberg • Schröder 

Gmbh Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft 

michels  thiel

auditor auditor
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financial calendar 
2014

may 15, 2014: publication of q1 report 

may 23, 2014: annual General meeting 

aug 14, 2014: publication of q2 report 

nov 14, 2014: publication of q3 report 

forward-looking statements and forecasts

this annual report contains statements referring to the future. forward-looking statements are statements which are 

not based on historical events and facts. these statements are based on assumptions, forecasts and evaluations of fu-

ture developments by the management board. these assumptions, forecasts and evaluations were made on the basis of 

all the information which is available at the current time. If the assumptions of future developments used in the state-

ments and evaluations do not materialise, the actual results might deviate from the current expectations. the executive 

board and the company do not accept any liability with regard to the actual materialisation of the forward-looking 

statements. the executive board and the company do not accept any obligation to continue any statements or adjust 

such to future events and developments over and above the legal requirements. this annual report and the informa-

tion contained herein do not form an offer for the sale or an offer to buy or subscribe securities of IsarIa Wohnbau aG 

within the federal republic of Germany or in any other country. In the united states, the shares of IsarIa Wohnbau aG 

may only be sold or offered for sale after prior registration or, without prior registration, on the basis of an exemption 

from the registration requirement according to the provisions of the 1933 us securities act in its currently valid version. 

IsarIa Wohnbau aG does not intend to carry out a public offer of shares in the united states.
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